ROADMAP

Journal of Physics: Materials

CrossMark

OPEN ACCESS

RECEIVED 13 May 2022

REVISED

30 January 2023
ACCEPTED FOR PUBLICATION

29 March 2023

2 June 2023

Original content from this work may be used under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 licence.

Any further distribution of this work must maintain attribution to the author(s) and the title of the work, journal citation and DOI.



Roadmap on commercialization of metal halide perovskite photovoltaics

Shien-Ping Feng^{2,27,*}, Sunhang Cheng³, Hin-Lap Yip³, Yufei Zhong^{4,26}, Patrick W K Fong⁵, Gang Li⁵, Annie Ng⁶, Cong Chen⁷, Luigi Angelo Castriotta⁸, Fabio Matteocci⁸, Luigi Vesce⁸, Danila Saranin⁹, Aldo Di Carlo^{8,10}, Puqun Wang¹¹, Jian Wei Ho¹¹, Yi Hou¹¹, Fen Lin¹¹, Armin G Aberle¹¹, Zhaoning Song¹², Yanfa Yan¹², Xu Chen¹³, Yang (Michael) Yang¹³, Ali Asgher Syed¹, Ishaq Ahmad¹, Tiklun Leung¹, Yantao Wang¹, JingYang Lin^{1,14}, Alan Man Ching Ng¹⁴, Yin Li¹, Firouzeh Ebadi¹⁵, Wolfgang Tress¹⁵, Giles Richardson¹⁶, Chuangye Ge¹⁷, Hanlin Hu¹⁷, Masoud Karimipour¹⁸, Fanny Baumann¹⁸, Kenedy Tabah¹⁸, Carlos Pereyra¹⁸, Sonia R Raga¹⁸, Haibing Xie¹⁹, Monica Lira-Cantu¹⁸, Mark V Khenkin²⁰, Iris Visoly-Fisher²¹, Eugene A Katz²¹, Yana Vaynzof^{22,23}, Rosario Vidal²⁴, Guicheng Yu¹⁷, Haoran Lin¹⁷, Shuchen Weng¹⁷, Shifeng Wang²⁵, and Aleksandra B Djurišić^{1,27,*},

- ¹ Department of Physics, The University of Hong Kong, Pokfulam Road, Hong Kong, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of China, People's Republic of China
- ² Department of Advanced Design and Systems Engineering, City University of Hong Kong, Kowloon, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of China, People's Republic of China
- ³ Department of Materials Science and Engineering, City University of Hong Kong, Tat Chee Avenue, Kowloon, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of China, People's Republic of China
- ⁴ School of Materials Science and Engineering, NingboTech University, No.1 South Qianhu Road, Ningbo, People's Republic of China
 ⁵ Department of Electronic and Information Engineering, Research Institute for Smart Energy (RISE), The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of China, People's Republic of China
- ⁶ Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, Nazarbayev University, Astana, Kazakhstan
- ⁷ Department of Electrical and Electronic Engineering, The University of Hong Kong, Pokfulam Road, Hong Kong, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of China, People's Republic of China
- ⁸ Centre for Hybrid and Organic Solar Energy (CHOSE), Department of Electronic Engineering, University of Rome Tor Vergata, via del Politecnico 1, 00133 Rome, Italy
- ⁹ LASE (Laboratory of Advanced Solar Energy), National University of Science and Technology, MISiS', Moscow, Russia
- ¹⁰ Istituto di Struttura della Materia (ISM-CNR), Via del Fosso del Cavaliere 100, 00133 Rome, Italy
- ¹¹ Solar Energy Reserach Institute of Singapore (SERIS), National University of Singapore, Singapore, Singapore
- ¹² Wright Center for Photovoltaics Innovation and Commercialization, Department of Physics and Astronomy, The University of Toledo, OH 43606, United States of America
- ¹³ State Key Laboratory of Modern Optical Instrumentation, Institute for Advanced Photonics, College of Optical Science and Engineering, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, People's Republic of China
- ¹⁴ Southern University of Science and Technology China (SUSTech), 1088 Xueyuan Blvd, Nanshan, Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, People's Republic of China
- ¹⁵ Institute of Computational Physics, Zurich University of Applied Sciences, Winterthur, Switzerland
- ¹⁶ Mathematical Sciences, University of Southampton, Southampton, United Kingdom
- ¹⁷ Hoffmann Institute of Advanced Materials, Shenzhen Polytechnic, Nanshan District, Shenzhen 518000, People's Republic of China
- ¹⁸ Catalan Institute of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology (ICN2), CSIC and the Barcelona Institute of Science and Technology (BIST), Building ICN2, Campus UAB, E-08193 Bellaterra, Barcelona, Spain
- ¹⁹ Institute for Advanced Study, Shenzhen University, 3688 Nanhai Avenue, Shenzhen, Guangdong, People's Republic of China
- ²⁰ PVcomB, Helmholtz-Zentrum Berlin für Materialien und Energie GmbH, 12489 Berlin, Germany
 ²¹ Swiss Institute for Dryland Environmental and Energy Research, The Jacob Blaustein Institutes for Desert Research, Ben-Gurion
- University of the Negev, Midreshet Ben-Gurion, Israel
- ²² Chair for Emerging Electronic Technologies, Technische Universität Dresden, Nöthnitzer Str. 61, 01187 Dresden, Germany
- ²³ Leibniz-Institute for Solid State and Materials Research Dresden, Helmholtzstraße 20, 01069 Dresden, Germany
- ²⁴ Department of Mechanical Engineering and Construction, GID, Universitat Jaume I, Castelló, Spain
- ²⁵ Innovation Laboratory of Materials for Energy and Environment Technologies, Tibet University, Lhasa, People's Republic of China
- ²⁶ Ningbo Innovation Centre, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, People's Republic of China
- ²⁷ Guest editors of the Roadmap.
- * Authors to whom any correspondence should be addressed.

E-mail: dalek@hku.ku and tony.feng@cityu.edu.hk

Keywords: halide perovskites, commercialization, photovoltaics

Abstract

Perovskite solar cells (PSCs) represent one of the most promising emerging photovoltaic technologies due to their high power conversion efficiency. However, despite the huge progress made not only in terms of the efficiency achieved, but also fundamental understanding of the

relevant physics of the devices and issues which affect their efficiency and stability, there are still unresolved problems and obstacles on the path toward commercialization of this promising technology. In this roadmap, we aim to provide a concise and up to date summary of outstanding issues and challenges, and the progress made toward addressing these issues. While the format of this article is not meant to be a comprehensive review of the topic, it provides a collection of the viewpoints of the experts in the field, which covers a broad range of topics related to PSC commercialization, including those relevant for manufacturing (scaling up, different types of devices), operation and stability (various factors), and environmental issues (in particular the use of lead). We hope that the article will provide a useful resource for researchers in the field and that it will facilitate discussions and move forward toward addressing the outstanding challenges in this fast-developing field.

Contents

1.	Overview of commercialization prospects of perovskite solar cells	4
2.	Niche applications of PSCs	7
3.	Current state of commercialization efforts	10
4.	Scaling PVK deposition: solution-based scalable methods	12
5.	Scaling up PVK deposition: vapor-based scalable methods	15
6.	Ambient processing of PSCs	17
7.	Patterning and interconnections for modules and tandems	19
8.	PVK modules	22
9.	PVK-based tandem cells: PVK/Si tandems	25
10.	PVK-based tandem cells: PVK/PVK tandems	29
11.	Other PVK tandem cells	32
12.	Encapsulation of PSCs	35
13.	Stability of PVK materials: moisture and oxygen	38
14.	Stability of PVK materials: illumination	41
15.	Stability of PVK materials: temperature	44
16.	Stability of PSCs: ion migration	47
17.	Stability of PSCs: electrode choices	49
18.	Stability testing of PSCs	53
19.	Outdoor testing of PSCs	56
20.	Environmental impact of PSCs: life-cycle analysis	58
21.	Environmental impact of PSCs: use of green solvents	61
22.	Environmental impact of PSCs—lead-containing vs lead-free	64
23.	Environmental impact of PSCs: safe-by-design devices and lead sequestration	70
24.	Environmental impact of PSCs: recycling prospects	73
Acknowledgments		
Data availability statement		
References		75

1. Overview of commercialization prospects of perovskite solar cells

Aleksandra B Djurišić¹ and Feng Shien-Ping²

¹ Department of Physics, The University of Hong Kong, Pokfulam Road, Hong Kong, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of China, People's Republic of China

² City University of Hong Kong, Kowloon, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of China, People's Republic of China

Status

Perovskite solar cells (PSCs) have made impressive advances in efficiency as well as stability since initial reports; although there are still unresolved problems hampering the efforts toward their commercialization, as will be discussed in this roadmap. Nevertheless, a number of companies are working on PSCs, such as Oxford photovoltaic (PV), Utmo Light Ltd, Imec, Microquanta Semiconductor, Solliance, Toshiba, Saule Technologies, Wonder Solar Ltd, GCL New Energy, Xeger Sweden AB, Alta Devices, G24 Power Ltd, FlexLink Systems, Polyera Corporation Solar Print Ltd, New Energy Technologies Inc. Korver Corp., Solar-Tectic, Ubiquitous Energy Inc., Fraunhofer ISE, Raynergy Tek Incorporation, and Xiamen Weihua Solar Co. Ltd [1, 2]. Some of these companies, such as Oxford PV (in partnership with Meyer Burger, 125 MW capacity production line) and Saule Technologies, have been establishing new pilot production lines and/or expanding production capacity [1, 2], and commercial prototypes have also been installed (72 modules in Henn-Na innovative Japanese hotel by Saule Technologies [1]). In addition, Microquanta Semiconductor has already established a 5 GW capacity production line, while GCL New Energy is building a production line in Kunshan with 100 MW capacity [2]. Commercialization efforts also include printing technologies (Saule Technologies, Wonder Solar Ltd) [1, 2], and Wonder Solar Ltd has already demonstrated a 110 m² outdoor power generation system [2]. In addition, various consortiums and partnerships involving universities, companies, research institutes, and national laboratories have been established, such as European Perovskite Initiative (EPKI) [3] and US-MAP (Manufacturing of Advanced Perovskites) [4].

Current and future challenges

Generally, the greatest challenges toward commercialization are considered to be scaling up (including ambient manufacturing), achieving long-term stability, reducing or eliminating the use of toxic solvents, and preventing Pb leakage into the environment [1, 2, 5, 6]. In this article, challenges for different applications of PSCs and the current state of their commercialization are discussed (sections 2 and 3), followed by a discussion on the important challenges of scaling up, for both solution-based and vapor-deposition-based methods, as well as ambient processing (sections 4-6). It should be noted that different deposition methods not only affect the cost of the devices, but also have important implications on their environmental impact. Since the scaling up requires not only the reliable deposition of high-quality perovskite (PVK) films over large areas, but also patterning and interconnections to connect individual cells into modules, these techniques and the PVK modules are discussed in sections 7 and 8. In addition, tandem devices, especially PVK-Si tandems, are expected to play an important role in PVK commercialization [7]. Therefore, different types of PSC-based tandems are discussed in sections 9-11. As the PVK materials and devices exhibit instability when exposed to illumination, ambient atmosphere, elevated temperature, and electrical bias, stability is commonly recognized as one of the most significant challenges in the commercialization of PSCs [7, 8]. Different factors affecting the stability and degradation mechanisms, as well as device encapsulation and stability testing are discussed in sections 12–19. It should be noted that while considerable research efforts have been devoted to improving the intrinsic stability of PSCs under the assumption that extrinsic factors can be addressed by encapsulation [8], the issue of encapsulation is by no means trivial since there are commonly significant discrepancies between encapsulation approaches used in commercial modules and small lab-scale cells [9].

Other important issues which need to be addressed are the issues of lead toxicity and the environmental impact of PSCs. We can generally view the scaling-up challenge as an engineering issue that can generally be solved, and stability challenges as a mixture of fundamental scientific and engineering issues, while environmental impact is the most complex question, which requires complex and multidisciplinary analysis. This needs to include the evaluation of not only the environmental impact of manufacturing, use, and disposal of PSCs, but also the issue of material cost and availability to properly address the issue of sustainability [5]. Various aspects related to environmental issues are discussed in sections 20–23. The discussion of environmental impact often, somewhat simplistically, reduces to the debate on lead-containing

vs lead-free PSCs. It should be noted that the performance of lead-free PVKs lags far behind that of Pb-based ones. Consequently, an EPKI white paper [3] identified conventional lead-based PSCs as the most promising both in terms of environmental impact in CO₂/kWh g, as well as energy payback time (EPBT) and energy return of investment. Lead management was proposed to be achieved by optimizing containment and recycling the devices at the end of life [3]. Recycling strategies for these devices are particularly important, since they not only allow one to address the issue of the use of lead [5, 6], but also allow for improved sustainability, lower cost, and lower environmental impact if transparent conductive oxides (TCOs) and metal back electrodes (BEs) are recycled [6]. This important aspect of future PVK commercialization is discussed in section 24. In addition, further studies on the scalability, environmental friendliness, and economic feasibility of recycling would be highly desirable, since these issues still represent open questions [10]. However, it should be noted that due to the toxicity of lead different views exist in the PVK community, and the use of lead remains a significant concern in the research community [5, 10]. Thus, despite the fact that the negative environmental impact of other cell components is often found to be greater than that of the PVK layer and the fact that lead replacement has been either unsuccessful in reducing the environmental impact or the actual impact is unknown (depending on the PVK composition) and for some of the proposed replacements there are issues in terms of cost and available supply [5, 10], the need to develop better lead-free PVK materials and devices is often highlighted in research literature. Among these, Sn-based PVKs are commonly identified as the most promising, despite known environmental issues for this type of materials [5, 10]. For example, it was claimed that tin-based PSCs may be commercialized sooner than lead-based for indoor PVs once their efficiencies reach 15% [2]. However, in addition to not taking into account all the complexities of the environmental impact of tin-based PVKs [10], this does not take into account the lag in stability of tin-based PSCs, as well as difficulties associated in developing ambient processing (due to the tendency of Sn^{2+} to oxidize to Sn^{4+} [5]). Finally, in addition to the challenges discussed in detail in this roadmap article, it is necessary to recognize the challenges related to the organic materials used in these devices, which include costs and the environmental impact associated with their synthesis and/or processing [6], as well as the associated stability issues arising from the use of organic materials [7]. Thus, we hope that this roadmap provides a useful snapshot of the current development of PSCs on their pathway toward commercialization, and that the issues covered will facilitate better understanding of relevant issues within a wide framework, taking into account not only efficiency, scalability, and stability but also environmental impact and sustainability.

Advances in science and technology in PVK material development to address the challenges

Among various advances directly related to commercialization, which will be discussed in other sections of the roadmap, it is also worthwhile to highlight recent developments in PVK materials. The use of 2D/quasi-2D PVK materials to improve PSC stability has been attracting increasing attention in recent years [11–16]. These materials typically exhibit improved stability compared to commonly used 3D PVKs ABX₃ (where A denotes a small organic cation or Cs^+ , B is a divalent metal cation, commonly Pb^{2+} , and X is a halide anion), due to the presence of bulky organic spacer cations, which separate layers of lead-halide octahedra and contribute to increased hydrophobicity and reduced ion migration [11-13]. These materials can have different orientations, and the most common (100)-oriented 2D PVKs can have a Ruddlesden–Popper (RP), Dion–Jacobson (DJ), or alternating cation in interlayer space (ACI) structure, with the corresponding formulas C₂A_{n-1}B_nX_{3n+1}, CA_{n-1}B_nX_{3n+1}, and CA_nB_nX_{3n+1}, respectively, where C denotes a monovalent (RP, ACI) or divalent (DJ) spacer cation, and n denotes the number of octahedral layers [12]. There are still numerous unknowns concerning the structure-property relationships and degradation mechanisms in these materials [11, 12, 17], in part due to a large number of possible spacer cations. Generally, DJ and ACI materials are expected to exhibit improved stability compared to RP PVKs due to shorter interlayer distance and hydrogen bonding between the layers (both H-bonding and van der Waals interactions for ACI), while RP PVKs exhibit only weak van der Waals interactions between the layers. To compensate for the low conductivity or bulky organic cations and consequently poor charge transport in 2D (n = 1) PVKs, these materials are commonly used in 3D/2D or quasi-2D (n > 1) configurations for the active layer to achieve a compromise between efficiency and stability [11–13]. While the efficiency of quasi-2D devices can exceed 19% [13], the 3D/2D configuration can result in higher efficiencies approaching or even exceeding 25% [11, 15, 16], at least in part due to surface passivation of 3D PVK achieved by the 2D layer [11]. As these materials have been more recently developed and comparatively less studied compared to 3D PVKs, the commercially relevant stability tests, such as damp-heat tests [16] or outdoor tests [18], are more scarce compared to 3D PVKs. Possible exceptions are the devices where bulky cations, such as

5-aminovaleric acid, are used as additives to 3D PVK, which have been commonly used in mesoporous PSCs, and the reports include demonstrations of large areas and/or outdoor testing [14]. We expect that the use of 2D materials will become more common and that they will play a significant role in further development and ultimately the commercialization of PSCs.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank the grant support from the Hong Kong Collaborative Research Fund (CRF C7018-20 GF).

2. Niche applications of PSCs

Yuanhang Cheng and Hin-Lap Yip

Department of Materials Science and Engineering, City University of Hong Kong, Tat Chee Avenue, Kowloon, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of China, People's Republic of China

Status

Organic–inorganic hybrid metal halide perovskites (HPs) are a star material for solar cell devices due to their intriguing optoelectronic properties, such as their high absorption coefficient, long carrier lifetime and diffusion length, tunable optical bandgap, and high defect tolerance. PSCs have attracted considerable attention in both academic and industrial fields since 2009. Due to the efforts of the PV community, the world-record power conversion efficiency (PCE) of PSCs has increased rapidly from 3.9% to 25.8% during the last decade. Furthermore, in contrast to the conventional crystalline Si, PVK materials offer advantages such as being solution-processable, flexible, lightweight, and semi-transparent, making PSCs a promising PV technology, and especially favorable for certain niche applications, such as indoor PVs for the Internet of Things (IoT), flexible PV technology, and building-integrated PV (BIPV), as shown in figure 1 [19–21].

Indoor PV for IoT. The development of the IoT system requires millions of electronic devices to communicate wirelessly. Normally, IoT devices consume a low level of power and are supported by off-grid power sources, such as batteries. An alternative solution is to use indoor PV devices to convert indoor light into electricity to support continuous operation of the IoT system. Unfortunately, commercial PV devices, such as Si and gallium arsenide (GaAs) solar cells, show unsatisfactory performance under low-light conditions, while the PSCs have been demonstrated to exhibit outstanding performance, e.g. over 40% PCE under indoor light-emitting diode (LED) light [22].

Flexible PV technology. With the rapid development of portable and wearable electronics, flexible PV devices as thin-film power sources have attracted huge interest. Compared to existing flexible PV devices, such as amorphous-Si, CdTe, and CIGS thin-film solar cells, flexible PSCs show greater potential due to their high efficiency, low cost, and easy fabrication process.

BIPV. BIPV refers to PV devices that are not only acting as solar PV panels, but also as part of the building materials, such as building façades, skylines, and windows. BIPV is particularly important for promoting more widespread solar adoption in urban areas. With regard to PCE and color tunability, PSCs easily stand out among different PV technologies due to their broad bandgap tunability and high efficiency, making them an important candidate for BIPV.

Therefore, although the current PV market is dominated by crystalline Si PV technology, particularly for grid-connected PV power systems, the emerging PVK PV technology could be very promising for the above-mentioned niche applications.

Current and future challenges

Scaling up. Currently, the world-record efficiency of PSCs (25.8%) has exceeded that of multicrystalline Si solar cells (23.3%) and is approaching that of single crystalline Si solar cells (26.1%). However, the best performance is only achieved in a \sim 0.1 cm² small-area cell, and the efficiency drops significantly to 17.9% when a large-area (such as 804 cm² from Panasonic) PVK solar module is developed [23]. Such a large lab-to-fab gap can be ascribed to: (i) the difficulty to achieve both high-quality large-area PVK films and charge transporting layers; (ii) the increased series resistance in large-area devices due to the low conductivity of the TCO (e.g. indium-tin-oxide (ITO)) glass substrates. Therefore, the main challenges of scaling up PVK PV technology include the development of large-scale deposition methods for uniform PVK films and patterning processes for PV modules with a high geometrical fill factor (GFF).

High-performance conductive flexible substrates. Currently the most commonly used transparent conductive substrates for flexible solar cells are based on ITO-coated plastic substrates, such as poly(ethylene 2,6-naphthalate (PEN) and polyethylene terephthalate (PET). To prevent the damage to the plastic substrates during the sputtering process, the ITO for flexible substrates is normally deposited by low-temperature (<100 °C) sputtering, resulting in lower transparency and conductivity. In addition, the mechanical properties of ITO-coated plastic substrates are poor due to the intrinsic brittleness of metal oxide films. Therefore, the development of high-performance electrode materials for flexible substrates is of great importance for flexible PSCs.

Stability. Long-term stability is another challenge for PVK PV technology to enter the market. It has been demonstrated by different groups that the extrinsic (e.g. light, heat, moisture, oxygen, electrical bias) and intrinsic factors (e.g. ion migration, material degradation, chemical reaction at device interfaces), or their



Co. KGaA, Weinheim.)

combinations can cause severe degradation of PSCs. However, there are no standard protocols for PSC stability testing; thus it is still challenging to reveal the underlying degradation mechanism and find pathways to fabricate PSCs with operational lifetimes comparable to current Si PVs.

Toxicity. The presence of water-soluble toxic Pb ions in PVK film could be a concern for indoor PVs, wearable devices, and BIPV applications. The potential leakage of Pb due to the damage of the PSCs may cause serious environmental contamination and pose potential risks to human health. Although Pb-free PSCs were proposed, they are suffering from either much lower efficiency and poorer stability compared with their Pb-based counterparts. Therefore, the development of efficient Pb trapping and encapsulation technology will be important to ensure that PSCs are safe to use.

Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

It is known that poor film uniformity will affect the device efficiency as well as its long-term stability. The uniformity of large-area PVK film is largely affected by the deposition technology. Compared to the traditional spin-coating method, large-scale processing methods, such as blade coating, slot-die coating, and thermal evaporation, have been employed to produce large-area PVK films with optimized film quality. For example, for solution processing, the solvent systems of PVK precursor materials have been carefully studied to control the nucleation and growth of large-area PVK films [24]. For PVK films prepared by vacuum-based thermal evaporation, controlling the evaporation rate of the organic cations and lead halides is of great importance to deposit a large-area PVK film with desired stoichiometric composition [25]. Other strategies include transporting layer engineering, interface engineering, and defects passivation, which will also contribute to further improve the efficiency of large-area PVK PV technology.

To improve the mechanical properties of flexible PSCs, various conductive transparent materials have been recently developed to replace ITO as the flexible substrates. It has been demonstrated that Ag nanowires, metal mesh, and carbon-based materials, such as carbon nanotubes and graphene, show better mechanical stability than crystalline ITO, but the corresponding flexible PSCs exhibit lower device performance. A recent work shows that amorphous Cd-doped indium oxides with improved mechanical, electrical, and optical properties can effectively replace ITO as the transparent electrode for flexible PSCs, which exhibit very decent efficiency and stability [26]. Such development may pave the way for the development of new transparent conducting oxide films that are more suitable for flexible electronic applications, including flexible PSCs.

With regard to device instability caused by environmental factors, this can be resolved via proper encapsulation to avoid chemical degradation of the PVK film induced by moisture or oxygen. With the latest advancement in encapsulation technology, highly stable PVK PVs were reported, which passed the demanding International Electrotechnical Commission (IEC) 61215:2016 Damp Heat and Humidity Freeze tests [27]. With regard to the intrinsic stability of PSCs, recent works have successfully employed different spectroscopy techniques to monitor the evolution of defect states in PVK films during device operation and reveal the device degradation mechanism [28], which is very important to provide insights to enable the development of new strategies to stabilize PSCs.

8

The prevention of Pb leakage is also an important research field. The common method is to trap/absorb the Pb via capping molecules, so that Pb does not have chance to leak outside of the PV devices [29]. In addition, the state-of-the-art Sn-based Pb-free PSC has achieved a record efficiency of over 14% [30]. It is calculated that Sn-based PVK (1.1–1.4 eV) could deliver PCE with a theoretical Shockley–Queisser limit of 32%. Therefore, the development of Pb-free PSCs is still an important topic for PSCs if effective strategies can be developed to resolve their current low efficiency and poor stability issues.

Concluding remarks

Rapid advances in PSCs have been made in terms of both efficiency and stability at the laboratory-scale device level. To compete with traditional Si PV technology, one possible pathway is to explore niche applications for PVK PVs, such as indoor PVs for IoT, flexible PVs and BIPV. Although intensive efforts have been made in these areas, there are several remaining challenges that still need to be solved in the field. Scaling up PVK PV to a desired size is the prime target to meet the requirements of an IoT system or BIPVs. The development of high-performance flexible substrates is of great importance not only for wearable electronic device but also for BIPV applications for which lightweight and conformal coatings on curved building surfaces are required. Stability and toxicity of PSCs are also key problems to be addressed. These niche applications for PSCs provide a good entry point to the PV market for their initial phase of industrialization.

3. Current state of commercialization efforts

Zhong Yufei

School of Materials Science and Engineering, NingboTech University, No.1 South Qianhu Road, Ningbo, People's Republic of China

Ningbo Innovation Centre, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, People's Republic of China

Status

PVs are one of the most important technologies to achieve a net-zero purpose for our society in the future. The commercially available solar panels so far are mainly fabricated based on silicon materials, which have already evolved into a well-matured industry after decades of efforts. There are, however, many other types of PV technologies, such as organic PV (OPV), quantum dot PV and metal halide PVK PV, which are emerging as alternatives for power generation [31–33]. Among them, PVK appears as a 'game changer' and leads its PV journey toward efficiency over 25% to date [34]. Such efficiency is already approaching that of a crystalline silicon (c-Si)-based device (26% in the laboratory) and far beyond that of commercially available c-Si panels (20%) [35]. The great commercializing potential of this technology, such as high efficiency and solution compatibility (low cost), therefore draws extensive attention from both academia and industry. Additionally, functionalities, such as flexibility, semi-transparency, and indoor application, render PVK panels able to make a broad range of contributions to future portable power generation [36-38]. Nevertheless, some obstacles need to be conquered before finalizing a PVK PV product. First, the efficiency of the device needs to be competitive (>20%) and realized on module/panel size; second, the stability should hold beyond at least ten years (a shorter lifetime compared to c-Si panels can be tolerable considering the lower cost of PVK panels); third, a clear market positioning needs to be made for PVK PV, meaning maximizing achievable profit by knowing the advantages of those competing products, such as c-Si panels. These considerations should help to push PVK-based panels to the market and also make sure its business lifetime is long enough for technological self-evolution, to take a large share from future energy markets in the long term.

Current and future challenges

The first thing to consider for any type of PV trying for commercialization is their scalable fabrication. Although PVK-based devices achieved remarkable efficiency at the laboratory scale, the device area of such a proof of principle device is only 0.095 cm² [34]. While the solution fabrication process on one hand enables the devices to be made fast and cost-efficient, it also induces inhomogeneous morphology in the photo-active layer during scalable fabrication. Such adverse effects can be induced by many factors, such as the purity of materials and structure defects during film formation [39, 40]. They can also be induced by buffer layers near the metal contacts [41, 42]. Additionally, antisolvent treatment is not possible during module/panel fabrication. An alternative approach, such as processing at an elevated temperature or with solvent additive, is thus essential to move the current steps forward [43, 44]. From the above factors, the biggest challenge at this moment is the degradation of efficiency as device/module areas scale up. Such a challenge is evidenced by the champion efficiency of the device dropping from 25% to 21.6%, 19.6%, 18.6%, and 17.9% when the device area scales up from 0.095 cm² to 1.024 cm², 7.92 cm², 29.54 cm², and 804 cm², respectively [2]. These results certainly raise concerns regarding the future efficiency achievable by PVK-based panels. As discussed above, to make competitive solar panels, c-Si panels would be a benchmark to compare to. Achievement of panel efficiency over 20% is therefore a 'must'. Apart from efficiency, another obvious challenge is the stability. The typical reported literature shows stability over 1000 h without encapsulation, and the longest stability tested is 10 000 h after encapsulation, with efficiency loss smaller than 15% [45]. These results are however still far from International Summit on Organic Photovoltaic Stability (ISOS) standards, and are non-comparable to those of c-Si panels. In particular, PVK materials are water dissolvable. A dedicated stability test under high humidity or against resident heavy rain fall is required as the water-dissolvable lead compound can contaminate underground water systems [46, 47].

Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

To solve the above issues, efforts from the industry have been made to make efficient and stable PVK panels, as the huge potential of the commercialization of PVK PV has attracted their attention. Some key industrial players' efforts are listed in table 1. One can see that the continuously decreased efficiency upon a larger device area is not inevitable here. However, one can also clearly see that the module efficiency achieved by the industry is far greater than that in academia, showing the future confidence toward this technology from the market. In particular, MicroQuanta has released its newly certified 21.4% efficiency with a device area of 19.32 cm² (November 2021), which is the highest efficiency for PVK-based modules. Such results indicate that future panel efficiency achieving 20% is realistic. Additionally, the largest area of 2925 cm² has been

Table 1. Device efficiency released by some industrial players [35].	
--	--

	Efficiency/Year	Device area	Certification
MicroQuanta Semiconductor	21.4%/2021	19.32 cm^2	JET
UtmoLight	20.1%/2021	63.98 cm^2	JET
Perovs	18.07%/2020	46.2 cm^2	Newport
Panasonic	17.9%/2019	804 cm^2	AIST
Kunshan GCL Optoelectronic Material	15.3%/2019	2925.0 cm ²	TÜV
OxfordPV (tandem)	29.52%/2020	1.12 cm^2	NREL
Helmholtz Center Berlin (tandem)	29.80%/2021	1.00 cm^2	ISE

released by Kushan GCL Optoelectronic Material (November 2019), showing the advantage of solution-based printing methodology when fabricating large-area and low-cost PVK panels. Another effort concerning the stability of PVK modules has also recently been released by MicroQuanta.

It was released in February 2021 that its modules have passed the quality monitoring test by VDE Renewables GmbH (Ref No: TRPVM-ET 22110120–011-1). In both ultraviolet (UV) tests (280–400 nm, 200 W m⁻², 60 °C) and damp-heat tests (85 °C, 3000 h), less than 5% degradation was observed. These testing parameters are 3–6 times higher than IEC61215 standards. Additionally, the modules kept the original efficiency after light soaking of 1000 h (irradiance: 1000 W m⁻², 70 °C). Such impressive results certainly reveal the path ahead, showing the potential stability of PVK panels up to 20 years with appropriate passivation and encapsulation. Due to this estimated long lifetime of PVK modules, a tandem device comprised of PVK and c-Si is thus of great interest. As released by both OxfordPV and Helmholtz Center Berlin, the PVK/c-Si tandem can achieve efficiency over 29%, which shows promising application of such architecture. This means the stability of a PVK sub-cell needs to be accommodated with a c-Si cell. The achievement of the above long lifetime is thus a great step forward for both PVK single-junction panels and PVK/c-Si tandem panels in the future.

Concluding remarks

The continuous efforts in PVK-based PV in the last decade have pushed it toward the dawn of commercialization. The remarkable achievement so far renders PVK panels with the competitive capability to take the future energy market by storm. Nevertheless, one should bear in mind that the main rivals of PVK panels are c-Si panels, which also show advances in their technology and have recently released a record efficiency over 25% (TOPCon) with area as large as 242 cm² [35]. Such news would provoke a reconsideration of how to apply PVK panels in the future energy market. With currently less competitive efficiency and stability, PVK panels should embrace the advantages of applications which are beyond the reach of c-Si panels, such as flexible, semi-transparent, and indoor applications. Such a strategy would help to bypass the dominant power of c-Si in the market currently, and renders enough time for a technological breakthrough in the future.

Acknowledgments

This work is supported by Natural Science Foundation of Ningbo (2022J149); Natural Science Foundation of Zhejiang Province (LY22E020010); Ningbo Science and Technology Project (2022A-230-G; 2022-DST-004).

4. Scaling PVK deposition: solution-based scalable methods

Patrick W K Fong and Gang Li

Department of Electronic and Information Engineering, Research Institute for Smart Energy (RISE), The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of China, People's Republic of China

Status

In view of the advancement in technology over the past decade, there were many revolutionary developments in PSCs to boost the power conversion efficiency (PCE) from its debut of 3.8%-25.5% [35]. However, these remarkable results were predominantly produced from a device of active area (AcA) ~0.1 cm² fabricated via a solution-based spin-coating method in a research laboratory. However, this deposition technique results in the wastage of solar ink and is inherently unscalable. Recently, PCE as high as 22.6% has been demonstrated in a laboratory-scale device of area ~1 cm² [35]. Nevertheless, the size of the device is still too small for commercialization.

It is widely acknowledged that the PCE of a solar cell follows the inverse scaling law (figure 2), attributed to the increased series resistance contributed by the transparent conducting electrode. It is expected to be far more severe for large-area PSCs because of the difficulties in upscaling deposition of PVK film while maintaining the uniformity and morphology. This provides opportunities for research into the development of new techniques for scalable deposition of PSCs. Therefore, attempts on upscaling deposition of PSCs have been conducted concurrently to pave the road toward commercialization, and the commonly used scalable solution-based deposition methods include inkjet printing, meniscus blade coating, slot-die coating, and spray coating. Among these scalable deposition techniques, promising results have been achieved by blade coating and inkjet printing of PSCs, from stabilized efficiency of 17.8% (aperture area (ApA) of 21.5 cm²) [48] and PCE of 19.2% (ApA of 50 cm²) [49] demonstrated by the blade coating method in a research institute to a certified PCE of 17.9% for the champion PVK small module (ApA of 804 cm²) via the inkjet printing method produced by Panasonic Corporation [35, 50]. Despite these remarkable results, there is still a relatively large gap between the PCE of laboratory cells of area <0.1 cm² and that of the small modules. This is because there is a big challenge in the technology transfer from laboratory-scale spin coating to a manufacturing scalable coating, and researchers should perform more in-depth investigation into tailoring the solar ink formulation favorite for individual scalable deposition methods.

Current and future challenges

It is known that the PCE of a solar cell follows the inverse scaling law. However, the loss in PCE over a large area is far more significant in PSCs because of the challenges in maintaining film uniformity and morphology when scaling up the PVK thin film using a solution-based spin-coating method. High-efficiency PSCs are deposited by manipulating the crystallization kinetics via solvent engineering (mixed solvent) or quenching protocols (antisolvent, vacuum-assisted or gas-assisted drying) [52]. For the scalable deposition method, it is doubtful that a direct technology transfer from the spin coating to scalable deposition of PVK can be achieved [51]. Firstly, there is a large discrepancy in the intrinsic precursor-ink drying force. With the spin-coating process, significant dynamic solvent evaporation happens during the spinning stage, whereas it is rather static in scalable deposition. As such, the solidification process is different. Second, although the gas quenching is also scalable and air-knife assisted drying has been demonstrated [53], manipulation of the nucleation process by drop casting antisolvent, which is widely used in high-efficiency spin-coated PSCs, is difficult for large-area deposition. Third, precursor-ink wettability is another critical issue to consider for the deposition of compact and pinhole-free large-area PVK thin film, and the use of surfactant has been explored to address this issue [54]. The difference in the evaporation rate of solvent between the spin coating and scalable coating technique affects the supersaturation of the wet film, which results in an impact on the film formation process and the processing window. In this regard, in-depth investigations into the precursor formulation, solvent engineering, chemical additives, and processing windows are needed to gain deeper understandings of the formation mechanisms prepared by specific scalable deposition methods for reliable crystallization. Recently, there have been reports on the investigation of the processing window (figure 3) and quenching protocol for the scalable blade-coating method using in-situ absorption spectrometry [55, 56] to gain further insight into the solidification kinetics with the aid of the LeMar model.

Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

The critical factor for scalable deposition of large-area PVK film is the precise control of the nucleation and growth rate, which has been comprehensively discussed in a previous report [52]. Physical (hot casting, gas quenching, vacuum extraction) or chemical (solvent engineering, additives) methodologies have been



Figure 2. Power conversion efficiency obtained from small-area to large-area scalable deposited PSCs [51], showing the trend of the inverse scaling law. Reprinted from [51], Copyright (2021), with permission from Elsevier.



adopted. Blade coating and slot-die coating are conceptually the same, except that slot-die coating consumes more ink supply to fill up the reservoir and the pipelines down to the slot-die head. Hot casting has been adopted in blade coating and slot-die coating. The optimal temperature was found to be around 150 °C for blade coating [57]. Apart from hot casting, the acceleration of solvent evaporation can also be manipulated by solvent engineering by adding 2% volatile non-coordinating solvent into non-volatile coordinating solvent. A certified PCE of 16.4% was achieved from the PSC module of ApA of 63.7 cm² [53]. The use of an additive is another critical methodology for manipulating the growth kinetics and passivating the defects of PVK film. Potassium hexafluorophosphate was added to the precursor solution for slot-die coating to reduce the nonradiative recombination defects. PVK mini-modules of 20.42% and 19.54% were obtained for areas of 17.1 cm² and 65 cm², respectively [58]. The additive L- α -phosphatidylcholine could also be used to simultaneously enhance the wettability, the blade coating speed (180 m h^{-1}), and passive defects, resulting in stabilized minimodule efficiency of 14.6% with ApA of 57.2 cm² [54]. At present, a certified PCE of 17.9% on an area of 804 cm² has been demonstrated by Panasonic using an inkjet printing strategy by optimizing the ink formulation, concentration, and the coating amount and speed during the printing process [35]. However, the relatively slow printing speed, when compared to other scalable deposition methods, and the failures arising from nozzle clogging remain the obstacles for high-throughput manufacturing. Furthermore, the tolerance of humidity on the PVK film formation process should be considered when tailoring the ink formulation for scalable deposition in ambient environments.

Concluding remarks

Laboratory-scale PSCs have shown remarkable results over the past decade when prepared using the spin-coating method. With regard to industrialization, solution-based scalable deposition of PVK films has attracted considerable attention in recent years. The biggest challenge is to develop the scalable process to

precisely manipulate the nucleation and crystallization to deposit a compact and pinhole-free PVK film over a large area. Technology transfer from laboratory spin coating to industrial scalable deposition is not straightforward despite the fact that some protocols, such as gas quenching, could re-apply to the scalable method. Even though the gap in PCE between small-area and large-area PSCs has narrowed, challenges remain in the scalable deposition of PVK in ambient conditions, especially the tolerance in humidity. To realize a fully printable PSC, in-depth scalable deposition of all the functional layers, holes, and electron transport layers (ETLs), should also be investigated.

Acknowledgments

G L would like to thank the support by the Research Grants Council of Hong Kong (Grant Nos. 15221320, C7018-20G and C5037-18G), Shenzhen Science and Technology Innovation Commission (Project No. JCYJ20200109105003940), Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Joint Laboratory (Grant No. 2019B121205001), and Sir Sze-yuen Chung Endowed Professorship Fund (8–8480) by the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

5. Scaling up PVK deposition: vapor-based scalable methods

Annie Ng

Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, Nazarbayev University, Astana, Kazakhstan

Status

Vapor deposition techniques are the alternative methods for preparing PVK thin films. These techniques have unique advantages, such as the formation of homogeneous layers in a precise thickness over a large area, solvent-free deposition, and good compatibility with sequentially deposited PVK layers for fabrication of devices in heterostructures or tandem structures. Despite the fact that the current PSCs with record-high power conversion efficiencies (PCEs) are prepared by solution processes, it is predicted that vapor deposition of PVK materials will become more important in future manufacturing processes of scalable PVK PVs as they require a higher standard for commercial applications compared to the current research type of PSCs (e.g. higher uniformity and lower defect density over a large area, ability to form conformal films on a textured surface, fabrication of multiple junctions to overcome the Shockley–Queisser limit of single-junction solar cells, etc.). The details of different vapor deposition techniques for preparing PVKs have been summarized in review papers [59]. Thermal evaporation and chemical vapor deposition (CVD) are the most established techniques for perovskite solar modules (PSMs). Qiu et al [60] demonstrated a PCE of 9.34% for a PSM with a designated area of 91.8 cm² by using hybrid CVD, for which CsBr and PbI₂ were co-deposited by thermal evaporation followed by reacting CsBr-PbI2 mixed film with FAI via a CVD process. Recently, Ritzer et al [61] reported a record PCE of 16.6% for a fully evaporated PSM with an area of 51.1 cm². It is noteworthy that the PVK prepared by the vapor deposition technique is able to yield the laboratory-scale PSCs surpassing 21% [62]. The upscaling efficiency losses are mainly attributed to the difficulties in growing high-quality thin film over a large area and a non-ideal module design, such as an increase in contact resistance from interconnections as well as the sacrifice of active areas for forming interconnections. Continuous development of optimized vapor deposition methods together with the advancement of scribing techniques and module layouts will definitely cause a breakthrough in device performance when scaling up PSCs.

Current and future challenges

Versatile engineering approaches for improving the properties of PVK materials and other functional layers have led to the most rapid enhancement in their device efficiency and stability during the last decade. However, most of the developed techniques for improving PVK quality, such as solvent engineering, the use of additives for assisting with crystallization and defect passivation, as well as chemical doping of PVKs for efficiency and stability enhancement, are usually based on solution processes, while the vapor depositions have less flexibility to adapt the aforementioned techniques during PVK growth. The compositional engineering for vapor-deposited PVK is also not straightforward. During thermal evaporation, the composition of PVKs can be adjusted by the evaporation rate of each precursor. The accurate stoichiometry of PVKs cannot be obtained if the evaporation of precursors cannot be precisely controlled. Intensive efforts are required to calibrate the evaporation rates of precursors since some of the material parameters and geometric factors are not known. Compared to the inorganic precursors, it is more difficult to control the evaporation of organic cation precursors, such as methylammonium iodide (MAI), during vacuum deposition. MAI has a relatively higher vapor pressure and it easily decomposes into intermediate species. Some possible MAI decomposition mechanisms have been reported [63], but more studies on MAI sublimation dynamics and effective strategies for precise control of MAI evaporation are still required. The composition of PVKs synthesized by CVD can be varied by adjusting the vapor pressures, flow rates, and source temperatures, etc, which also exhibit challenges in obtaining stoichiometrically balanced PVKs via indirect process control at the industrial scale. Furthermore, vapor deposition is not the commonly used technique to synthesize PVKs with reduced dimensionality. For example, PVK quantum dots are synthesized using various solution methods, such as hot injection and ligand-assisted precipitation. The preparation of PSCs based on quasi-2D or 3D/2D PVKs using vapor deposition is not as convenient as adopting solution engineering. It is generally believed that larger grain size with less grain boundaries leads to higher PV performance. However, the grain sizes of evaporated PVKs are usually smaller than the samples prepared by solution processes [64].

Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

The development of vapor deposition techniques for preparing PVKs is imminent. The continuous advancements in PSC fabrication technologies will bring a lot of possibilities to overcome the aforementioned challenges. It is worth investigating the effects of different small molecules acting as additives or dopants that can be co-evaporated with PVK precursors. The microstructures of the vapor-deposited

PVKs can be controlled via processing parameters, such as substrate temperatures, surface properties of samples, and deposition geometry. The post-deposition treatments can be performed on as-prepared PVK samples for defect passivation [65] or optimization of microstructures [62]. To avoid the complication processes associated with maintaining the stoichiometry of multiple-cation mixed-halide perovskites during co-evaporation of a number of precursors, pre-synthesized PVK powders can be used as a single source for deposition. The techniques, such as flash evaporation and thermal ablation, allow a rapid increase in temperatures to evaporate the source material and condense the PVK on the substrates before decomposition [66]. Alternatively, the multi-component PVKs can also be obtained by selective substitution of the organic cations and/or halides during post-deposition treatments. This concept has been demonstrated successfully by interacting the pre-deposited PVK films (e.g. CH₃NH₃PbI₃) with the appropriate gases (e.g. formamidine [67], Br₂ and Cl₂ [68]) to form a complex composition of PVKs. The vapor-solid reaction is another effective approach used to grow multi-component PVKs [60]. The inorganic precursors, which usually have a higher sublimation temperature, can be thermally evaporated in a vacuum with accurate control of the deposition rate. Then, the evaporated samples can be transferred to a CVD system to react with the vapor of organic cation precursors, for which the aforementioned difficulties in controlling the thermal evaporation of organic cation precursors during vacuum deposition can be eliminated. In spite of different approaches to increase the flexibility of engineering vapor-deposited PVK films, many research efforts are still required to further optimize the processing conditions and verify their results in large-scale manufacturing.

Concluding remarks

The future development of vapor deposition techniques for preparing PVKs should be made together with their unique processing characteristics. The importance of these deposition techniques will be amplified when the PSCs are pushed toward scalable manufacturing during the commercialization stage. To fully reveal the advantages of employing vapor deposition techniques for industrial productions (e.g. solvent-free, high uniformity, etc.), these techniques should also be used to prepare other functional layers of PSCs. Based on the current rapid advancement of this field, a scalable fully vapor-deposited PSM with a good performance to satisfy practical use can be achieved in the near future.

Acknowledgments

A N thanks the Scientific Research Grant from the Ministry of Science and Higher Education of the Republic of Kazakhstan (Grant Nos. AP14869983 and AP19576154) and Collaborative Research Program from Nazarbayev University (Grant No. 021220CRP0422).

6. Ambient processing of PSCs

Feng Shien-Ping¹ and Cong Chen²

¹ Department of Advanced Design and Systems Engineering, City University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of China, People's Republic of China
 ² Department of Electrical and Electronic Engineering, The University of Hong Kong, Pokfulam Road, Hong Kong, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of China, People's Republic of China

Status

Organolead halide perovskite materials have shown considerable promise for use in high-efficiency PSCs [69]. A typical PSC consists of a several-hundred-nanometer-thick PVK absorber (either with or without a mesoporous scaffold) sandwiched between the electron and the hole transport layers (HTLs). The research works on PVK deposition have mainly focused on solution-based processes because of their potential for industrial production [70]. The PV performance of PSCs is highly dependent on the morphology and crystalline structure of the PVK photoactive layer, which is very sensitive to ambient conditions like UV radiation, oxygen, temperature, and moisture [71]. Therefore, the fabrication of PSCs usually requires a well-controlled atmosphere ina glove box to avoid the presence of moisture and oxygen. Most of the reported high-efficiency PSCs have been fabricated in an inert or controlled atmosphere, which hinders the real production. For commercialization, ambient fabrication is a desired technology and is of great importance for the development of large-scale PVK solar modules at low prices. In this section, the challenges and techniques of efficient air-processed PSCs will be discussed.

Current and future challenges

Grain growth and crystallinity of PVK are sensitive to environmental stress factors (e.g. moisture, oxygen, heat, light). These ambient factors influence the morphology and crystalline growth of PVK during thin-film formation, which promotes the formation of traps or charge carrier barriers within the PVK absorber and deteriorates the device performance. Therefore, highly stable and efficient PVK films are usually synthesized in a well-controlled glove box under inert conditions.

The stability and toxicity of PSCs are the main issues facing its industrial deployment and commercialization. Moreover, there is also a requirement for ambient-processed high-quality PVK to translate laboratory-scale fabrication to industrial compatible techniques for fabrication of PSCs in large-scale at low cost, such as spray coating, printing, slot-die, doctor blading, and roll-to-roll (R2R) techniques. For example, simple slot-die coating can fabricate high-quality and large-area air-processed PSCs. The doctor-blade method is also a better process to deposit large-area PVK layers when compared to the spin-coating process. The R2R process can be employed for the fabrication of flexible PSCs for industrial-scale manufacturing.

The influence of the ambient environment should be studied during the synthesis of the PVK precursor solution. Moisture plays an important role in ambient-processed PVK films. Although water presence in organic halide PSC can degrade the device, a recent study shows that a particular ratio of the water molecule in the PVK precursor solution may be an advantage during manufacturing [72]. There is an influence of moisture on the PVK reaction process and the crystallization dynamics, which can modify the morphology of the PVK crystals and grains in the PVK films. The next section provides an overview of techniques developed to fabricate air-processed PSCs with high efficiency and stability. The gap between efficiency for both air-processed PSCs and PCSs processed in an inert environment has been reducing in recent years. The efficiency of air-processed PSCs has increased from 5% to 22%[73], which is near that of PSCs fabricated in an inert environment.

Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

The ambient environment affects both the PVK conversion reaction and crystallization. Several advances have been employed to facilitate the development of air-processed PSCs from the laboratory-scale to industry-compatible technologies. Both one-step and two-step solution deposition methods are most widely used to fabricate laboratory-size ($<1 \text{ cm}^2$) PSCs for fundamental studies, while spray coating, doctor blading, inkjet printing, and slot-die integrated with a high-throughput R2R process are expected for upscaling of the deposition of the PVK layer in a large area.

One/two-step deposition technique for ambient-processed PSCs

In a one-step process, typically, the PVK precursor is drop-casted onto substrates and followed by thermal annealing to form a PVK film. In this process, the crystallization of PVK in ambient air is rapid and uncontrollable under high humidity. To reduce the detrimental effect of moisture on PVK formation,

additive engineering with NH₄Cl addition in PVK precursor solution can be applied to slow down the speed of PVK crystallization due to the formation of an intermediate CH_3NH_3X ·NH₄PbI₃(H₂O)₂ after film deposition. Moreover, the addition of antisolvents, such as ethyl acetate, during the one-step deposition process can absorb moisture and prevents the ingress of water from being involved in the crystallization process. In the two-step process, a metal halide layer (e.g. PbI₂) is first deposited onto the substrate followed by spin coating of an organic component solution. A preheating method was proposed to obtain a smooth PbI₂ layer with high surface coverage in ambient air. Through preheating, the evaporation rate of N,N-dimethylformamide (DMF) increased and the solvent vapor effectively prevented the ingress of water and oxygen into the PVK layer. Further, an air-knife-assisted two-step recrystallization method was reported to prepare high-quality PVK absorbers [74].

Vapor-based deposition technique for ambient-processed PSC

Chemical vapor deposition (CVD) is a technique used to achieve controlled film thickness and crystallization of PVK in ambient conditions for PV applications. In this process, as-deposited PbI_2 film was first grown on a glass substrate and then exposed to methylammonium iodide vapor using a CVD tube furnace and ambient air (with RH >60%). The power conversion efficiency (PCE) of reported PSCs with the vapor-based deposition technique has exceeded 19% [75].

R2R process for ambient-processed PSCs

The R2R and doctor-blade method facilitate deposition of the large-area PVK layers. Yang *et al* first studied the impact of humidity in ambient air on PVK film formation using the doctor-blading technique [76]. The PVK films were grey, black, and dark brown with relative humidity of 60%–70%, 40%–50%, and 15%–25%, respectively. By controlling the humidity, the air-blading-based device could achieve a PCE of 20.08% [77]. Zuo *et al* fabricated PSCs on a flexible substrate using the R2R method to achieve 15% PCE with negligible hysteresis [78].

Concluding remarks

There is a requirement for the advancement of industrial compatible techniques for fabrication of PSCs in large-scale at low cost in the market. Other than the stability and toxicity, the translation of laboratory-scale fabrication to industrial-scale fabrication is another issue for PSCs. PVK materials are sensitive to ambient environment parameters, such as air, water, light, and temperature. These ambient parameters influence the morphology and crystalline growth of PVK during thin-film formation. Therefore, the PVK films are usually synthesized in a well-controlled glove box under inert conditions. This section provides an overview of the techniques developed to fabricate ambient-processed PSCs for industrial deployment, including one/two-step deposition techniques, the vapor-based deposition technique, and R2R process. With further research, it is likely that the efficiency between inert-environment-processed PSCs and ambient-processed PCSs will be reduced in the future. The upscaling of ambient-processed PSC to industrial scale will be carried out using industry-compatible methods.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank the grant support from the Hong Kong Collaborative Research Fund (CRF C7018-20GF).

7. Patterning and interconnections for modules and tandems

Luigi Angelo Castriotta and Fabio Matteocci

Centre for Hybrid and Organic Solar Energy (CHOSE), Department of Electronic Engineering, University of Rome Tor Vergata, via del Politecnico 1, 00133 Rome, Italy

Status

PSC technology has achieved impressive results during the last ten years, with efficiencies up to 25.5% and 29.8% on single-junction and PVK-silicon tandem devices. These results have been reached on relatively small-area devices, with 0.1 cm² and 1 cm² active area (AcA), respectively, far away from the exploitation of the PSC in the market. In this scenario, the results on the scaling-up process appear crucial. Patterning and interconnection manufacturing steps assist the fabrication of perovskite solar modules (PSMs), mitigating the resistive losses introduced by the use of transparent conductive oxide (TCO)-based substrates.

To fabricate PSMs, two main layout designs could be employed using series or parallel interconnections, as shown in figure 4. In both configurations the overall performance of the PSM will be affected from the lowest performing cell, limiting the current or the voltage in series or parallel interconnected PSM, respectively.

Series-connected PSMs are based on a P1-P2-P3 interconnection design. Here, P1, P2, and P3 refer to ablation processes performed during the PSM fabrication. In particular, P1 ablation insulates the front TCO electrode of neighboring cells. The P2 ablation selectively removes the entire device stack without damaging the underlying TCO for proper connection between cells. Finally, the P3 ablation insulates the back-electrodes. Laser-assisted ablation is the most-used patterning technique due to its high resolution and production speed. A maximum power conversion efficiency (PCE) of 20.5% has been reached using series connection. Instead, only a few studies report the fabrication of parallel-connected PSMs, reaching a maximum PCE of 16.6%. Regarding the interconnection, the use of conductive grids is needed to reduce the resistive losses and improve the current collection.

For a tandem configuration, the device is based on the integration of cells based on a wider (>1.6 eV) and a narrowed (<1.3 eV) absorber, such as PVK/PVK, PVK/OPV, PVK/CIGS, and PVK/Si. The interconnection design is mainly dependent on the configuration (2 terminal or 4 terminal) and the integration (monolithic or mechanically stacked). The use of conductive grids is again crucial for the scaling up of the tandem configuration, where front electrodes are generally based on low conductive TCOs.

Current and future challenges

The investigation on the interconnection in-series connected PSM is an important topic for the scientific community to evaluate in the future. Although, scalable patterning procedures at high geometrical fill factors (FFs) (up to 99%) have been demonstrated [79, 80], the role of the interconnection design on the long-term stability of the PSM is still an open issue.

Galagan reports on several degradation pathways induced by the monolithic interconnections in PSM, for the series-connected module design, involving P1, P2, and P3 processes [81], as shown in figure 5. Among those four degradation pathways, the P2 scribe will likely present the greatest challenge for device stability due to the direct contact of metal with the absorber material, which can result in chemical reactions, especially for PVK materials with halide species. This process, involving P1, P2, and P3, must have high yield and thus demands high coating uniformity and reproducibility: due to the series-connected design, the current of an entire module and panel depends on the lowest performing sub-cell, thus limiting any imperfection occurring in the module, such as a pinhole, particle-induced shunts, and/or an imperfect laser scribe. A strategy to overcome this limited interconnection design is necessary for technology exploitation in the market.

In the parallel-connected PSM case, a metal grid is needed to improve the charge transport through the TCO. The main challenge here relies on the metal grid design, with the aim to obtain a compromise between reducing resistive losses of the TCO, which improves the FF, and minimizing optical losses through excess shadowing, which limits the current.

For the tandem configuration, the main challenges rely on optimizing conductive grids/materials between the top and bottom junction. A general issue related to interconnection, and also for the tandem configuration, is the reverse bias induced by partial shading of the PSMs: heating and irreversible electrochemical reactions can degrade the cell and the module because the illuminated cells can place a large reverse bias on the shaded cell/module to attempt to force current through it.

Overall, stability of PSCs, regardless of whether PSMs are on single/multi junctions, still drive the research community effort, although great strides have been taken.





Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

Very few works have focused on the interconnection optimization for long-term stability, in the case of series-connected modules: what is clear is to avoid direct contact between PVK and metal, occurring at the P2 scribe. Bi *et al* reported the application of a diffusion barrier layer at the P2 level to reduce the leakage rate

of iodide, with the best modules maintaining 95% and 91% of their initial PCE at 85 °C and under light test over 1000 h, respectively [82].

The limitation in the current, in series-connected modules, might be addressed by looking at other thin-film technologies solutions: companies like First Solar, in their CdTe modules, have introduced an additional scribe to mitigate this issue, called P4 [83]. This process is performed perpendicularly to the P1, P2, and P3 scribes, separating long cells into smaller ones. In this way, the shorter series connected strings are then connected in parallel. A similar approach, to avoid limitation in the current by one sub-cell, was also performed by Xu *et al*, where alternation of series and parallel connected modules is performed with particular care taken with the design [84].

Hybrid series and parallel connected cells partially solve the possible shadowing problem, inducing reverse bias; to further reduce this effect, an important component to insert in a module/panel fabrication are the bypass diodes [85]: the function of the bypass diodes is to isolate a string of cells with an unintentionally lower current (due to external factors) from the rest of the module. In this way, the voltage output is reduced, whereas the current output is preserved [86].

PSM stability has been achieved using a parallel-module configuration by Yang *et al* [24], where a champion PSM maintained 96.6% of its initial PCE after 10.000 h under day/night cycling illumination.

In the tandem configuration, a way to boost the PCE and improve the stability of the PVK/silicon tandem is to adopt the bifacial tandem configuration, as shown by Lehr *et al*, allowing for the reflected and scattered light from the ground (albedo) to be absorbed by the sub-cell junction [87].

Concluding remarks

A massive study has been conducted on PVK from an intrinsically and scientific point of view: what is still missing is a systematic study on the effect of the interconnections for the long-term stability. Examples of long-term stability on PSMs have been achieved using diffusion barrier layers and parallel-connected sub-cells, avoiding contact between PVK and metal, one of the main pathways of PVK degradation. A major effort is necessary in these directions to clearly understand how to transfer what is reached on a small area up to module size. Defining a set of specific stability protocols for PSMs and multi-junction devices could step up PVK upscaling, also sharing important details, such as sub-cell AcA size, P1, P2, and P3 parameters used, and so on. A technological approach is needed to fill the gap between academia and industry, to further accelerate this technology into the market.

Acknowledgments

The authors acknowledge the CITYSOLAR project, which received funding from the European Union's Horizon2020 research and innovation program under Grant Agreement Number N 101007084. The authors acknowledge funding from the Italian Ministry of Economic Development within the framework of the Operating Agreement with ENEA for Research on the Electric System.

8. PVK modules

Luigi Vesce¹, Danila Saranin² and Aldo di Carlo^{1,3}

¹ Centre for Hybrid and Organic Solar Energy (CHOSE), Department of Electronic Engineering, University of Rome Tor Vergata, via del Politecnico 1, 00133 Rome, Italy

² LASE (Laboratory of Advanced Solar Energy), National University of Science and Technology, MISiS', Moscow, Russia

³ Istituto di Struttura della Materia (ISM-CNR), Via del Fosso del Cavaliere 100, 00133 Rome, Italy

Status

Perovskite solar modules (PSMs) are fabricated resembling the thin-film PVs technology on rigid (glass) or flexible (plastic, metal foils) substrates. Typically, the thickness of the multilayer device stack is in the range of 0.5 μ m to a few micrometers, reducing the material consumption compared to first-generation PV, such as crystalline silicon (c-Si).

Appropriate tuning of the halide perovskite (HP) band gap and the use of transparent electrodes permit the realization of semi-transparent PSMs. The use of flexible substrates, such as polyethylene naphthalene (PEN) allows for the integration of low-weight solar panels ($<200 \text{ g m}^{-2}$) on curved surfaces. These characteristics open new application opportunities for PSMs, such as building- or vehicle-integrated PV. The upscaling of HP technology from small-area cells (PSCs) to modules (figure 6) [88], and the related industrial exploitation, is achievable by appropriate scalable manufacturing process module design and interconnection patterning [89].

Besides fabrication, performance assessment of PSMs should follow international standards and be compared with well-established PV technologies [90]. So far, the maximum reported PSC efficiency (25.7%) is about 18% lower than the theoretical Shockley–Queisser maximum efficiency (31.27%). A similar reduction is observed for c-Si PV [91]. However, when scaling to module size the certified efficiency gap between the cell and module is about 20% for PSM, while it reduces to only 8% for c-Si modules [92]. Scaling-up research efforts identified different strategies to improve PSM efficiency for both the inverted p-i-n and direct n-i-p module architectures. For the inverted architecture, the maximum certified efficiency is 20.1% on 16.4 cm² active area (AcA), obtained by partially replacing dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) with solid-state carbohydrazide in MAFAPbI₃ HP [49]. An efficiency of 20.2% (18.6% stabilized) on 27 cm² AcA was achieved by compensating iodide vacancies and suppressing ion migration in a formamidinium-cesium HP [93]. The best certified n-i-p solar module has 19.3% efficiency on 17.1 cm² by exploiting CsFAPbI₃ HP formulation to inhibit the formation of a solvent-coordinated intermediate complex [94]. Recently, Moore *et al* demonstrated that *o*-PDEAI₂ is an effective passivation agent to reach 21.4% efficient PSM on 26 cm² AcA [95].

Current and future challenges

The uniform deposition of HP and transporting layers on a large area is one of the most challenging aspects for module fabrication. Several coating techniques as well as post-deposition treatments have been proposed to handle this issue. Since a PSM is made by interconnecting in series several cells, the current generated by each cell should be equal to avoid current mismatch that would impact on the overall module efficiency [91]. Module patterning is usually carried out by pulsed lasers (nano/pico-seconds) in the visible (532 nm) or ultra violet (355 nm) range. Here, the target is to minimize the dead area (DA), that is the area between adjacent cells, maximizing the active area (AcA) for a given ApA, i.e. maximizing the aperture ratio (AR, defined as AcA/ApA). However, an excessive reduction of the DA will impact on the interconnection line width, increasing the contact resistance and consequently reducing the fill factor and module efficiency. Thus, the sheet resistance loss of the transparent conductive oxide (TCO), the interconnection DA loss, and the interconnection contact loss, are some of the additional issues related to the scaling-up of the HP technology [88]. The module design and the interconnection patterning can face and limit these issues. In addition, the aforementioned laser patterning process can generate defects across the layers [96].

An important aspect for real life module application is its encapsulation to face moisture, oxygen, and contaminants, and to provide stability according to the international standards.

The back-electrode (BE) deposition is one of the critical challenges for the high-throughput fabrication of PSMs. The all-printed process for the fabrication of PSMs is limited by the use of thermal evaporation metals for BEs in vacuum. The fabrication of fully printable PSMs has been addressed by considering BEs based on carbon or nanostructured/low-dimensional materials (graphene, nanotubes etc).



Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

Among all the layers, the HP absorber is the most challenging in the scaling-up process. New optimized procedures and methods are required to obtain uniform, smooth, and large-area HP films for highly efficient modules [91]. The development of scalable coating processes, such as blade-coating, slot-die coating, or spray-coating needs to address the issue of uniform deposition on very large area reaching the sqm size for industrial production. At this size, post-deposition treatments needed for HP crystallization, such as gas, solvent, and vacuum quenching, may not be as effective as on small size cell/modules, and the development of optimized/new processes is of paramount importance. Many of the deposition strategies for small-area cells have been developed in a glove box with an inert atmosphere and are not suitable for large-area coating in ambient air. For ambient fabrication, the process window is very dependent on the HP precursor formulation as well as on the environmental parameters, such as temperature and humidity. In this regard, a solid theory connecting crystallization process, and environmental and coating parameters are needed to guide module development. Concerning the other layers, the most promising attempts for interface stabilization with passivation (2D materials, small molecules, or surface modifiers) or insulator buffers (polymer of oxide extra thin films) require advanced deposition methods. Carbon-based materials can substitute unstable and expensive metal electrodes as they are low-cost, chemically inert, hydrophobic, thermally stable, and compatible with upscalable techniques. The limited efficiency reached for carbon-based PSM (15.3% on 25 cm²) deserves further development, mainly related to the conductance and contact resistance of the carbon electrode. Concerning the transparent electrode, TCO resistive losses are usually mitigated by patterning the substrate in small-width (<10 mm) cells, keeping the AR as large as possible. In less than a decade, the AR increased from 67% to about 95% due to the application of an ultrashort laser pulse that permits the ablation of materials, thus maintaining a very low heat diffusion through the target [79]. It is possible, however, to further improve the AR by using a non-conventional solution like point contacts. The encapsulation of solar modules is another technological challenge. The process temperature limit of PSCs (around 100 °C-120 °C) requires new encapsulation materials and edge sealants that are compliant with this low-temperature budget.

Concluding remarks

Today, the fabrication of PVK modules with a size comparable to conventional c-Si panels is mandatory for market exploitation of this new-generation PV technology. A strong effort has been made in the last ten years to increase the efficiency, size, and stability of PSMs. Nevertheless, available demonstrators are not comparable with conventional PV, especially in terms of module size. In addition, there is significant reduction of efficiency when scaling from a small to a large area. Several factors hamper such development, in particular the scalability of the solution-based coating and the HP crystallization process on a large area. The use of additives, 2D materials, and advanced deposition methods offer the possibility to increase the

process window, even out of the glove box. This permits a facile approach to module manufacture reduction and, at the same time, the capital expenditure for a large-area process. In this respect, the realization of a PSM manufacture pilot line represents a required intermediate step toward industrialization. The pilot line is required to verify the entire automated fabrication process with specific throughput and performance constraints. In turn, this will permit a clear assessment of the PSMs' stability following the IEC standard that comprises several accelerated lifetime tests in ambient air, such as thermal cycles, damp heat, light soaking, reverse bias, and mechanical stress. Finally, the PSM eco-profile must be addressed by lead-reduced formulations and/or lead-capture strategies together with specific recycling processes.

Acknowledgments

L V and A D C would like to thank the European Union's Horizon Europe Framework Program for funding Research and Innovation under Grant Agreement No. 101084124 (DIAMOND) and No. 101007084 (CITYSOLAR), and the project UNIQUE, supported under the umbrella of SOLAR-ERA.NET cofunded by ANR, PtJ, MUR (GA 775970), MINECOAEI, SWEA, within the European Union Framework Programme for Research and Innovation Horizon 2020 (Cofund ERANET Action, No. 691664). D S gratefully acknowledge financial support from the Ministry of Science and Higher Education of the Russian Federation within the framework of MegaGrant [No. 075–15-2021-635]. A D C gratefully acknowledges the support of the Italian PNRR project NEST - Network 4 Energy Sustainable Transition", Partenariato Esteso – PE0000021.

9. PVK-based tandem cells: PVK/Si tandems

Puqun Wang, Jian Wei Ho, Yi Hou, Fen Lin and Aberle Armin Solar Energy Research Institute of Singapore (SERIS), National University of Singapore, Singapore, Singapore

Status

With current PV panels accounting for only a fraction of the cost of terrestrial solar PV systems, and the sensitivity of the remainder to area and infrastructure, there is strong impetus for next-generation very high-efficiency PV technologies. Tandem solar devices comprising two or more sub-cells offer higher power conversion efficiency , and thus higher power density, than single-junction devices, since each sub-cell utilizes the portion of the solar spectrum they are designed for more efficiently. PVK/Si tandems have been identified as one of the most promising tandem configurations for terrestrial 1-Sun PV systems due to the high-efficiency potential, low cost, and bandgap tunability of PVKs, and the benefits from a partnership with established Si technologies. So far, studies on PVK/Si tandems have focused on dual junctions due to the greater process complexity of incorporating more junctions. Consequently, within the past few years, the 1-Sun efficiency of dual-junction PVK/Si tandems has improved dramatically from 13.7% [97] to a remarkable 33.2% [98], far exceeding the record efficiency (26.7% [35]) of single-junction Si cells.

Various configurations of dual-junction PVK/Si tandems have been reported. The popular two-terminal (2T) and four-terminal (4T) architectures have seen significant efficiency improvement (figure 7). Interest in monolithic 2T is high because of its structural simplicity and compatibility with existing module technologies. The current 33.2% [98] record efficiency was achieved in 2T. The three-terminal (3T) configuration is proposed as a promising option, combining the 4T's advantage of avoiding current matching requirements (thus more accommodating to spectral variation) and the 2T's benefit of monolithic integration on the Si bottom cell [99]. However, present efficiencies are lower due to more complex device considerations. A detailed comparison of 2T, 3T, and 4T dual-junction PVK/Si tandems is summarized in table 2.

The structure of the PVK top cell and the Si bottom cell, as well as the integration between the two, are also subjects of active research. Although mainstream PVK single-junction devices bear the n-i-p structure (defined by the deposition order), with the current record efficiency achieved with such, the highest efficiencies of PVK/Si tandems are achieved with p-i-n PVK cells. This has been attributed to the lack of efficient, conformal, and optically transparent hole transporting materials and larger hysteresis in n-i-p structures. However, this may change with the advent of new materials. A variety of Si bottom cells have also been employed, including PERC (passivated emitter and rear cell), SHJ (Si heterojunction), TOPCon (tunnel oxide passivated contact) and IBC (interdigitated back contact) devices. SHJ cells are commonly used due to their high efficiency and readily available transparent conductive oxide (TCO) layers for top-bottom sub-cell integration. TCO-free options [97, 104–108], such as Si recombination junctions with the advantages of reduced parasitic absorption and matched refractive indices, have also been explored as the integration layers.

Fabrication technologies of PVK top cells are generally inherited from PVK single-junction devices. They can be classified into solution-based processes, vapor-based processes, and a hybrid of these two. Via hybrid two-step deposition methods, combining sequential co-evaporation and spin coating, conformal growth of PVK layers on textured Si bottom cells has been demonstrated [106], making it possible to boost the photocurrent density to >20 mA cm⁻² and realize a monolithic PVK/Si tandem device exceeding 30%.

Current and future challenges

The main obstacles to the commercialization of PVK/Si tandems are associated with the limitations of the PVK top cell and can be categorized into four aspects: further efficiency improvement, scalability, stability, and cost-effectiveness. These are outlined in figure 8, together with the corresponding advances in science and technology required to address these challenges.

While the record efficiency of PVK/Si tandems has significantly outperformed that of Si single-junction devices, there is still a large space for improvement, bearing in mind the theoretical 1-Sun efficiency limit of \sim 45% [100]. Such high-efficiency devices present an avenue to significantly reduce the system-level cost. The potential for further efficiency improvement lies mainly in the PVK top cell and the optimized integration of the two sub-cells.

A critical challenge toward commercialization lies in scaling up the small-area laboratory-scale devices to stable large-area devices for production while maintaining competitive efficiencies. Commonly reported areas are in the order of cm². Nonetheless, larger areas have also been explored with promising results, signifying the push toward scaling-up. Two notable examples are the 21.8% device with an active area (AcA) of 16 cm² achieved by Zheng *et al* [110] and the 26.7% device with an AcA of 201.64 cm² announced by Oxford PV [111]. To compete with Si single-junction devices, a repeatable full-wafer efficiency beyond 28%



2T, 3T, and 4T configurations are achieved by [98, 99] and [109], respectively.

Device structure	2-Terminal	3-Terminal	4-Terminal
1-Sun efficiency potential (%)	45.1 [100]	45.3 [101]	45.3 [100]
Optimal bandgap (eV)	~1.70 [100, 102, 103]	$1.60\sim 1.90$	$1.60 \sim 1.90$
		(less sensitive)	(less sensitive)
Additional substrate and functional	No	No	Yes
layers			
Current matching	Yes	No	No
Integration complexity	High	High	Low
Compatibility with existing module	Yes	No	No
technologies			
Balance of system cost	Low	High	High
Spectral sensitivity	Moderate	Low	Low



should be targeted. Similarly, the instability of current PVK devices has to be addressed with the aim to match the long lifetime and robust reliability of Si single-junction devices. Although PVK/Si tandems have passed reliability tests of a few thousand hours [112], more developments are needed to assess their performance and reliability to add confidence in actual field operations.

In parallel, the manufacturing cost has to be adequately managed. The marginal cost of fabricating the PVK top cell over the well-established Si bottom cell has to be compellingly low to reap the gains of efficiency. Although the material cost in PSCs and the cost of solution-based fabrication processes can be very low in principle, the current fabrication processes involve the use of expensive organic solvents and materials. The fabrication cost can be further reduced by reducing the use of these expensive organic solvents and materials. The costs also change with economies of scale. Combining the competitive manufacturing costs of PVK/Si tandems, remarkable efficiency, and proven stability can significantly reduce the levelized cost of electricity of this PV technology, rendering it competitive to Si single-junction cells or even other sources of energy.

Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

Corresponding advances in science and technology are required to address the above-discussed challenges (also outlined in figure 8). To fully exploit the high-efficiency potential of PVK/Si tandems, an in-depth understanding of the optical, electrical, and optoelectronic properties of each functional layer is essential. Judicious design and engineering can then be applied to achieve optimized integration and implementation.

We believe that robust encapsulation technologies will be instrumental to tackle the stability issues associated with environmental exposure, whereas a further understanding of PVKs' degradation mechanisms (especially photo-induced phase segregation) is required to solve the degradation of intrinsic material origin. Alternatively, low-dimensional PVK materials, demonstrated to be less susceptible to degradation, are worth exploring. Together with these developments, standards or protocols for testing the performance, stability, and lifetime (including outdoor testing under operation) of PVK-related devices have to be established.

Until now, spin coating has been the prevalent method used to form PVK layers, having shown the best film quality and reproducibility. However, in the current state, it is not ideal for large-area deposition of PVK absorbers due to requirements for process uniformity and low material consumption. Scalable uniform fabrication methods have to be developed for PVK absorber layers as well as other functional layers. Alternative methods, such as inkjet printing, slot-die coupled to roll-to-roll processes, and physical vapor deposition methods are worth exploring for large-scale manufacturing. Ultimately, streamlining the process deposition of all layers is necessary.

The learning rate of terrestrial 1-Sun solar PV dominated by Si technologies has been astounding (\sim 23% according to the international technology roadmap for photovoltaic (ITRPV)). High-efficiency Si PV will further benefit from maturation of next-generation Si single-junction cells (TOPcon, HIT, and IBC). This exerts downward pressure to reduce the fabrication cost of the top PVK cell. However, this can also favor the prospect of Si as a cost-effective substrate and bottom cell for high-efficiency tandem applications. Establishing relevant cost models and adapting them to the progress and advancement in technologies in this field would lend useful insights into the commercial viability of PVK/Si tandems in various deployment scenarios.

Research to address toxicity of lead-containing devices (or other heavy metals) will allay health and environmental concerns. Already there has been work carried out on substitution for lead-free materials or that with reduced lead composition. More holistic approaches for lead-based PVKs will also need to be adopted. These include (1) robust packaging/encapsulation, (2) environmentally conscious manufacturing, and (3) responsible cradle-to-grave product design and recycling to minimize leakage of lead and exposure of living organisms to it. Such considerations are similar to First Solar's approach for thin-film CdTe PV modules.

Advances in characterization and metrology tailored to the peculiar properties (e.g. ion migration, phase segregation, and other light-induced changes) of PVKs will be relevant, not just in the laboratory but also in preparation for mass production. The motivation for this ranges from understanding fundamental materials properties to production monitoring, quantifying their performance, and reliability assessment. Developing failure analysis capabilities for probing PVK and Si sub-cells individually in a tandem configuration will also rise in importance. Reliability benchmarking should take into consideration the area and operational lifetime of the devices, and should be compared against prevailing Si single-junction devices. This calls for the establishment of consensus/standards on testing within the community.

Concluding remarks

PVK/Si tandem solar cells have made remarkable progress in the laboratory and have surpassed the record efficiency of Si single-junction devices. However, a prerequisite for the commercial deployment of this technology is the scaling up of small-area devices to stable large-area production scale devices in a

cost-effective way while maintaining sufficiently high efficiencies. To meet these challenges, advances in science and technology are needed on the entire commercialization roadmap of PVK/Si tandems. This ranges from developments in process technologies to device design, characterization techniques, standards for testing, and addressing potential environmental and toxicity concerns of lead-containing PVKs. Solving these issues could pave the way for terawatt-scale deployment of PVK/Si tandems.

Acknowledgments

SERIS is a research institute at the National University of Singapore (NUS). SERIS is supported by NUS, the National Research Foundation Singapore (NRF), the Energy Market Authority of Singapore (EMA), and the Singapore Economic Development Board (EDB). We would like to thank Mr Tan Hu Quee for providing a summary of published efficiencies of 2T and 4T perovskite/Si tandem devices. Y H acknowledges the support from the National University of Singapore (NUS) Presidential Young Professorship (R-279-000-617-133 and R-279-001-617-133).

10. PVK-based tandem cells: PVK/PVK tandems

Zhaoning Song and Yanfa Yan

Wright Center for PVs Innovation and Commercialization, Department of Physics and Astronomy, The University of Toledo, Toledo OH 43606, United States of America

Status

Perovskite/perovskite (PK/PK) tandem solar cells combine two PVK absorber layers with complementary light absorption—typically a mixed-halide wide-bandgap (1.7–1.9 eV) PVK and a mixed tin–lead (Sn-Pb) narrow-bandgap (1.1–1.3 eV) PVK to reduce the thermalization loss and expand the utilization of the solar spectrum. This emerging PVK-based thin-film tandem PV technology not only promises power conversion efficiencies (PCEs) beyond the thermodynamic limit of ~33% for single-junction devices but also offers some prominent attributes, such as flexibility in tuning the bandgaps of all sub-cells, simple fabrication techniques, suitability for processing on flexible and lightweight substrates, and projected low manufacturing and environmental costs [113]. Because of these merits, PK/PK tandems are recognized as a viable next-generation solar technology to render the lowest levelized cost of energy in the long term.

Together with the rapid development of single-junction PSCs, PK/PK tandems have experienced an astonishingly fast learning curve in performance enhancement in the last few years (figure 9). In 2015, Jiang *et al* [114] first realized the concept of monolithic two-terminal (2-T) PK/PK tandems by integrating two methylammonium lead iodide (MAPI) sub-cells using organic interconnecting layers. Later, Eperon *et al* [115] made a breakthrough by developing 2-T PK/PK tandem architecture based on an infrared-absorbing Sn-Pb PVK, enabling power conversion efficiencies (PCEs) of up to 17%. This work has attracted substantial interest in the scientific community and inspired many follow-up studies. Most recently, several significant technological advances in PK/PK tandems have been accomplished, including Sn-Pb PVK grain boundary passivation [116], compositional engineering and deposition process innovation [117, 118], inhibition of Sn²⁺ oxidation in the Sn-Pb PVK precursor solution [119, 120], and the recombination layer modification [118, 121]. Due to all these efforts, the current record PCE of 26.4% for PK/PK tandems has surpassed the highest PCE of 25.7% for single-junction PSCs [35]. Notably, a certified PCE of 24.2% has been demonstrated for PK/PK tandems with an active area of over 1 cm² [120]. With the rapid momentum of technological progress and further exploration, PK/PK tandems are expected to become a leading PV technology with PCEs exceeding 30% in the foreseeable future.

Current and future challenges

Although potentially promising, PK/PK tandems are facing significant obstacles on their way toward commercialization. Currently, the reported PCE of PK/PK tandems is still far below their theoretical limits. Their performance is limited by several materials-related issues, including mainly (i) large photovoltage losses and phase segregation in wide-bandgap PVKs, (ii) intrinsic instability and defectiveness in Sn-containing narrow-bandgap PVKs, and (iii) inevitable power loss at interconnecting layers. Particularly, wide-bandgap PVK cells with Br- or Cs-rich stoichiometries typically suffer from a large open-circuit voltage deficit (V_{OC} -deficit) of more than 0.5 V, which is ascribed to compositional inhomogeneity, ion migration, and light-induced phase segregation. The ease of oxidation of Sn²⁺ to Sn⁴⁺ in Sn-based narrow-bandgap PVKs is responsible for a high defect density of Sn vacancies that lower the photocurrent generation and cause rapid performance degradation. Moreover, there is an urgent need to develop efficient and robust interconnecting layers that concurrently show small optical and electrical losses and have sufficient mechanical and chemical stability to protect the underlying first-deposited sub-cell from damage during the process of the second sub-cell.

While it is optimistic that high PCEs can eventually be achieved in PK/PK tandems, there are still profound manufacturing challenges associated with scalable fabrication, module design, and device reliability of this emerging technology. Most state-of-the-art PK/PK tandems reported in the literature were fabricated using spin-coating methods. However, industrial production requires scalable deposition techniques for all PVK sub-cells and interconnecting layers. It is particularly challenging for Sn-Pb narrow-bandgap PVKs because of their high sensitivity to the processing environment. Additionally, integrating individual tandem cells into thin-film modules is technically challenging and practically unexplored. To enable the conventional thin-film monolithic integration in PK/PK tandem modules, strategies must be developed to avoid potential shunting through the interconnecting layers and corrosion at the scribing lines. Lastly, the device stability of PK/PK tandems is yet to be demonstrated. The intrinsic instability of Sn-Pb PVKs is currently the bottleneck that hinders the scalable production and practical applications of PK/PK tandems.



Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

To capitalize on the promise of PK/PK tandems, strenuous efforts are needed to collectively improve wide-bandgap PVKs, narrow-bandgap PVKs, and the interconnecting layers. PK/PK tandem research has been a growing field where the strategies for improving device performance and insights into the underlying tandem-device working and degradation mechanisms are constantly evolving. Here, we only highlight some critical perspectives. First, holistic design and precise control of each component layer in the complex tandem structure is a prerequisite for enabling optimal current matching in PVK sub-cells and, thus, maximizing the power output of tandems. The design and validation of tandem architectures need collaborative work of detailed device physics modeling, extensive expertise on device fabrication, and advanced optical and electrical characterization techniques. Moreover, each sub-cell requires delicate control to ensure the maximum conversion of solar energy. Strategies to mitigate large Voc-deficit in wide-bandgap PVK sub-cells include tailoring PVK composition and grain growth, applying grain boundary and surface passivation, and identifying appropriate hole-selective materials to match the deep valence band of wide-bandgap PVKs. Increasing the film thickness and minority carrier diffusion length of Sn-Pb narrow-bandgap PVKs is important for enabling a complete infrared photon conversion. Employing appropriate oxygen- and moisture-impermeable surface and grain boundary protection and engineering the Sn-Pb PVKs to reduce their reliance on oxygen- and moisture-free environments can be effective approaches to prevent the degradation of Sn-Pb PVKs. Furthermore, efficient interconnecting layers play a key role in connecting the sub-cells in the tandem devices. Tailoring the properties of recombination layers or tunneling junctions implemented in PK/PK tandems is critical to minimize the optical and electrical losses of the interconnecting layers.

Future work of PK/PK tandems will also focus on translating the deposition processes designed for small-area devices to the scalable manufacturing processes for tandem PV modules. Important lessons can be learned from the recent progress of scalable production of Pb-based PSCs and applied to the large-area coating of Sn-Pb PVKs. For industrial production, it is also important to develop suitable production tools to specifically handle the processing of Sn-Pb PVKs in a delicately controlled environment. The desirable manufacturing routes for the whole tandem structure should be scalable, high throughput, cost-effective, and uniform, like the processes used by the thin-film PV industry. Moreover, the implementation of robust module encapsulation and packaging is necessary to ensure the long-term stable operation of PK/PK tandems.

Concluding remarks

PK/PK tandems present an unprecedented opportunity for the development of ultrahigh-efficiency and low-cost thin-film tandem PV modules. As laboratory-sized PK/PK tandem devices have been achieving PCEs higher than the record of single-junction PSCs, it is important to start considering pathways to implement this emerging PV technology at a commercially relevant scale. If the remaining scientific and

technological challenges can be adequately addressed, PK/PK tandems will render their promise to become a low-cost leader in the future PV market.

Acknowledgments

This material is based upon work supported by the U.S. Department of Energy's Office of Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy (EERE) under the Solar Energy Technologies Office Award Number DE-EE0008753. The U.S. Government is authorized to reproduce and distribute reprints for Governmental purposes notwithstanding any copyright notation thereon. The views and conclusions contained herein are those of the authors and should not be interpreted as necessarily representing the official policies or endorsements, either expressed or implied, of the U.S. Government.

11. Other PVK tandem cells

Xu Chen and Yang (Michael) Yang

State Key Laboratory of Modern Optical Instrumentation, Institute for Advanced Photonics, College of Optical Science and Engineering, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, People's Republic of China

Status

 $Cu(In,Ga)Se_2$ (CIGS), organic and $Cu_2ZnSnS_xSe_{4-x}$ (CZTS) materials are exceptional candidates as near-infrared absorbers in a PVK-based tandem configuration with significant advantages of tunable bandgaps, lightweight, and availability for flexible processing. It is possible to realize the strong alliance between these near-infrared materials and PVK. Figure 10 shows the record efficiencies of perovskite-CIGS (Pero-CIGS), perovskite-organic (Pero-OPV) and perovskite-CZTS (Pero-CZTS) tandem cells published in the years 2014–2022. In figure 10, the first 2-terminal (2T) PVK-based tandem came out in IBM in 2014, with a Pero-CZTS tandem structure, and its efficiency was 4.6% [122]. Until 2022, the 4-terminal Pero-CZTS tandem had a high power conversion efficiency (PCE) of 22.27% developed in CITYU [123]. Furthermore, more researchers have recently focused on the Pero-CIGS and Pero-OPV tandem PVs. The 4T Pero-CIGS tandem devices have achieved an outstanding PCE of 25.9% in NREL, while the responding 2T tandems have approached 23.26% efficiency in HZB [124, 125]. For Pero-OPV tandems, the monolithic tandem has demonstrated a good PCE up to 21.1% in WHUT, and the semi-transparent mechanically stacked tandem has demonstrated 14.05% PCE in SUDA [126, 127]. In addition to surpassing the single-cell devices in terms of efficiency, the tandems are conducive to improved device stability. Compared to PVK-silicon (Si), Pero-CIGS and Pero-CZTS have shown greater potentials to be applied to the space environment, benefitting from the excellent radiation hardness of CZTS and CIGS [128]. In addition, OPVs often suffer from insufficient UV stability, but the UV sensitivity of OPVs is settled by shielding blue-violet light with a PVK absorber in the Pero-OPV tandem solar cells (TSCs). However, these kinds of tandems are currently lagging behind the PVK-Si and all-PVK tandems in terms of efficiency. But further development can be expected for various new application scenarios, such as flexible, indoor, semi-transparent systems.

Current and future challenges

Critical light management. Parasitic absorption and reflection loss are mainly attributed to the optical losses in the TSCs, which contain multiple dielectric layers with unequal refractive indices, acting as the charge transport layers, the blocking layers, and the light-absorbing layers, respectively. At present, the easiest and most widely used method involves thermally evaporating a single magnesium fluoride (MgF₂) between the air and the indium tin oxide (ITO) glass (or the glass substrate) as antireflection. CIGS and CZTS with the film thickness of micrometers can absorb near-infrared light adequately, but OPVs are generally 100–115 nanometers thick. Thus, it is necessary to develop more specialized antireflection coatings to increase the current density of OPVs.

Large open-circuit voltage (Voc) loss. Under ideal conditions, the Voc loss of the tandems is approximately equal to the sum of the loss of sub-cells. The champion CIGS with the PCE of 23.4% had a low Voc penalty of about 0.346 eV [129]; compared to the CIGS, the best CZTS and organic solar cell showed high energy loss, reaching 0.589 [130] and 0.55 eV [131], respectively. Additionally, the optimal bandgap of the PVK front sub-cells is above 1.65 eV, and the corresponding Voc loss generally exceeds 0.5 eV.

Imperfect interconnecting layer (ICL). The sputtered thick ITO layers are widely used in the Pero-CIGS and Pero-CZTS TSCs, resulting in good lateral charge conduction, optical losses, and the increment of the costs. Moreover, super-thin gold (Au) and silver (Ag) are often chosen as the recombination layers inside the Pero-OPV TSCs, inevitably leading to a trade-off between optical losses and charge conduction. Several reviews have given opinions on the ideal ICL for 2T tandems [132]. The perfect ICLs: (i) make the voltage addition of front and rear sub-cells, with reasonable energetic alignment; (ii) minimize the optical losses; (iii) possess good vertical charge conduction but less lateral charger conduction; (iv) low cost; and (v) protect the underlying sub-cells from solvent erosion, being quite difficult to fabricate. Overall, these challenges hinder the breakthrough of device efficiency, but also the delayed commercialization process.

Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

To face the challenge, it is extremely necessary to identify deep insights into photoelectric losses and the working mechanism of the PVK-based TSCs. Lang *et al* [133] developed a sub-cell diagnosis methodology to calculate the practical efficiency limitations when the negative impact of different losses on device performance dominates, including bulk recombination, surface recombination, interface recombination,





Figure 11. Advanced science and technology for meeting challenges. (a) The PCE potential of TSCs quantified by intensity-dependent absolute photoluminescence (PL) and injection-dependent absolute electroluminescence (EL). (b) Impedance spectroscopy of three-terminal TSCs. Reproduced with permission. (c) Absorptance of the two kinds of transparent conductive electrodes: IO: H and ITO, and a scheme of a semi-transparent PSC. (d) The mechanism of tuning the interconnecting layers for Pero-OPV TSCs. (e) The J-V curves of flexible Pero-OPV TSCs. (a) Reprinted with permission from [133]. Copyright (2021) American Chemical Society. (b) Reprinted with permission from [99]. Copyright (2020), American Chemical Society. (c) Reprinted from [134], Copyright (2019), with permission from Elsevier. (d) Reprinted with permission from [126]. Copyright (2021), American Chemical Society. (e) [135] John Wiley & Sons. (Copyright © 2020 WILEY-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, Weinheim).

and transport losses (figure 11(a)). Park *et al* [99] demonstrated that it is useful to construct the 3-terminal (3T) measurement architecture to analyze the charge dynamics of each sub-cell of a 2T tandem, separately and integrated (figure 11(b)). Here, it has been concluded that the PVK front cell has microsecond-level kinetics, while the Si bottom sub-cell has millisecond-level kinetics. However, there are still few relevant studies that report whether this capacitance rule can apply to other PVK-based TSCs, through the 3T measurement method. Moreover, continuous technological breakthroughs are also extremely important. Jiang *et al* [134] developed an In₂O₃:H film deposition method. Compared with the traditional TCOs, the In₂O₃:H film has better mobility with a value up to 129 cm² V⁻¹ s⁻¹ and better Near-infrared (NIR)-transparent ability, which advantageously acted as an electrode in 4T TSCs, but not as an ICL inside a

2T TSC because of the high-temperature treatment of 230 degrees Celsius (figure 11(c)). Wang *et al* [126] tuned the hole transport material (HTM) of the ICLs to minimize Voc loss and reduce the charge accumulation at the interfaces, indicating that the high-quality HTM, with adequate hole mobility, low absorption, and efficient quasi-ohmic contact, plays a critical role in affecting the series capacity of two sub-cells of the Pero-OPV tandems (figure 11(d)). Nevertheless, few researchers report whether the electron transport material has a similar effect to the HTM. Additionally, Li *et al* [135] fabricated a flexible Pero-OPV tandem device with a PCE of 13.61%, Voc of 1.80 V, short circuit current (Jsc) of 11.07 mA cm⁻², and a fill factor (FF) of 68.31%, which can drive water electrolysis systems to yield a solar-to-hydrogen efficiency of 11.21% (figure 11(e)). Thus, acceleration of the advancement of commercialization requires more exploration in applications with unique advantages for these types of tandem PVs.

Concluding remarks

In this review, we briefly introduced the evolution of the Pero-CIGS, Pero-CZTS, and Per-OPV TSCs. Although increasing numbers of researchers are devoted to improving the performance of this type of tandem device, their efficiency is still far from the PVK-Si and all-PVK tandems solar cells. Next, we listed three common problems of critical light management, large Voc loss, and the imperfect interconnecting layer, that hinder the improvement of these novel tandem applications. Finally, we emphasized sub-cell diagnosis methodology, the 3-terminal measurement method, and some preparation techniques of better NIR-transparent TCOs, high-quality HTM, and flexible tandem PVs that are worth learning from (figure 11). We believe that, as long as such tandem cells show their unique advantages, they can also occupy a place in the huge PV market in the future market.

Acknowledgments

This work is supported by the National Key Research and Development Program of China (2017YFA0207700), the National Key Research and Development Program of Zhejiang Province (2018C04SA170313), the Outstanding Youth Fund of Zhejiang Natural Science Foundation of China (LR18F050001), and the Natural Science Foundation of China (61804134, 61705194).

12. Encapsulation of PSCs

Ali Asgher Syed and Ishaq Ahmad

Department of Physics, The University of Hong Kong, Pokfulam Road, Hong Kong, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of China, People's Republic of China

Status

Even though organic–inorganic halide perovskite solar cells (OIHP) have achieved comparable power conversion efficiency with silicon solar cells [136], they are still facing barriers in large-scale production. To some extent, issues like higher PV performance with improved device stability have been addressed. However, further progress in the field requires the following of standardized testing protocols, as well as establishing suitable encapsulation protocols for high performance [9]. As illustrated in figure 12, the function of encapsulation is to restrict ingress of moisture and oxygen and restrict lead leakage, to achieve improvement in stability and reduce environmental hazards. While many encapsulation options are suitable for commonly reported stability tests (dark storage, or testing under 1 sun illumination at room temperature and under low to moderate humidity), it is considerably more difficult for encapsulation to satisfy more stringent device testing conditions, such as damp heat or outdoor testing [9]. To pass these stringent testing conditions, it is necessary to both develop a stable OIHP-based solar cell, and a suitable encapsulation. Several recent articles have discussed these issues [9, 137–140], but there has been no consensus in the community on wide adoption of a certain type of encapsulation material and/or encapsulation technique.

A number of different materials have been reported to date, i.e. ethylene vinyl acetate (EVA), polyvinyl butyral, thermoplastic polyurethane, polyisobutylene (PIB), fluoropolymer coating, various polymer films, ethylene methyl acrylate, cyclized perfluoro-polymer (Cytop), organic–inorganic hybrid materials, ORMOCERs, ORMOSIL aero-gel thin film [137], as well as different polymer films, polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS), PET, polytetrafluoroethylene, poly (methyl methacrylate (PMMA) polycarbonate, etc [138]. However, detailed comparisons between different materials have been scarce.

Current and future challenges

It is well known that PVK materials are highly moisture sensitive (regardless of illumination), as well as sensitive to the exposure to oxygen under illumination. Therefore, the discovery of appropriate encapsulation materials and routes to adopt in the PVK field is highly desirable. Ideal materials for encapsulation require a low oxygen transmission rate (OTR) and water vapor transmission rate (WVTR), i.e. $10^{-4} - 10^{-6}$ cm³ m⁻² day atm and $10^{-3} - 10^{-6}$ cm³ m⁻² day, respectively [139]. More importantly, encapsulating material and PVK properties should be compatible to avoid delamination and reaction risks to avoid a drop in the PV performance due to outgassing of solvent or sealant and/or reactions between the solvent or sealant and device components during the encapsulation process, or during storage or application of different types of stress for accelerated stability testing. Specifically, the encapsulant and edge sealant should be inert with respect to PVK device components, and should have suitable mechanical properties to ensure packaging integrity under thermal stress. In addition, it is highly desirable for the encapsulation material to be low cost and that its application is scalable for commercial production.

The encapsulation types can be roughly divided into two groups: thin-film encapsulation and encapsulation with a cover (usually glass). While thin-film encapsulation is highly desirable, especially for flexible devices, it should be noted that existing commercialized PV technologies use an encapsulant + edge seal + cover method instead of thin-film encapsulation. Nevertheless, thin-film encapsulation remains of potential interest in research to improve its performance, and it can also be practically relevant for future commercialization when used in combination with cover glass/polymer encapsulation. Polymers like PMMA, PDMS, perylene C, fluoropolymer coatings, and spray-coated reduced graphene oxide [140], and inorganic films like silica or alumina [141] can be potential candidates for thin-film encapsulation. These interlayer films can be incorporated with the device via simple, low-pressure deposition, and low-cost methods, such as atomic layer deposition, sputtering, and evaporatio. Cover-glass encapsulation can be further subdivided into blanket and edge encapsulation or a combination of both, as shown in figures 13(a)-(c). The technique confines the devices between two surfaces with low OTR and WVTR, which limits the possibility of moisture and oxygen ingress to the edge seal. While other oxygen- and humidity-sensitive technologies such as organic light-emitting diodes have successfully used the encapsulation method using the edge seal only with incorporated desiccant, this method is less suitable for PSCs since delamination commonly occurs at elevated temperatures. Thus, a combination of encapsulant and edge sealing is recommended for the best performance. This is complicated by the fact that some encapsulant common in the Si PV industry, such as EVA, can react with PVK [9, 142]. In addition, it is necessary to consider the package design, i.e. making contacts while simultaneously minimizing series resistance and ensuring stability of metal contact outside of





Figure 13. A schematic illustration of different types of cover-glass encapsulation: (a) blanket encapsulation, (b) edge encapsulation, (c) blanket encapsulation with edge sealing, and (d) sealed-edge blanket encapsulation with the added feature of lead containment. Reprinted with permission from [9]. Copyright (2022), American Chemical Society.
the package, as well as ensuring that the width of the edge seal is compatible with the chosen testing conditions (i.e. \sim 12 mm of PIB is needed for 1000 h under the damp-heat test).

Finally, it should also be noted that encapsulation not only limits moisture and oxygen ingress into the device, but also restricts the lead (Pb) leakage in the outside environment [143]. Thus, it is desirable to include lead containment features into the encapsulation package, as illustrated in figure 32 and discussed in more detail in section 23. With the integration of lead containment features into the packaging, it is necessary to verify both the device performance as well as lead containment under the entire range of different accelerated testing conditions (IEC 61 215:2021 or various ISOS protocols revised for PSCs [141]).

Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

There are different stability testing protocols, which can involve bias, illumination, humidity, and thermal stress, individually or in combination [45], under open-circuit or maximum power point (MPP) [45, 144] testing. These testing protocols can thus be divided into testing protocols for device testing in the dark, testing under light soaking, outdoor testing, thermal cycling, solar-thermal cycling, light cycling, and testing under bias. While the shelf-life testing (ISOS-D1) protocol remains very common and can be performed on devices without encapsulation, encapsulation is essential for other stability testing conditions, which include additional stress (illumination, temperature, high humidity) that accelerate PVK material and device degradation. Great progress has been made in recent years in both improving the device stability and encapsulation method for PSCs to be able to pass ISOS-D3 damp-heat testing conditions, which involve temperature of 85 °C and relative humidity of 85% [141]. For a summary of device architectures and encapsulation methods suitable for these stringent tests, see [9]. In five out of seven reports on successful (>1000 h) damp-heat testing, encapsulation with PIB as either blanket or edge sealant was used [9], indicating its high suitability for PVK encapsulation. Despite this progress, further research into encapsulant materials suitable for PSCs is needed, with particular attention devoted to performance at elevated temperatures, not only due to the requirement to pass damp-heat testing but also the fact that the temperature during outdoor operating conditions was estimated to reach 70 °C [145].

Concluding remarks

Performance of solar cells under accelerated aging tests (damp heat, illumination with added thermal stress, outdoor testing, etc) is a combination of their intrinsic stability and the ability of encapsulation to restrict the ingress of water and oxygen under the testing conditions. Advancement in both intrinsic stability and encapsulation will ultimately be beneficial for PSC commercialization. Ideal encapsulation would consist of a thin-film passivation layer (to further restrict outgassing of volatile decomposition products, which would degrade metal electrodes and/or interconnects), compatible and stable encapsulant, edge sealant (possibly a bilayer combining PIB with additional sealant to minimize atmosphere ingress through any defects), an impenetrable glass cover, and a lead-containment feature.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Prof. Aleksandra B Djurišić, Department of Physics, The University of Hong Kong for her guidance and support.

13. Stability of PVK materials: moisture and oxygen

Aleksandra B Djurišić¹, Tiklun Leung¹, Yantao Wang¹, JingYang Lin^{1,2} and Alan Man Ching Ng² ¹ Department of Physics, The University of Hong Kong, Pokfulam Road, Hong Kong, Hong Kong Special

Administrative Region of China, People's Republic of China ² Southern University of Science and Technology China (SUSTech), 1088 Xueyuan Blvd, Nanshan, Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, People's Republic of China

Status

Halide perovskite (HP) materials, in particular low-bandgap iodide-based PVKs, exhibit instability when exposed to an ambient environment, which is further enhanced upon ambient exposure under illumination. Since the solar cells are expected to operate under illumination in an ambient atmosphere, it is essential to understand the mechanisms of degradation to mitigate the degradation and achieve sufficiently stable performance. Another important implication of instability upon ambient exposure is the difficulty of commercialization if inert atmosphere processing is required, since the possibility of ambient processing would significantly simplify the process and lower the cost [146]. Thus, improving the stability on exposure to ambient atmosphere is critical for future commercialization of these devices. All the layers in the PSC can be affected by ambient exposure, and in some cases exposure to oxygen could even be beneficial, such as oxygen doping of 2,2',7,7'-Tetrakis-(N,N-di-4-methoxyphenylamino)-9,9'-spirobifluorene (SpiroOMeTAD) [147, 148]. However, here we will mainly focus on the effect of oxygen and moisture on the HP material. Methylammonium (MA) lead iodide (MAPI) is thermodynamically unstable upon exposure to oxygen and water, and stability increases for different halides (Cl > Br > I), and it is also affected by the organic cation tendency toward deprotonation [148]. However, although MAPI is thermodynamically unstable in oxygen, the interaction is strongly affected by surface reaction kinetics, and consequently MAPI was found to be stable when exposed to oxygen in the dark, while it rapidly degraded when exposed to oxygen under illumination [148]. Upon exposure to moisture, MAPI initially transforms to a hydrated form [148–150], which is reversible, followed by irreversible degradation [149, 150]. The degradation of the PVK on exposure to humidity is dependent on the relative humidity and time of exposure [149, 150], and it is also affected by the hole transport layer (HTL) covering the PVK [149], which offers the possibility to slow down the process by suitable selection of a HTL (dopant-free hydrophobic materials forming smooth pinhole-free films with good adhesion to PVK are preferred). Initially, a monohydrate CH₃NH₃ PbI₃·H₂O forms (which can readily be converted back to MAPI), as shown in figure 14, and then prolonged exposure results in the formation of a dehydrated species and ultimately decomposition to PbI₂ [150].

Current and future challenges

Significant efforts have been made to understand the degradation processes and to develop methods to address the degradation. Exposure of PVK to moisture has been extensively studied [148–151], and the degradation pathway for moisture exposure [148–150] is reasonably well understood. However, details related to the PVK film properties (defects, stoichiometry, morphology, grain boundaries, surface termination) affect the degradation upon moisture exposure, and the influences of these factors need to be better understood. For example, a rough surface can lead to faster degradation [151]. It is also important to note that moisture-induced degradation is accelerated by illumination (even ambient illumination) [151], and this acceleration process, unlike oxygen exposure, has not been as comprehensively studied. Furthermore, considering the fact that PVK films and devices tend to exhibit faster degradation in the presence of both oxygen and water compared to oxygen only or water only conditions, and the fact that ambient atmosphere contains both oxygen and water, it is important to improve our understanding of interactions involving both oxygen and water, in the dark and under illumination. As discussed, oxygen does not contribute significantly to PVK degradation in the dark [148, 152, 153]. Unlike water, oxygen does not diffuse into the grain interior and oxygen tends to adsorb at iodine vacancy sites on the surface, where it remains relatively stable due to strong interactions with Pb [152]. The presence of water affects the adsorption of oxygen and its energy levels in the gap, similar to iodide vacancies, which makes it more likely that superoxide ions will be produced by reduction of oxygen by photoexcited electrons, and the magnitude of this effect is dependent on the surface termination [152]. Under illumination, a superoxide ion is generated, which results in photooxidation of the PVK [152]. The effects of oxygen are dependent on the partial pressure of oxygen and the composition of the PVK, and the stability under illumination with oxygen exposure can be improved by simultaneous exposure to oxygen and iodine, as illustrated in figure 15, although exact details of the ongoing processes in this case require further study [153].









Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

Different methods exist for improving the PVK stability with ambient exposure (especially moisture), such as the use of hydrophobic layers, 2D PVKs, and/or encapsulation [148, 154]. The use of bulky spacer cations, which form a hydrophobic protective surface layer, is particularly effective for reducing sensitivity to moisture. However, dealing with instability under illumination is considerably more complex [148]. Even in encapsulated devices, there could be oxygen released from the metal oxide layer, which could result in degradation under illumination [147]. A reduction of superoxide ion generation and consequently reduction of photooxidation, as well as ion migration, has been demonstrated by optimizing the PVK composition (Cs content) [147], since the photooxidation degradation is dependent on the PVK composition [153]. In addition, improved stability under illumination can be achieved using additives combined with appropriate selection of device architecture [155]. For example, the use of an aminovaleric acid additive resulted in increased superoxide ion generation for films on glass, but reduced superoxide ion generation when infiltrated into a mesoporous TiO₂/ZrO₂/C structure [155]. This was attributed to the dependence of superoxide ion formation on oxygen diffusion, grain morphology, and native defects [155]. Thus, significant stability improvements are possible by careful optimization of PVK composition (including additives and/or passivation) and device architecture, introducing additional layers, and encapsulation.

In addition, progress has been made toward the ambient processing of PSCs (for more details, see section 6). For example, better understanding of PVK crystallization in the presence of water has led to the development of a deposition process involving prenucleation by adjusting spin coating and antisolvent application [146]. The increase in nuclei density achieved in this process prevented the growth of large needle–like crystals of a MA₂Pb₃I₈·2DMSO intermediate, which resulted in smooth films and efficient devices [146]. However, while reports on ambient-prepared devices typically involve good shelf-life stability [146], ambient-fabricated devices have rarely been subject to harsh stability testing conditions, such as the damp-heat test, outdoor test, and accelerated aging under illumination at elevated temperatures. More stringent stability testing protocols are essential to establish whether any residual moisture arising from ambient processing affects device stability.

Concluding remarks

PVK film and device stability is significantly affected by exposure to moisture and oxygen, in particular under illumination (although moisture also contributes to the degradation in the dark). The sensitivity to moisture and oxygen exposure hinders the development of ambient processing and it is detrimental to the long-term stability of the devices. The ambient-induced degradation processes are significantly affected by the composition and morphology of the PVK and native defect concentrations. Moisture-related degradation is better understood and easier to address compared to photooxidation degradation in the presence of oxygen and illumination. While encapsulation (discussed in more detail in section 12) can significantly improve device lifetimes, due to the presence of surface-adsorbed oxygen in commonly used metal oxide charge transport layers, improved understanding of photooxidation and methods to suppress it are urgently needed to achieve high-stability devices.

Acknowledgments

This work is supported by RGC CRF Grants C5037-18G and C7018-20G, Seed Funding for the Strategic Interdisciplinary Research Scheme of the University of Hong Kong and Shenzhen Science and Technology Commission Project No. JCYJ20170818141216288.

14. Stability of PVK materials: illumination

Aleksandra B Djurišić, Tiklun Leung and Yin Li

Department of Physics, The University of Hong Kong, Pokfulam Road, Hong Kong, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of China, People's Republic of China

Status

In addition to extrinsic (oxygen, moisture-induced) degradation, which is accelerated by illumination, discussed in section 13, illumination can result in intrinsic instabilities of the PVK material, discussed in this section. Furthermore, while illumination also results in an increase in temperature and affects the ion migration in the devices, the topics of temperature and ion migration will be discussed separately in sections 15 and 16, respectively. In addition, while other device components (charge transport layers, electrodes) can exhibit degradation under illumination [156], the discussion in this section is limited to PVK material. The intrinsic degradation under illumination is dependent on the type of illumination (UV, blue light, white light)[156] and involves irreversible [156–158] and reversible processes [156, 159–165]. Degradation due to reversible processes can be reversed by storing the devices in the dark and, for this reason, stability-testing protocols involving light-dark cycling can yield different results compared to constant illumination. Among reversible photo-degradation processes, photo-induced halide segregation has been extensively studied, and while different hypotheses have been proposed to explain the observed experimental data [156, 159–165] the process is still not fully clear. The irreversible photodegradation is somewhat better understood. It is strongly dependent on the halide perovskite (HP) composition, with PVK films prepared with excess PbI_2 (a common approach to increase efficiency of the devices) exhibiting degradation due to intrinsic decomposition of PbI₂ into Pb and I₂ under illumination [157], with released I₂ resulting in a chain reaction and further degradation of the PVK [156, 157]. However, device performance degradation trends do not necessarily follow the same trend as PVK film degradation due to complex interplay between different processes [157]. The methylammonium (MA) lead iodide (MAPI) is also susceptible to photodegradation under prolonged illumination, and it decomposes into methylammonium iodide and PbI₂ (followed by further decomposition of PbI₂), and MAPI decomposition can even occur at temperatures as low as 5 K [156]. It should be noted that many of these studies have been conducted in vacuum, which would result in the inevitable loss of volatile organics. Recent experiment in an Ar atmosphere clarified the process of MAPI photodegradation, and the formation of $Pb^{(0)}@PbI_{2-x}$ nanoparticles was proposed, as illustrated in figure 16 [158].

Current and future challenges

Improving the stability of PVK materials and devices under illumination is critical since the solar cells need to function under illumination. Due to practical importance of mixed composition HP for single-cell PSCs as well as tandem devices, improved understanding of the photoinduced halide segregation (PHS) is of critical importance since its origins are still not fully understood [156]. Furthermore, due to the complexity of the processes involved, differences in experimental designs, sample composition, sample morphology, and sample preparation, it is difficult to generalize the conclusions of different studies. These variations result in a large spread of reported segregation times from tens of seconds to tens of minutes, even for similar PVK compositions [160]. In particular, the measurement conditions (vacuum, air, nitrogen, polymer-protected in vacuum) determine whether the observed changes under illumination are reversible or not [160]. Consequently, different models have been proposed to explain PHS to date, which include polaron-induced lattice strain, defect mediated processes, and thermodynamic properties [156, 159]. It was proposed that trapping of holes occurs exclusively in the iodide phase of the PVK, and selective expulsion of iodine from mixed halide film into the solvent occurs under illumination [159]. Hole trapping at iodide sites makes these sites unstable, triggering iodide migration through vacancy hopping, resulting in PHS [159]. In agreement with this, it was found that PHS is dependent on the trap state density, since photoexcited charge carriers, which recombined through trap states, were found to determine the rate of halide segregation [160]. It was proposed that an electric field arising from trapped charge carriers initiates the segregation, and the process is further exacerbated by funneling the carriers to a lower bandgap segregated iodide phase [160]. The hypothesis of charge trapping is further supported by improved photostability by coating HTL on the PVK surface, which prevents hole accumulation in the PVK [161]. However, further work is definitely needed to further understand the driving force for PHS, since neither polaron-based nor miscibility-based thermodynamic models fully explain the existing literature data [165]. Based on temperature-independent terminal stoichiometry, a bandgap-based thermodynamic model instead of a miscibility-based



thermodynamic model was proposed [165]. However, before the matter can be considered settled, applicability to MA-free PVKs should also be investigated.

Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

A number of different approaches has been proposed to tackle photodegradation of HP materials and devices [156]. These include defect passivation (in particular surface and grain boundary) [156], adjusting the PVK composition [156, 159, 162] to reduce lattice distortion induced by photogenerated carriers [156], avoiding the use of UV-sensitive charge transport layers, such as TiO₂, and using photostable charge transport layers in general [156], using UV-blocking layers and/or downconversion layers [156], and interface modifications [156, 161]. Due to the dependence of the photodegradation process on defects in the film, passivation of defects would obviously be beneficial, but it should be noted that complete elimination of the PHS would require a low trap-mediated recombination rate constant (10^5 s^{-1}) , at least for MA-based PVK [160]. Thus, composition optimization (cation mixing) and structural engineering are needed together with minimizing traps to suppress PHS [160]. Surface passivation of traps, for example, using trioctylphosphine oxide [161], is particularly promising, since surfaces and interfaces typically contain higher defect concentrations compared to the bulk and charge carriers will tend to accumulate at interfaces.

Among the different approaches to improve photostability, optimizing the PVK composition and structure is also a highly promising approach. For example, Cs incorporation was found to improve the photostability of mixed HP films [159, 163, 164], and this phenomenon was attributed to reduced iodide mobility in mixed cation films [159]. However, the PHS exhibits complex dependence on the PVK composition, which is likely an interplay between the effects of crystal structure as well as local electronic and chemical interactions [163]. As a result, PHS increased again when the Cs concentration was increased above the optimal concentration [163], which could not be fully explained by existing PHS models. In addition, prolonged illumination of a mixed cation sample can result in segregation of cations, which in turn could trigger halide segregation [164]. Another approach for optimizing PVK composition to suppress PHS is the use of triple halide mixed PVK [162]. These devices demonstrated significant improvement in the photostability, even under significantly higher illumination intensity (up to 100 sun), as shown in figure 17 [162].



Figure 17. Suppression of photoinduced phase segregation in triple-HPs. (a) Photoluminescence (PL) spectra of 1.67 eV control PVK films (Cs25Br20) under 10-sun for 20 min. The arrows indicate the direction of the PL shift over time. (b) The shift of the spectral centroids of control films over time. The red shift becomes more obvious under higher injection. (c) PL spectra of 1.67 eV triple-HPs (Cs22Br15 + Cl3) under 10-sun illumination for 20 min. (d) The shift of the spectral centroids of triple-HPs over time. The blue shift becomes more obvious under higher injection from AAAS.

Concluding remarks

Photostability of HP materials and devices has been extensively studied. Nevertheless, some phenomena, such as PHS, are still not fully understood despite their practical significance. Thus, further work is needed to improve the understanding of the PHS process and its dependence on HP material properties. From the practical applications point of view, since it is indisputable that defects play a significant role in a variety of degradation processes, both reversible and irreversible, progress has been made toward passivating the defects and improving the stability. Promising improvements have also been obtained in optimizing the PVK composition, and it is likely that further improvements can be achieved by combining different approaches, such as simultaneous use of optimized PVK composition, optimized processing, including additives for defect passivation and achieving large grain sizes, and surface passivation.

Acknowledgments

This work is supported by RGC CRF Grants C5037-18G and C7018-20G, and Seed Funding for the Strategic Interdisciplinary Research Scheme of the University of Hong Kong.

15. Stability of PVK materials: temperature

Firouzeh Ebadi and Wolfgang Tress

Institute of Computational Physics, Zurich University of Applied Sciences, Winterthur, Switzerland

Status

The thermal stability of a material is a crucial parameter that must be considered when the material is supposed to be used as a light harvester in a solar cell device. In metal halide perovskites (HPs), elevated temperature can lead to reversible or irreversible changes. In addition to thermal decomposition, heat can cause significant adverse effects on optical and electronic properties of the material, e.g. by leading to phase changes. Since high power conversion efficiency (PCE) values have been achieved, the poor device stability, in particular under elevated temperatures, remains a major hurdle to the commercialization of PSCs. There are several sources for degradation of PSCs under elevated temperatures, including thermal instability of electrons and hole transport layers, and undesired diffusion of dopants or metals used for the electrode. Note that in this section, we will solely discuss the thermal stability of the PVK materials themselves.

Already, at the early stages of PSC research, studies have shown that MAPbI₃ (MA = CH₃NH₃), the first PVK composition used in solar cells, is thermally unstable. Decomposition of MAPbI₃ thin films was observed to already occur during annealing at 85 °C, even in inert atmosphere [166]. Increasing the temperature toward 100 °C and higher causes decomposition of the material into methylamine, hydrogen iodide, and lead iodide. This observation is consistent with density functional theory (DFT) calculations, which have shown very low formation energies of the PVK referred to its precursor salts. Since then, various attempts have been undertaken to increase the thermal stability. These include optimizing the fabrication methods of the thin film and engineering the PVK composition by introducing different cations, anions, and mixtures thereof. In terms of halides, there are many reports showing that the addition of bromide increases the thermal stability.

Currently, mixed cation and mixed HP compositions are regarded as highly promising in terms of thermal stability [167]. However, it transpires that simple trends do not exist, as displayed in figure 18, showing a quantitative stability comparison of various mixed hybrid PVKs based on a thermogravimetry differential thermal analysis (TG-DTA) analysis [168].

As the organic cation has been identified as the major weak point, all inorganic lead HPs, e.g. CsPbI₃, are supposed to show much higher thermal stability.

Current and future challenges

MAPbI₃ deteriorates during thermal stress. Replacing MA with formamidinium (FA = CH(NH₂)₂) can increase thermal stability. This can be explained by FA having a greater number of H, leading to stronger H-bonding with the PbX₆ octahedra. However, the photoactive α -phase FAPbI₃ can quickly transform into a non-PVK hexagonal (δ) phase of FAPbI₃. This holds similarly for the all-inorganic Cs lead halides, whose thermodynamically stable phase at room temperature is commonly not the α phase. Therefore, the major challenge is to find compositions and methods of fabrication to obtain the optimum film regarding phase stability and thermal stability. When employing mixed compositions (especially mixed halides), demixing can occur, leading to undesired phases enriched by certain elements.

Stabilizing α -phase FAPbI₃ is challenging. Various methods including additives, doping, and interfacial engineering have been reported. Lu *et al* showed that a MASCN vapor-treated FAPbI₃ film remained in its pure black phase after 500 h of annealing at 85 °C [169]. Many reports have shown that partially replacing FA with MA in FAPbI₃, can stabilize the black phase. However, being under thermal stress over 500 h in 85 °C, the PVK thin film degrades by releasing MA. Instead, partially replacing FA with Cs and I with Br, can help to stabilize the black phase and increase the thermal stability of the material. It is shown that when stressed at 85 °C for 1000 h, FACsPbI₃ solar cells show no decline in PCE, whereas FAPbI₃ PVKs show signs of degradation [170]. However, excess Cs and Br would lead to phase instabilities due to large lattice stress. Therefore, finding the right ratio of cations and halides is a major challenge.

Meanwhile, there are reports on solar cells based on mixed compositions passing damp-heat tests and similar, proving the excellent progress in the field. Nevertheless, it remains a future challenge when targeting 20 years-stable solar modules to avoid or control thermally activated migration of halide ions, which is an intrinsic property of the material (see Section 16).

Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

Recent advances in increasing the thermal stability of PSCs and characterization of the role of the PVK and interfaces reveal the potential of the PVK material to push the current limits and enter the solar market.



Figure 18. A stability map of hybrid HPs represented by Td (sample degradation temperature, *x*-axis) versus QHAMDR (sample heat absorbed at maximum degradation rate, *y*-axis), two parameters of thermal degradation experiments. Uncertainty of the measurement is represented by the ellipses' *x*–*y* axis lengths. Colors in the left and right side of ellipses describe the PVK's A site composition and the X halide composition, respectively. MAPbCl₃ (marked as (1) in the figure), MAPbI₃ (2), MAPbBr₃ (3), α -FAPbBr₃ (4), α -FAPbI₃ (5), Cs_{0.05}MA_{0.16}FA_{0.79}PbI_{2.49}Br_{0.51} (6), Cs_{0.1}FA_{0.9}PbI₃ (7), Cs_{0.2}FA_{0.8}PbI_{2.84}Br_{0.16} (8), and MA_{0.33}FA_{0.67}PbI_{2.5}Br_{0.5} (9). [168] John Wiley & Sons. (Copyright © 2018 WILEY-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, Weinheim.)



To accelerate this procedure from the PVK material's perspective, there are a few strategies which can be taken: as mixed FA/Cs and I/Br combinations are one of the most promising for the hybrid PVKs, understanding more about the thermal decomposition kinetics in thin films of this material is the first essential step. Assisted by *ab initio* calculations, appropriate film preparation methods, including the introduction of specific additives to the material, are crucial. As in many cases, degradation starts from the film surface; therefore, carefully tracking and characterizing changes at interfaces, e.g. using impedance spectroscopy can lead us toward a fundamental understanding of the required passivation mechanism. Adding a thin 2D PVK layer to the 3D PVK film is another promising approach, which can greatly enhance the stability of the PSCs [171]. Dedicated interfacial layers acting as ion-blocking layers are needed to avoid the fact that reversible losses due to unavoidable ion migration in the bulk of the material convert into irreversible losses, e.g. when constituents—thermally activated—diffuse out of the PVK layer.

In addition to composition engineering, another approach toward thermally stable PVK films is to control the film growth to achieve almost tensile-stress-free compact films, with robust interfaces, leading to a higher intrinsic thermal stability. Recently Dewi *et al* showed that un-encapsulated co-evaporated MAPbI₃ PSCs retain \approx 80% of their original PCEs after 3600 h, when stored at 85 °C. This result indicates the importance of the growth process, allowing higher intrinsic thermal stability for films with minimum tensile stress [172]. Such impressive thermal stability for solar cells with a MAPbI₃ absorber shows the potential for control of the PVK growth process to improve the stability of mixed PVKs even further.

In terms of materials, all-inorganic PVKs are the most promising compounds to address the stability challenge. Gaonkar *et al* reported thermally stable inorganic mixed halide PSCs with no loss in device performance at 200 °C for 72 h (figure 19)[173]. However, the presence of point defects and not fully optimized preparation methods resulted in lower performance. To realize the full potential of these materials and maintain the α phase, e.g. during thermal cycling, further optimizations on the PVK film, including its interfaces, are to be undertaken [174, 175].

Concluding remarks

The fabrication of thermally stable PSCs remains a challenge, although great progress has been made. Often, the main culprits of device degradation upon elevated temperatures are charge transport layers and electrodes, e.g. by diffusion of some of their constituents. The PVK material itself does not instantaneously decompose under temperatures that solar cells are exposed to. However, detrimental processes, such as migration of intrinsic ions, are accelerated, which might finally lead to deterioration of the performance. To enhance the thermal stability of the PVK itself, moving from MAPbI₃ to mixed compounds including FA and Br has proven a successful strategy. In the future, all-inorganic PVKs (CsPbI₃) hold the largest promise of being thermally stable for temperatures far above 100 °C. The challenge here is to also maintain the PVK phase at ambient temperatures and facilitate a crystal and thin-film growth that avoids potential weak points, such as stress in the lattice.

Acknowledgments

Funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under Grant Agreement No. 851676 (ERC StGrt) is kindly acknowledged.

16. Stability of PSCs: ion migration

Giles Richardson

Mathematical Sciences, University of Southampton, Southampton, United Kingdom

Status

PSCs exhibit unusual physics that is not commonly observed in other PV technologies. This was first highlighted by Snaith *et al* [176], who noted that the standard technique for assessing solar cell efficiency, by slowly scanning the applied voltage bias (V) across the cell and measuring the resulting current as a function of bias, to produce a current-voltage (J-V) curve, leads to different J-V curves depending on whether V is being scanned up or down, and on the rate at which it is scanned. This phenomenon is misleadingly termed current-voltage (J-V) hysteresis and disappears at very slow (and very high) scan rates. Consequently, it is largely irrelevant to the steady-state operation of a cell. However, the physics that underlies this phenomenon, namely the presence of slow-moving ion vacancies in the PVK structure, plays a key role in cell performance and degradation. This is because the ion vacancies, which give rise to hysteresis, occur at much higher densities than the charge carriers (electrons and holes) and so largely determine the internal electrical environment of the PVK absorber layer. In particular, they act to screen the electric field from the PVK by forming narrow space-charge layers at the edges of the PVK material, where they abut the transport layers (see figure 20). The exact distribution of the charged species across the space charge layers, which span the PVK/transport layer interfaces, serves to determine the electric potential distribution across the device and so plays a key role in determining the concentrations of charge carriers on these interfaces [177]. Thus, interfacial recombination, which is the predominant loss mechanism in efficient modern cells [178], is strongly dependent on the ion vacancy distribution. This opens up the possibility of deliberately engineering devices to reduce interfacial recombination losses by, for example, changing the electric properties of the transport layers to modify the distribution of potential drops across the cell [177].

There is strong experimental evidence that the motion of halide vacancies, lying on the X-site of the PVK structure, is predominantly responsible for hysteresis and the other short-time scale dynamics (0.1-100s) observed in PSCs. This is reinforced by *ab initio* predictions of a low activation energy barrier for iodide ion hopping between neighboring sites in the PVK crystal structure of methylammonium lead tri-iodide $(CH_3NH_3PbI_3)$, or MAPI for short [179]. Longer timescale dynamics, associated with reversible decays in cell efficiency (occurring over several hours) in highly efficient mixed cation (formamidinium/ methylammonium) mixed halide (Br^-/I^-) PVK cells, have been associated with the very slow motion of cation vacancies [180].

Notably, the absence of hysteresis in so-called 'hysteresis-free cells' does not imply the absence of ion vacancy motion within the PVK but often, as noted by Bryant *et al* [181], signifies that the hysteresis timescale lies outside the range of timescales over which current–voltage scans are conducted. This alternative hypothesis can be confirmed by first cooling down (or heating up) the cell, to slow down (or speed up) ion motion, before repeating the J-V scans to see if hysteresis re-emerges. As noted in [177], transport layer properties play a significant role in determining the hysteresis timescale and can lead to marked differences in behavior between cells of different constructions but with identical PVK absorber layers.

Current and future challenges

There is good evidence that the picture of the ionic behavior of PSCs presented above is a simplification of their real physics, and that the chemistry of organometal PVKs exhibits other ionic behavior, in addition to ion vacancy motion. In particular, *ab initio* computations on PVK structures [182] suggest that the barrier to the formation of certain ion vacancies, in reactions that may also spawn interstitial defects, is not particularly large. This suggests that that the accuracy of device models based on vacancy tracking alone could be improved by incorporating vacancy generation reactions and interstitial defect tracking. This is a significant challenge, which not only requires a full description of the set of vacancy generation reactions but also accurate estimates of the associated reaction rate constants [183]. Furthermore, since vacancy generation reactions also involve the generation (or annihilation) of charge carriers the resulting vacancy dynamics would be expected to display sensitivity to photogeneration; there is some evidence for this arising from Kelvin probe force microscopy experiments [184].

The links between ion (and vacancy) motion and cell degradation are still not fully understood but are key to future advances in PSC design that can improve cell durability and are a prerequisite for long-lived commercially viable devices. At least in some cells, degradation can be directly linked to the motion of ions (particularly halide ions sitting on the X-site) out of the PVK absorber and into the adjacent transport layers [185]. This leads to the gradual degradation of the PVK material. Various methods to reduce ion migration, and thereby control this degradation pathway, have been reviewed by Lee *et al* [186]; these include passivation



of grain boundaries between PVK crystals and total, or partial, substitution of the methylammonium cation in the PVK structure by other ions, such as formamidinium. Other works have suggested that the large mechanical stresses induced in the space charge layers lead to mechanical degradation of the cell in the vicinity of the transport layer interfaces. Smart cell construction based on a firm understanding of the degradation mechanisms should provide a method to minimize the deleterious effects of ion motion.

Another significant challenge presented by the atypical physics of PSCs is how photocarrier recombination in the cell can be monitored with simple non-destructive transient techniques, such as impedance spectroscopy and intensity modulated photocurrent spectroscopy. Being able to detect the primary location of carrier recombination, particularly as it changes over time with cell degradation, is key to understanding cell stability and suggesting strategies to improve it. The presence of a high density of charged ion vacancies within the device, in addition to the usual charge carriers, means that the standard protocols for measuring the ideality factor (n_{id}) lead to non-integer values of this quantity that often lie well outside the normal range encountered in other PV technologies. It is therefore not possible to draw sensible conclusions about the location and type of recombination within a PSC from measurements of the ideality factor using these standard experimental protocols. This requires that new methods, based on an updated solar cell theory that is capable of accounting for mobile ion vacancies, be devised for extracting information from these non-destructive transient techniques. In the case of the ideality factor the protocols used to obtain its value need to be specifically redesigned to reflect the atypical PSC physics.

Concluding remarks

The presence of charged ion vacancies in the PVK absorber layer of PSCs plays a major role in the unusual physics of these devices. Improving the understanding of how ion vacancies (and related interstitial ionic defects) are generated and move within the device (including at the transport layer interfaces) is key to controlling device efficiency and limiting cell degradation.

17. Stability of PSCs: electrode choices

Chuangye Ge and Hanlin Hu

Hoffmann Institute of Advanced Materials, Shenzhen Polytechnic, Nanshan District, Shenzhen 518000, People's Republic of China

Status

The power conversion efficiency (PCE) of metal halide perovskite solar cells has soared to near 26%. Recently, research interest in device stability has attracted increasing attention with the aim to prolong the duration of devices under operational conditions [187, 188]. To date, substantial articles or reports have highlighted the rapid advances in this field, and mainly concentrate on the study of new materials and their physical/chemical properties, the design and construction of the device with various configurations, and the operational mechanisms via compositional engineering, interfacial engineering, and structural engineering. The electrode is essential for collecting charges in the device, and plays a substantial role in the PCE and stability of PSCs [189–191]. It accounts for a large share in the total fabrication cost, affecting the commercialization process of PSCs significantly. Less attention has been devoted to electrode materials compared with the other components of PSCs. Apart from the PV performance and stability, electrode materials may affect other expected functions, including semi-transparency light absorption and flexibility. Furthermore, it is importnat to regulate the approach of the specific electrode during the fabrication of the entire device [192], and consequently affects the cost of PVK devices.

Current and future challenges

The electrode materials show suitable work functions and excellent electric conductivity, which are necessary for the extraction, collection, and transfer of the charge carriers. They can be summarized into different categories, including metals, metal oxides, conducting polymers, carbonaceous materials, and their composites (figure 21) [189]. Typically, the benchmark metal electrodes of PSCs are noble metals including Au or Ag due to their high light reflectivity and low sheet resistance ($R_{sq} \leq 1 \Omega \text{ sq}^{-1}$). Au is the most typical electrode with excellent chemical robustness in PSCs, which could still react with the halide (iodide) in the hybrid PVK under the synergistic effect of ion migration and PVK decomposition, migrating through the hole transporting layer (HTL) to the PVK layer, ultimately resulting in the degradation of the whole device. Ag is another common electrode material, which is even more chemically unstable and may have a interaction with the reacted migrated iodine from absorbers, leading to a change in the interfacial electronic properties of the Ag/HTL interface [189, 190].

To replace these noble metals, various low-cost metals have been examined, including Al, Cu, Ni, etc. Additionally, alloyed metallic or composite films have been introduced to address the stability issue in PSCs, such as NiAu, AgAl alloy, and metal/metal oxide composites. Furthermore, several studies have examined the performance of molybdenum (Mo) and tungsten (W) electrode-based PSCs [193, 194].

Carbon materials, such as single-wall or multi-wall carbon nanotubes, graphite, graphene, and carbon black, have been applied as electrodes for PSCs. In contrast to metal electrodes, carbon materials exhibit excellent diversity and modifiability, a relatively high specific surface area, rich micropores and mesopores, and high chemical stability, which ensures carbon materials work regularly in the monolithic structured PSCs [187, 195, 196]. Most importantly, the Fermi level of carbon (5.0 eV) is very close to the valence band edge of the PVK (\approx 5.4 eV), facilitating the collection of holes from PVKs. It is notable that carbon-based PSCs have the superior advantage of being more stable than metals in damp-heat testing. However, the PCE of carbon-based (like HTL-free) PSCs is unsatisfied, thus it is necessary to concentrate on the improvement of PCE, such as by introducing an electron blocking layer to suppress the carrier recombination.

Transparent conducting oxides (TCOs) have been widely used in PV modules, flat-panel displays, touch screens, and other applications due to well-established film deposition techniques [31, 197, 198]. With respect to various TCO materials, fluorine-doped tin oxide (FTO) and indium-doped tin oxide (ITO) with excellent optical transparency and electrical conductivity are the most popular and commercially available materials, and have been widely utilized. Generally, they serve as substrates (bottom electrodes) in the thin-film-based PV devices, providing ohmic connection with the electron/HTL. However, due to the high cost, lack of indium, and poor flexibility for the glass substrates, alternative TCOs, e.g. gallium-doped zinc oxide, indium-doped cadmium oxide, and aluminum-doped zinc oxide, have also been explored in semi-transparent or tandem PSCs.

As a representative conducting polymer, PEDOT:PSS can serve as the hole transport material in PSCs. It shows a similar work function to Au, around 5.0 eV, which makes it an ideal electrode material. However, aqueous solution is usually involved during the film preparation, which is harmful to the stability of PVK material [191, 193, 194]. Thus, it is important to develop a suitable approach for the utilization of



PEDOT:PSS. Other studies have shown that polymer-based PSCs with good stability can be obtained through transfer-lamination techniques, detachable stacking PVK, and antireflection coating techniques, etc.

Rapid advances under intensive investigation toward the merits and drawbacks of electrodes have been highlighted and thoroughly understood (as shown in figure 22). However, before their commercialization can be realized, various challenges need to be addressed [199]. First, in terms of electrode materials, their synthesis methods are usually costly and convoluted, making it difficult for them to be controlled precisely after purification. Second, modifications of carbon or polymer materials are required to align electronic bands with PSCs, which is beneficial for the charge extraction [196]. It is possible to tune the work function by doping or mixing, and a variety of dopants have been investigated, but the unclear mechanism retards their commercial applications. Third, it is tough to prepare these materials on a large scale using a low-cost technique. The fabrication of TCO electrodes requires high-vacuum thermal evaporation or magnetron sputtering, which causes severe energy consumption [191, 198].

Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

The interface between the charge carrier transporting layer and the metal electrode plays an important role in obtaining highly efficient PSCs with good duration stability. To collect charge carriers from the electron transport layer (ETL) or HTL effectively, the energy gap between the work function of the electrode and the valence band maximum of the HTL or conduction band minimum level of the ETL should be reduced as much as possible [199]. Various materials have been integrated to tune the work function of the metal electrode, and consequently improve the interfacial charge transfer. Moreover, additional thin layers, such as



Weinheim.)

ZnO, MoO_x, LiF, and bathocuproine, could contribute to effective adjustment of the work function and the stability of the PSCs. It is possible to fabricate carbon materials using many cost-effective techniques, such as doctor blading, screen printing, roll-to-roll printing, inkjet printing, drop casting hot pressing, and press transferring [7, 196]. Practical applications of carbon electrodes have been successful under various environmental conditions, demonstrating satisfactory robustness [195, 196]. In terms of the electrodes in PSCs, it is preferable to consider energy level and stability before electrical conductivity and cost. In combination with their low cost, high performance, and excellent stability, carbon could be most likely to be commercialized in the future as long as the PCE can be further enhanced. Among the low-cost metals, Cu is the most promising candidate due to its superior electrical conductivity and excellent contact with different HTLs. In addition, more evaluations are needed to discover the advances of Ni, Mo, and W [197]. Semitransparent, transparent, and tandem devices with TCO, and conducting polymers like PEDOT are likely to perform well. The application of composite electrodes as alternatives toward the practical use of PVK-based PVs seems to be an option worth more exploration.

Concluding remarks

In recent years, understanding and knowledge have been accumulated on electrodes for PSCs, ranging from materials, processing techniques, and structure–property relationships, guaranteeing solid and advanced research and development of PSCs for diverse applications. Future efforts should be devoted to the exploration of facile, simple, and low-cost fabrication approaches, which allow the PVK materials to integrate, constructing a highly efficient and stable architecture. We look forward to increasing numbers of

outcomes to be achieved in the development of electrode materials that accelerate the commercialization of perovskite PVs.

Acknowledgments

Financial support from the National Natural Science Foundation of China (62004129; 22005202), and Shenzhen Science and Technology Innovation Commission (Project No. JCYJ20200109105003940) is gratefully acknowledged, and this work was also supported by a Post-Doctoral Foundation Project of Shenzhen Polytechnic 6021330007K.

18. Stability testing of PSCs

Masoud Karimipour¹, Fanny Baumann¹, Kenedy Tabah¹, Carlos Pereyra¹, Sonia R Raga¹, Haibing Xie² and Monica Lira-Cantu¹

¹ Catalan Institute of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology (ICN2), CSIC and the Barcelona Institute of Science and Technology (BIST), Building ICN2, Campus UAB, E-08193 Bellaterra, Barcelona, Spain
 ² Institute for Advanced Study, Shenzhen University, 3688 Nanhai Avenue, Shenzhen, Guangdong, People's Republic of China

Status

The different testing methods applied to assess the stability and lifetime of halide PSCs have evolved with time since the discovery of PSCs back in 2009. Due to the soft-material nature (materials with a soft ionic lattice) that characterize halide perovskites (HPs), these testing methods are different from those employed for inorganic solar cells. The term 'soft' indicates the presence of van der Waals interactions and hydrogen bonds, as shown in figure 23, which are ideal binding modes for materials that can be fabricated by solution processing, resulting in thin films with excellent bendability and mechanical malleability. However, the combination of weak bonds and mobile ions make HPs prone to ion migration, which is one of the main causes of hysteresis, defect formation, and phase separation, leading to device instability. Emerging PV technologies such as perovskite, organic, hybrid, dye-sensitized or quantum dot solar cells, observe differences in photo-response if compared to silicon or inorganic solar cells and, thus, distinct testing methods have been developed for PSCs. Back in 2011, the ISOS published the ISOS protocols, originally developed for organic solar cells (OPVs), in an effort to normalize the testing approaches employed to characterize the stability of OPVs by different laboratories around the world [200]. Given the singular behavior observed for HPs, the PV community decided to upgrade these ISOS protocols to incorporate specific characterization procedures for PSCs [45]. This effort resulted in the introduction of specific testing conditions, for example, the effect of bias voltage or light-dark cyclability [201], and the publication of the first technical report developed by the IEC (IEC TR 63228) [201]. The application of these protocols and the development of novel ones, are important steps toward the commercialization of PSC technology. Nevertheless, further advances are necessary to improve PSC lifetimes. It is imperative to mimic real operational conditions, which comprehend the application of many stress factors simultaneously. In real outdoor conditions, for example, devices and modules are subjected to coincident stress factors, such as light irradiation, temperature, intermittent light load and dose, as well as light/dark cycles.

Current and future challenges

A current challenge is the understanding of degradation mechanisms, which are still not completely clear. In situ testing and advanced characterization techniques should be employed to understand degradation mechanisms observed in devices emulating real operando conditions [202]. In situ characterization provides intermediate chemical and structural changes during operation under light illumination and heating. These changes are dynamic and can observe continuous transitions that are difficult to see under ex situ testing [203]. Changes that can be monitored *in situ* are related to material morphology, optoelectronic properties (carrier generation and recombination), or crystallinity and thus the most employed techniques are related to in situ SEM, TEM, and x-ray diffraction, among others. With respect to in situ optoelectronic characterization, analysis employing photoluminescence and time-resolved photoluminescence or electrochemical impedance spectroscopy are the most common tests. Advanced characterization techniques should include the coupling of these tests with temperature modulation, light irradiation, or relative humidity [203]. Moreover, performing a stability test at 65 °C–85 °C instead of at the classical 25 °C–45 °C would permit one to accelerate the degradation of the solar cells to make more accurate forecasts of long-term performance. Increasing the temperature of the testing by 10 °C accelerates reactions by a factor of 2.299 [203]. Increasing the irradiation dose to 5 suns instead of 1 will also accelerate degradation. Thus, stability testing for more than 1000 h at 65 °C-85 °C and 5 suns can give a lifetime estimate of 50 years approximately [204]. Determination of acceleration factors by these means is also one of the pending assignments for PSC technology.

The type of encapsulation or packaging of PSCs is a fundamental external issue affecting device lifetime. The adequate sealant must prevent the ingress of oxygen and moisture into the PSC layers to avoid material and device degradation but, most importantly, to prevent the solubility and leakage of toxic Pb-based perovskites. At the laboratory level, solar cell holders are usually employed to maintain the PSC under controlled conditions of atmosphere (N₂, Ar, or even Dry air), temperature, or moisture, with or without illumination. For outdoor testing, sealants, usually made of epoxy resins or special encapsulant materials for glass-to-glass encapsulation, are employed. Holders applying inert gases usually employ continuous gas flow,



Figure 23. Halide perovskites are 'soft' ionic-electronic materials with weak bonds and high ionic motion. They must be engineered to make them stable.



Figure 24. Shallow defect passivation dictates PSC stability. The use of the H3pp additive results in similar Voc (a), an indication of a similar non-radiative recombination (b), but excellent device stability (c). TAS analyses revealed the passivation of shallow defects (d) and (e). Reprinted from [205]. Copyright (2021), with permission from Elsevier.

which can eliminate any residue that is produced under stability testing. Epoxy glues, however, can release vapors during PSC testing that stay within the encapsulation and can react with the HP or any of the materials of the PSCs. Thus, these two testing methods result in completely different outcomes, and more detailed protocols are required to overcome these limitations. Recommendations for how to encapsulate, as well as different reviews on encapsulants, can be found in the literature [204].

54

Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

The density of defects in HPs dictates the efficiency and stability of solar cells. Until very recently, defects associated with deep trap states were the focus of in-depth research since they promote non-radiative recombination, limiting the photovoltage in detrimental of good PCE. Shallow defects, in contrast, have not been strongly considered since these are perceived as benign for classical semiconductors. However, HPs are not classic semiconductors but mixed ionic-electronic conductors and the existence of shallow defects can have significant repercussions on the long-term stability of PSCs [205]. In HPs the metastability of the ubiquitous formamidinium lead triiodide (FAPbI3) PVK and the migration of charged point defects provokes ion migration, phase separation, and hysteresis that are the main causes of material and device instability [206]. Shallow defects can be formed at very early stages of the device and thin-film fabrication and should be carefully controlled (figure 24). Their presence can be observed at the bulk of the HP [205] or at the interfaces and surfaces [207] and can be the result of off-stoichiometric conditions during film formation [207] or due to strain [208]. Recent reports show the possibility for self-annihilation of charge-trapping ionic vacancies and interstitials upon illumination and/or biasing. More recent reports employ organic additives, which can passivate shallow point defects and immobilize ions, resulting in PSCs with null efficiency loss after operational response under constant light illumination of 1 sun [205]. Thus, additive engineering can be employed to enhance solar cell efficiency; however, it is even more important, once highly efficient devices are fabricated, to analyze the passivation of shallow defect traps, which will result in ion immobilization and enhance the device lifetime.

Concluding remarks

Numerous efforts have been made to overcome the instability issues of PSCs materials and devices. Protocols and technical reports are now in place to guide the researcher and industry on how to carry out stability testing of PSCs. Misinterpretation observed with *ex situ* characterization techniques can be circumvented with the application of *in situ* and advanced characterization methodologies. However, there is still the need to develop testing methodologies resembling real *in-operando* conditions, especially those which can accelerate the degradation of the PSCs, as well as the use of acceleration factors. Accelerated tests under higher temperatures (56 °C–85 °C) and light irradiation doses above 1 sun can permit the calculation of a more real estimate of the lifetime of PSCs. From a materials point of view, special attention should be paid to degradation factors, such as ion migration and the possibility to eliminate this issue via the modification of materials. Different methods are being applied to immobilize ions. Additive engineering has been demonstrated to be an effective method to passivate deep and shallow point defects. More in-depth studies should be carried out to better understand the relation between the type of defect and device's stability and efficiency. To date, studies have demonstrated that passivation of deep defects improves the device's voltage and efficiency, and the passivation of shallow defects is more related to ion immobilization and the device lifetime.

Acknowledgments

We thank 'La Caixa' for the Jr leader grant awarded to S R. Thanks go to the Spanish State Research Agency for the grant Self-Power (PID2019-104272RB-C54/AEI/10.13039/501100011033) and the OrgEnergy Excelence Network (CTQ2016-81911- REDT), and to the Agè ncia de Gestio' d'Ajuts Universitaris i de Recerca (AGAUR) for the support to the consolidated Catalonia research group 2017 SGR 329 and the Xarxa d'R + D + I Energy for Society (XRE4S). Part of this work is under a Materials Science PhD. Degree for A M and P T and the Chemistry PhD programme for C P of the Universitat Autonoma de Barcelona (UAB, Spain). We thank CONACYT for the scholarship to C P. We acknowledge Libertad Sole and also the Clean-Room from IMB-CNM for the FIB process. ICN2 is supported by the Severo Ochoa program from Spanish MINECO (Grant No. SEV-2017-0706) and is funded by the CERCA Programme/Generalitat de Catalunya.

19. Outdoor testing of PSCs

Mark V Khenkin¹, Iris Visoly-Fisher² and Eugene A Katz²

 ¹ PVcomB, Helmholtz-Zentrum Berlin für Materialien und Energie GmbH, 12 489 Berlin, Germany
 ² Swiss Institute for Dryland Environmental and Energy Research, The Jacob Blaustein Institutes for Desert Research, Ben-Gurion University of the Negev, Midreshet Ben-Gurion, Israel

Status

PSCs are commonly expected to be utilized in terrestrial outdoor applications, i.e. in solar power plants or on rooftops. The outdoor environment presents a harsh combination of stress factors that is virtually impossible to reproduce in the laboratory due to its constantly changing nature. This highlights the importance of studying emerging PV technologies in the outdoor environment, but the same complexity makes it very rare, to date. It has been shown that maximum power point (MPP) tracking is necessary for realistic PSC lifetime estimation, and appropriate device encapsulation is required to negate the external degradation by humidity and oxygen, further limiting the application of outdoor testing. Currently available outdoor data are therefore scarce and often not of the best quality (limited statistics, devices kept at open circuit in most cases). However, a few pioneering works demonstrated the feasibility of good practices in outdoor experiments that will be discussed in this section (figure 25) [144, 209–212]. Recently, several teams have shown encapsulated PSCs that passed the IEC damp-heat tests (>1000 h under 85 °C and 85% relative humidity (RH) [27, 213], and this was shown to be sufficient to achieve over a year of outdoor lifetime if matched with good material photo-stability [211]. Long-term outdoor research is therefore expected to become more widespread in the near future.

Current and future challenges

Outdoor data are required to address two key questions of vital importance for PSC technology maturation: (1) the detailed impact of weather parameters on the device power output, and (2) PSC outdoor stability. Answers to both questions are convoluted and determine the instantaneous efficiency at a given point of time, making it difficult to separate stability data from performance variations. This issue is challenging in PSCs due to the presence of transient processes at the timescale of several illumination hours (figure 25(a)) [209] or several hundred hours (where seasonal changes occur, figures 25(c) and (d)), see below.

The impact of weather parameters includes sunlight intensity, module temperature, sunlight spectrum, and angle of incidence. The first two factors typically have the largest contribution and can be evaluated using performance matrix measurements, i.e. indoor measurements of J-V curves under different combinations of temperature and light intensity. From such measurements, the temperature coefficient (TC) can be calculated, indicating the dependence of the output power on the device temperature, which is one of the most important factors that determines PV energy yield. However, TCs obtained from outdoor experiments can considerably differ from those implied from indoor measurements (and even have positive values [214]), possibly indicating significant artefacts. The solar spectrum has a limited and predictable impact on single-junction PSCs; however, in PVK-based two-terminal tandem devices, spectrum variation can lead to current mismatch between the sub-cells, resulting in significant losses. Interestingly, in practice, temperature-induced bandgap changes and spectral variations during the day in outdoor conditions may limit this effect [215]. The angle of incidence is likely to have a minor effect on the energy yield, which is confirmed experimentally, at least in the case of a thick enough PVK layer [216].

Long-term stability is a challenge for the development of PSCs, and degradation of the active PVK layer under the influence of light, heat, electric bias, and ambient oxygen and humidity has been demonstrated. Illumination enhances defect formation and ion migration, as well as phase segregation and PVK decomposition in the active PVK layer, resulting in both reversible and irreversible degradation mechanisms. Reversible degradation processes lead to significant performance variations during a day–night cycle, with various trends: degradation during the day/restoration at night; or efficiency increase during the day/degradation at night (figure 25(a)). In some studies these opposite trends were observed for the same devices at various aging stages [209]. This makes the quantitative assessment of PSC performance and stability significantly challenging. We have previously suggested the use of the daily energy output and the time needed to reach its 20% drop as alternative figures of merit for the outdoor performance and stability of PSCs [209].

Our recommendations to meet the challenges

Electrical bias applied to the cells is known to have a significant effect on the PSC degradation rate and on the dominant degradation mechanisms [217]. Therefore, we recommend performing long-term outdoor studies of PSC stability at the device's MPP with continuous MPP tracking. The tracking losses should be considered





and studied, including those associated with current–voltage hysteresis: static losses due to the perturbations introduced by the tracking algorithm, and dynamic ones due to the slow response to changes in the environmental conditions.

Outdoor data should be considered with respect to the time and geographical location they were obtained at. Significant conclusions can be drawn when data cross multiple seasons (figures 25(c) and (d)) and different climatic conditions are available and compared. At the moment such data are extremely rare (figure 25(e)) and no conclusions were drawn on the peculiarities of PSC operation and stability with respect to particular climates. It is therefore advised to apply outdoor testing to a large number of devices and test locations, and to correlate the data with respect to the weather parameters noted above.

The comparison of outdoor data with modeled data was shown to be suitable to track the diurnal device degradation (figure 25(b)) [210]. Comparison of outdoor data to the results of such modeling, using performance matrix measurements and weather data, can provide an understanding of both the reversible and irreversible parts of degradation [218]. It is important to note that reversible processes are also relevant for PVK-based tandems (figure 25(c)) [144].

Concluding remarks

Real-world data are the most convincing proof of the technology's readiness to enter the market. Therefore, we expect a rapid rise in the number of reports of PSCs' outdoor behavior in the coming years, including round-robin multiple-climate experiments. Such works will not only foster the understanding of PSCs' instabilities, but will also lay the foundation for the correlation of the outdoor lifetime with the indoor accelerated stress tests, and ultimately help to develop technology-specific qualification tests for PVK-based modules.

20. Environmental impact of PSCs: life-cycle analysis

Yana Vaynzof

Chair for Emerging Electronic Technologies, Technische Universität Dresden, Nöthnitzer Str. 61, 01187 Dresden, Germany

Leibniz-Institute for Solid State and Materials Research Dresden, Helmholtzstraße 20, 01069 Dresden, Germany

Status

Life-cycle assessment (LCA) is a holistic methodology that allows one to evaluate the environmental, ecological, and economic costs of the fabrication, use, and disposal of a product. Within the context of a PV module, the LCA must account for the mining of raw materials, their purification, the synthesis of new materials, manufacturing, and operation, as well as the end-of-life recycling or disposal of the module's components [10]. Performing an LCA for a novel technology such as PVK PVs is complicated by the lack of data, for example, regarding the lifetime of the device, its optimal architecture, and costs of fabrication on a large scale. Despite these limitations, several LCAs have already been performed to gauge the economic and environmental viability of PVK PVs. These include not only single-junction PSCs, but also several types of tandem devices, such as Si/PVK or PVK/PVK [219–221]. Regardless of architecture, all PVK PV devices contain a substrate and a top metal electrode. These components are generally considered to be major contributors to both the embedded material and energy costs within the module. Glass—very commonly used as the solar cell's substrate—constitutes over 95% of the weight of the module, while rare metals such as Au or Ag (used as the top metal electrode) can account for up to 85% of the total embedded energy [222]. Future advances in replacing these materials with other alternatives would significantly reduce the primary energy consumption as well as other types of impacts.

Considering that PVK materials can be deposited either by solution- or by vapor-processing [64], several LCAs focused on comparing the impacts of both deposition methods [223, 224]. It was found that generally both approaches lead to a similar impact, despite important differences in individual categories: solution processing led to higher impacts in acidification and eutrophication, and human and water toxicity due to the extensive use of solvents, while deposition using the vapor method led to higher electrical energy consumption for the deposition under vacuum. Since these studies were predominantly based on data for small-area devices, significantly more technological advances in upscaling of PVK layer fabrication are required to be able to truly assess which deposition method is preferable.

Current and future challenges

One of the key difficulties in performing an LCA of PVK PVs is the lack of reliable data to be used for analysis, resulting in the necessity to incorporate various assumptions into the evaluation. Two recent reviews examining the existing literature of PSC LCAs highlight this issue. For example, Leccisi and co-workers found that the reported primary energy consumption varied by over three orders of magnitude for similar PVK compositions and deposition methods [226]. Similarly, a recent review by Vidal and colleagues reported that, unlike other thin-film technologies (e.g. a:Si, CdTe, and CIGS), the spread in the reported global warming potential (GWP), cumulative energy demand (CED), and the estimated energy payback time (EPBT) vary greatly between different reports on PVK single junctions as well as tandem solar cells (figure 26), making a meaningful comparison to other technologies very speculative [225].

Both reviews conclude that the assumptions made regarding the upscaling of PVK modules from laboratory-scale to industrial scale are the key source for the discrepancies observed in the different LCAs. Interestingly, the only available LCA performed at an industrial scale led to very promising results with a CED of 3613 MJkWp⁻¹ and a short EPBT of only 0.28 years [227]. This highlights that the key challenge to be addressed within the context of the LCA of PVK PVs is in the optimization of the large-scale deposition processes for the PVK active layers. Indeed, the ideality coefficient (IC)—defined as the % ratio of the environmental impact of an ideal process to the existing one—is estimated to be <0.1% for the deposition of PVK layers.

Another challenge that requires attention is the use of certain materials in the PVK device structure that introduce significant material, energy, and environmental costs. For example, the very commonly used hole transporting layer (HTL) Spiro-OMeTAD introduces significant environmental costs due to its complex synthesis, purification, and the common use of dopants to enhance its conductivity [223, 224]. This can be addressed by using a more environmentally friendly HTL material or by exploring HTL-free device architectures. Similarly, commonly used electron transporting layers, such as metal oxides or organic materials, are also associated with high costs and need to be optimized [222], not only in terms of their impact on device performance and stability, but also in terms of their impact on the LCA of PVK PVs. Finally,



as already mentioned above, the use of rare metals as electrode materials in PSCs is highly disadvantageous. Some LCAs suggest that the use of Au electrodes represents am 85% of the total embedded energy [222] and that its replacement would reduce many of the environmental impact categories by up to 90% [228].

Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

To address the challenges outlined above, the focus of the PVK PV community should shift from predominantly optimizing the device power conversion efficiency toward the development of more sustainable large-scale device architectures. In particular, while spin coating is utilized by the vast majority of PVK researchers due to its simplicity and wide-scale availability [64], it is highly unlikely to be scalable, considering that roughly 90% of the material is wasted in this process. This exemplifies that significantly more research has to be dedicated to scalable deposition methods, including, for example, thermal evaporation or blade coating. Within this context, lessons could be learned from other emerging PV technologies, which have already undergone the transition to the market. For example, similarly to PVK PVs, the vast majority of academic research in the field of organic solar cells is dedicated to devices fabricated using solution processing, but among the most successful examples of industrial application of organic solar cells are devices fabricated using thermal evaporation (e.g. Heliatek, Germany). Significantly more research and new comparative LCAs that evaluate the impacts of both deposition techniques on an industrial scale are needed to identify if this will also be the case for PVK PVs.

The advancements in the development of scalable deposition techniques for PVK active layers have to be complemented by further optimization of the other layers in the device structure, such as charge transport layers and electrodes. Importantly, their development cannot be achieved independently, since the properties of PVK materials can be strongly impacted by the choice of extraction layer on top of which the PVK active layer is deposited. This suggests that once novel, particularly promising, and environmentally friendly charge extraction layer materials are identified, the focus of scalable PVK processing optimization should lie specifically on the use of these materials. In the case of metal electrodes, a particularly promising strategy is their replacement with carbon-based electrodes. While these electrodes can be deposited at low temperature and are significantly less costly than those made from rare metals, the efficiency of PSCs with such electrodes is rather moderate, and significantly more research is required to demonstrate that state-of-the-art high-efficiency devices can be fabricated using carbon-based electrodes.

Concluding remarks

In summary, several challenges are yet to be addressed within the context of LCAs of PVK PVs. On the methodological side, the lack of data and the need for certain assumptions make PSC LCAs very difficult to compare, since widely varying results are often reported for very similar devices. This can be addressed by further advancing the scalable deposition processes for PSCs, which would enable the use of reliable costs associated with this process in the LCAs. Moreover, new materials, in particular for charge extraction layers and electrodes, need to be identified and investigated, since these are often recognized to be major contributors to environmental costs. Despite these challenges, certain LCAs suggest that PVK PVs are highly competitive with respect to other technologies, including the long-established silicon solar cells. These suggest that with further advancements, this technology has a strong potential to enter the market as an efficient and more sustainable alternative.

Acknowledgments

Y V thanks the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG) for financial support within the framework of SPP 2196 Perovskite semiconductors: From fundamental properties to devices (Project <PERFECT PVs>, VA 991/3-1 and DE 830/22-1).

21. Environmental impact of PSCs: use of green solvents

Rosario Vidal

Department of Mechanical Engineering and Construction, GID, Universitat Jaume I, Castelló, Spain

Status

The deposition of the PVK layer by solution is a strength for the expansion of this technology due to its potential low cost and lower environmental impacts, as it requires less energy consumption. However, the toxicity to human health and the environmental impacts of solvents are important aspects that deserve attention.

N,N-dimethylformamide (DMF), the most widespread solvent used for the deposition of the PVK layer, is included in the Candidate List of substances of very high concern (SVHC), as part of Regulation by the European Chemical Agency (ECHA). The objective of this authorization process is to ensure that less hazardous substances or technologies, which are technically and economically feasible, progressively replace SVHCs. Moreover, DMF and other polar aprotic solvents used for PVK deposition, such as N,N-dimethylacetamide (DMAC) and N-methyl-2-pyrrolidone (NMP) are toxic to the human reproductive system. Other more favorable solvents, such as gamma-butyrolactone (GBL), acetonitrile, 1,3-dimethyl-3,4,5,6-tetrahydropyrimidin-2(1H)-one (DMPU), and tetrahydrofuran (THF) are labeled 'dangerous'. In addition, DMPU is labeled potentially toxic, THF as potentially carcinogenic, and DMSO is not classified. Other solvents used as antisolvents or for the deposition of other layers, e.g. toluene, diethyl ether, 2-methoxyethanol, etc, may also be of concern, although they are outside the scope of this section.

The greenest solvent is the solvent that is not used [229]. Since this is not possible, efforts are needed to minimize their environmental footprint. This includes both minimizing the amount and minimizing the impacts across the life cycle (life-cycle assessment (LCA)). Potential green alternatives include solvent mixtures of the above polar aprotic solvents, but also other possible formulations, such as PolarClean, methylamine + acetonitrile, γ -valerolactone, and 1,3-dimethylimidazolidin-2-one (DMI). However, before large-scale industrialization of PVK, a comprehensive LCA, including use, recycling, and solvent disposal, is still needed.

Current and future challenges

Hamill *et al* [230] demonstrated the Gutmann's donor number (DN) [231] as a viable parameter to indicate the coordinating ability of a solvent with the Pb^{2+} center of PVKs. Different alternatives to toxic polar aprotic solvents are screened, either pure or mixtures, based on the DN or related, such as the Mayer bond unsaturation order and Kamlet parameters, in conjunction with properties such as vapor pressure, boiling point, lower explosive limit (LEL), molecular size or Hansen solubility. However, there is still much room for improvement to fully understand the role of solvents as ligands, retarding the reaction rate, controlling the nuclei/growth, and coarsening grains for preparing high-quality PVK film. A thorough understanding of the multiplicity of roles during PVK film formation will help to understand the mechanism of PVK film formation [232] and will open the door to the selection of green solvents. This challenge is the core of figure 27.

For PVK PVs circularity, a proper end of life is essential to avoid the lead leachates and to recover valuable components, such as the substrate and the electrodes. DMF is the solvent most used for the removal of the substrate. Other solvents are alkylamines, chlorobenzene chloride, and ethylene glycol (DES), etc. The same solvent used to separate the substrate often dissolves the PVK layer. In other cases, polar aprotic solvents, mainly DMF, are used. However, in this case it is easier to select green solvents, focusing mainly on solubility, boiling point, and LEL.

Whether for the deposition of PVK or for the recycling of modules, it is essential to consider the LCA of the solvent, i.e. its manufacture from raw materials, the application of the solvent, and its recycling or safe disposal, avoiding evaporation or wastewater once applied. Updating and extending our knowledge of their environmental impacts is another challenge, second ring of figure 27. New or updated toxicity characterization factors for solvents and for PVK precursors are essential to properly perform LCAs. For this purpose, fate and exposure models based on available toxicity data from ECHA, U.S. EPA, etc could be applied.

Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

A starting point of how to accomplish an LCA of solvents was recently tested for eight polar aprotic solvents: DMF, DMSO, DMAC, NMP, DMI, GBL, THF, and DMPU [233]. The environmental impacts affecting human health are plotted in figure 28, comprising the full life cycle of the solvents. The human health environmental impacts include human toxicity, global warming, particulate matter, and other impacts





(stratospheric ozone depletion, ionizing radiations, ozone formation, and water consumption). Clearly, the circular scenario (C), in which the solvent is recycled, is more advantageous than the linear scenario (L), in which the solvent evaporates after film deposition. The only exception is THF.

Human toxicity characterization factors are obtained by applying fate and exposure models with available data published in the ECHA, with which USEtox [234], the best available model for characterizing human health toxicity of chemicals, is modified. As a result, DMF is the solvent with the largest human toxicity characterization factor followed by DMAC (coincidently, both are SVHC). However, when considering the entire life cycle, the most impactful is NMP, both for human toxicity and total environmental impacts affecting human health, because manufacturing is energy-intensive.

Figure 28 highlights the comparatively lower human environmental impacts of DMSO during the full life cycle, which is in good agreement with recommendations in other sectors, although DMSO does present its own challenges.

This work [233] should be considered a roadmap to further develop less harmful solvent systems. Recently, new strategies to tune the interactions between the solvate and the solute, to optimize the nucleation and crystallization dynamics during the film formation, are proposed, for example, mixing PbS quantum dots into the PVK solution in pure DMSO [235]. Also noteworthy are the promising results of DMSO/2-butoxyethanol [236] and acetonitrile/methylamine [237] in roll-to-roll processes.

Concluding remarks

Future work in the field of PVK PV should take into consideration the possible environmental impact of the solvents used to become a viable alternative 'green' energy technology. A thorough understanding of the multiplicity of roles during PVK film formation will help to understand the mechanism of PVK film formation and will open the door to the selection of green solvents. In addition, we need to update and extend our knowledge of the environmental impacts of solvents. A starting point of how to accomplish a comprehensive assessment of the solvents was recently tested for eight polar aprotic solvents used for PVK layer deposition. Among these, DMSO promises low environmental impacts on a large scale but must be optimized to achieve suitable performance parameters, such as power conversion efficiency and module stability.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the Ministry of Science and Innovation of Spain, reference PRX19/00378 and under Project STABLE PID2019-107314RB-I00 and by Generalitat Valenciana (Spain) under Project Q-Devices PROMETEO/2018/098. The author gratefully acknowledges the support of Joseph M Luther and his team at NREL.

22. Environmental impact of PSCs—lead-containing vs lead-free

Guicheng Yu, Haoran Lin and Shuchen Weng

Hoffmann Institute of Advanced Materials, Shenzhen Polytechnic, Nanshan District, Shenzhen 518000, People's Republic of China

Lead-free and lead-less PVK materials for solar cells

Isovalent element substitution strategy

In principle, other less toxic, environmentally benign metals can replace lead. Tin and germanium are the intensively investigated alternatives because they share similar chemical properties with lead as group VI elements. Krishnamoorthy and his colleague firstly reported germanium-based AGeI₃ (A = Cs, MA) PSCs in 2015 with a power conversion efficiency (PCE) of 0.2% [238]. Pure inorganic tin halide PSCs, CsSnX₃ (X = Cl, Br, I), were proposed by Chen *et al* with a PCE of 12.96% and impressive water stability [239]. Although Ge/Sn or mixed-elements-based solar cells developed rapidly, their PCEs are generally still below 10%, far behind that of the Pb-based analogs [240, 241]. Also, the rapid oxidation of Sn and Ge from +2 to +4 determined by their high-energy s orbitals questions their long-term stability in practical devices. Meanwhile, the bandgaps of Sn/Ge-based PVKs are usually higher than the ideal bandgap for single-junction solar cells (1.34 eV). Moreover, Sn and Ge-based PVKs possess lower enthalpy, lower defect formation energy, leading toward faster film growth, poor film morphology, and therefore more defect formation and high carrier recombination [242]. The poor film morphology results in a reduction in the fill factor (FF) of the PSCs, which ultimately gives rise to an underperforming PCE. Lastly, with eco-friendly element compositions, chalcogenide PVK-based solar cells are promising candidates with their high resistance to water and temperature [243]. In 2016, BaZr_{0.75}Ti_{0.25}S₃, reported by Meng and his teams, had a bandgap of 1.43 eV that almost reached the Shockley–Queisser limit [244]. Recently, Wei et al fabricated n-type BaZrS₃ thin films via plasma laser deposition. And these films are great light absorbers with an absorption coefficient $> 10^5$ cm⁻¹ under 2 eV photon test conditions [245]. Although chalcogenide PVKs were predicted to have amazing theoretical PCEs for single-junction solar cells, few satisfying devices were reported due to the lack of valid film processing methods.

Heterovalent elements substitution strategy

Double PVK, another lead-free derivative with a chemical formula of A₂M(I)M(III)X₆, has monovalent M⁺ and trivalent M³⁺ ions alternatively replacing lead in the PVK structure. The vacancy-ordered double PVKs $A_2 \Box M(IV) X_6$ and $A_3 \Box M_2(III) X_9$ (\Box stands for vacancy) with reduced-dimensional structures are also sometimes regarded as heterovalent derivatives of conventional lead-based PVKs. Practical double PSCs were first prepared by Greul et al in 2017, which unveiled reasonable degradation resistance and exhibited a PCE of 2.43% [246]. Considering the structural versatility of double PVKs, researchers evaluated their light-absorbing properties using theoretical calculations and found that several double PVKs, such as Cs₂AgInBr₆, RbCuInCl₆, and Cs₂InSbCl₆, have direct bandgap and high theoretical maximum PCEs for solar cell applications [247]. Laboratory-scale double PSC devices to date have mainly focused on Cs₂AgBiBr₆ and $Cs_2AgInCl_6$ material systems due to their good processability and stability [248]. Vacancy-ordered double PSCs have also been developed using Cs₂SnI₆, Cs₂TiI₆, Cs₃Bi₂I₉, MA₃Bi₂I₉, and MA₃Sb₂I₉ materials [249]. Nevertheless, none of these devices has a PCE exceeding 4%, which is not attractive for single-junction solar cell applications at this point. The poor PV performance of these double PVKs could be attributed to their indirect bandgap and the parity-forbidden transition effect, which result in poor optical absorption. In most of these materials, intrinsic defects would introduce deep levels in the bandgap, which is another factor accounting for their inferior performance [250]. Significant efforts have to be made in band structure manipulation, defect suppression, and transporting layer optimization before the potential breakthrough may occur.

Lead-less strategy

Lead-free PSCs solved the toxicity issues of lead at the cost of their PV performance, hence the commercialization opportunity was hindered. One possible solution was to find a balance between toxicity and efficiency by lowering lead usage in PSCs via Sn/Ge substitution [251]. This strategy has several advantages: first and foremost, reduced lead content would reduce toxicity to meet the strict environmental standard. Secondly, doped Sn/Ge can be stabilized in its bivalent state, improving the device stability under ambient conditions. Thirdly, the bandgap of PSCs can be readily tuned to the optimized value for solar cells (1.34 eV) by alternating the lead content. Table 3 summarizes some of the less-lead PSCs in the past ten years.

Table 3. Photovoltaic parameters of less-lead PVK solar cells.

	Pb content	V _{OC}	J _{SC}	FF	PCE	
Perovskites	(%)	(V)	$(mA cm^{-2})$	(%)	(%)	Year
CsPb _{0.9} Sn _{0.1} IBr ₂	90	1.26	14.3	63	11.33	2017
$MAPb_{0.75}Sn_{0.25}I3 + 0.05 \text{ mg ml}^{-1} C_{60}$	75	0.736	23.5	79	13.7	2017
$FA_{0.7}MA_{0.3}Pb_{0.7}Sn_{0.3}I_3 + 12\%GABr + 0.03 \text{ mmol } SnF_2$	70	1.02	26.61	76	20.63	2020
$FAPb_{0.5}Sn_{0.5}I_3 + 10 \text{ mol}\% \text{ Sn}F_2$	50	0.782	28.1	73	16.27	2018
$(FASnI_3)_{0.6}(MAPbI_3)_{0.34}(MAPbBr_3)_{0.06} + 10 \text{ mol}\% \text{ SnF}_2$	40	0.888	28.72	74.6	19.03	2018
CsSnI ₃	0	0.86	23.2	65	12.96	2016

As shown, the percentage of lead content gradually decreases, while the PV parameters remained close to pure-lead PSCs [252].

Toxicity

Lead compounds are undoubtedly toxic, and the toxicology of lead has been well established. Lead enters the bloodstream through ingestion, inhalation, or dermal contact. Even a small concentration of lead in the blood is accused of reproductive toxicity, neurotoxicity, and carcinogenicity and is harmful to blood pressure, renal function, the immune system, and so on [253]. For PSCs, in the case of device failure, water systems are the most vulnerable to lead toxicity when compared with the soil system.

Tin toxicology is more complex and not understood thoroughly. There is some evidence showing that tin could be inhaled and accumulate in blood and skeletal sites, causing genotoxicity, carcinogenicity, and reproductive defects [254]. When tin is released to the environment, its toxicity may decrease instead due to its oxidation to the insoluble SnO_2 compound. In contrast, germanium is believed to have low or no toxicity to humans. Therefore, it is widely used in pharmaceuticals, cosmetics, semiconductors, and nanotechnology. Nevertheless, recent studies suggest organic germanium may have a negative impact on human health and environmental systems to some extent [255].

Within the elements utilized in the double PSCs, silver is considered as nontoxic to human beings in that tableware has been made from silver since ancient times. The toxicity of bismuth is controversial. First, bismuth is classified as a nontoxic heavy metal that can be entirely metabolized from the body within a satisfactory time. Therefore, Bi (III) compounds have been used in the medical field for many centuries. Second, some research suggests that bismuth may induce slight cytotoxicity in kidney and chronic diseases [256]. It would be safer to further investigate the toxicity of bismuth before a firm conclusion is drawn. For antimony compounds, inhalation exposures could cause respiratory irritation, pneumoconiosis, antimony spots on the skin, and gastrointestinal symptoms [257]. Toxicity of indium led to indium-related lung disease when inhaled by humans [258]. It should be handled with caution based on the fact that some semiconductors, such as indium tin oxide (ITO) and InP are widely used in optoelectronic devices. Copper is also known to have neurotoxicity and aquatic toxicity despite its excessive usage in different forms [259]. Titanium is considered as a bio-inert material that is commonly used for implants but, in rare cases, health issues have also been reported [260].

In summary, most of these elements designed to substitute lead are toxic to some extent. Even the elements regarded as 'bio- and environmentally safe' (Ge, Bi, Ti) have also received negative reports in some cases and require further investigation. Although we have good intentions to eliminate the negative environmental impact of lead, whether the newly introduced substituents are capable remains questionable in the aspect of toxicity.

Cost and environmental assessment of lead-free PSCs

Abundance

Mineral paragenesis is common in nature. Lead, in the form of galena (PbS) or the cerussite (PbCO₃), usually coexists with zinc ores. Bismuthinite (Bi_2S_3) and silver ores are prone to coexist with metallic mines such as lead or zinc ones. Some of these ores are relatively easier to purify with valuable by-products. However, cassiterite (SnO_2) as one of the major ores of tin, is always found together with arsenic mines. The hazardous arsenic by-products may cause severe problems to the environment and human health near the minefield. Also, mineral paragenesis means the production of the low-content elements in ores is subject to the production capacity of the high-content product.



Despite the paragenesis, germanium and antimony, which belong to the 'disperse elements', have high abundance and scattering distribution. Specifically, more energy and water are required for the concentration and extraction processes of these metallic products.

Figure 29 shows that the ensured reserve of minerals follows the trend of Pb > Sn > Sb > Ag in 2011–2016 and 2020 in mainland China. For the elements (Bi, In, Ge) not listed in the figure, they have even lower annual production than silver (<20 000 tons per year). A low abundance or high degree of dispersion of an element usually results in a high energy refinement process, high production costs, and high environmental impact potential.

Cost of production

Since lead-free PSC technology is far from mature, only several reports of tin-based solar cells have gone through life-cycle assessment (LCA). Table 4 demonstrates and compares the LCA parameters of some of the lead-based and tin-based PSCs from the previous studies. According to the LCA results, the masses of these raw materials to produce 1 kWh electricity for the module can be calculated and are listed in the table and graphed in figure 30.

Generally, when the PSCs are still at the laboratory scale, the fabrication cost comparison between lead-based and lead-free PSCs can be simplified as the comparison between the cost of raw materials, with the premise that the fabrication process is similar for both devices. The prices of high-purity PbX_2 (X = I, Cl, Br) and SnX_2 (X = I, Br) are collected from the reagent suppliers (Aladdin, Sigma-Aldrich, and Alfa Aesar, table 5), and the average prices are used to calculate the production cost of raw materials at laboratory-scale, demonstrated as the black rhombus marks in figure 30.

From figure 30, the mass inventory of lead used in lead-based PSCs is under 2.5×10^{-4} kg kWh⁻¹, while those for tin-based PSCs can be above 6×10^{-4} kg kWh⁻¹ at maximum. Since the tin-based PSCs have higher raw material prices and lower module efficiency (table 5) compared with the lead-based PSCs, their fabrication cost increment brought by raw materials can be a maximum of three magnitudes higher when producing 1 kWh electricity.

Global warming potential and energy payback time (EPBT)

The GWP of the PSCs can be quantified by the mass of equivalent CO_2 per kWh electricity production. We plot the GWP of different PSCs with and without lead in figure 31. Lead-based PSCs have a GWP from 0.06 to 6.78 kg CO_{2-eq} ./kWh; the lead-free counterparts with $SnI_2/SnBr_2$ or pure SnI_2 as raw materials, however, have relatively higher GWPs of 6.75 and 10.70 kg CO_{2-eq} ./kWh, respectively.

			Table 4. Comparison of lead-base	ed PSCs and tin	-based PSCs frc	om the rece	nt studies.					
Metal	LCA study	Material	PSC structure	Pb/Sn Inventory ^d (kg kWh ⁻¹)	Correspor compound cost (¥ kV	ıding İs and Vh ⁻¹)	GWP ^{a,d} (kg CO _{2-eq} kWh ⁻¹)	EPBT/year	Efficient area (%)	Module convers. efficiency (%)	PR ^a I	T ^a /year
Pb	Ramamurthy Rao	NP^{a}	FTO/TiO2/perovskite/S-OMeTAD/Au	1.24E-04	PbBr2/PbI2	46.58	$0.18\substack{+0.17\\-0.08}$	$0.97\substack{+0.78\\-0.41}$	NP	17.6	0.85 ^b	3
Ъb	Zhang <i>et al</i> [228]	MAPbI ₃ FAPbI ₃	FTO/TiO ₂ /perovskite/S-OMeTAD/Au FTO/TiO ₂ /perovskite/S-OMeTAD/Au	2.04E-04 2.16E-04	PbI ₂ PbI ₂	76.59 75.93	2.63 3.18	0.9-3.5 0.9-3.5	60 60	20 ^c 20 ^c	0.75 0.75	
		CsPbBr ₃	FTO/TiO2/perovskite/S-OMeTAD/Au	2.03E-04	$PbBr_2$	76.48	6.78	0.9–3.5	60	20 ^c	0.75	- 1
Pb	Celik <i>et al</i> [224]	MAPb1 ₂ Cl MAPb1 ₃	F10/TiO2/perovskite/S-OMéTAD/Au FTO/SnO2/perovskite (SC ^a)/CuSCN/MoO _x /Al	9.06E-05 1.74E-06	PbCl ₂ PbI ₂	9.17 0.65	3.56 0.15	0.9-3.5 1.30^{c}	60 65	20 ⁵ 15	0.75 0.75	5 I
		MAPb1 ₃	FTO/SnO ₂ /perovskite (VD ^a)/CuSCN/MoOx/Al	2.16E-06	PbI_2	0.81	0.18	1.55 ^c	65	15	0.75	5
i		MAPb1 ₃	FTO/SnO2/perovskite (HTL free)/c-paste	1.74E-06	PbI_2	0.65	0.12	1.05 ^c	65	15	0.75	5
Ъb	Gong <i>et al</i> [222]	MAPb1 ₃	FTO/TiO ₂ /perovskite/S-OMeTAD/Au	1.75E-06	PbI_2	0.66	0.08	0.27 ± 0.0542	70	9.1	0.8	5
7		MAPbI ₃	ITO/ZnO/perovskite/S-OMeTAD/Ag	1.45E-06	PbI_2	0.54	0.06	0.20 ± 0.0392	70		0.8	5 -
Ъb	Espinosa <i>et al</i>	MAPb1 ₃	FTO/TiO2/perovskite/S-MeOTAD/Ag	5.23E-06	PbCl ₂	0.53	5.48	17.32	dN ;	15.4	0.8 î î	_ ,
	[223]	MAPb1 ₃	ITO/PEDOT: PSS/perovskite/PCBM/AI	9.07E-06	$PbCl_2$	0.92	5.24	16.54	NP	11.5	0.8	-
Sn	Zhang et al [228]	MASnI _{3-X} Br _x	FTO/TiO2/perovskite/S-OMeTAD/Au	4.09E-04	$SnI_2/SnBr_2$	335.00^{e}	6.75	0.9 - 3.5	60	50	0.75	-
Sn	Serrano-Lujan et al [264]	MASnI ₃	FTO/TiO ₂ /perovskite + TiO ₂ /S-MeOTAD/Au	6.11E-04	SnI_2	572.48	10.70	NP	NP	6.4	0.8	-
^a Abbre ^b 0.75 ii ^c Not gi ^d Some differer	viations for table 3: GV s used in Southern Eur- iven by the author, reca researchers, including nce between lead-based	WP: global warmin ope and 0.95 is us ulculated accordiny Zhang, Celik, Goi and lead-free PV1	ng potential (kg CO_{2-eq}/KWh); PR: performance ratio; LT: ed in the US. The average of the two is chosen. g to Celi <i>te et al</i> [224], Serrano-Lujan <i>et al</i> , and Zhang <i>et al</i> i ng and their colleges, mentioned in this review chose a uni Ks, we exchange all data in functional units 1 cm ² or 1 m ² .	lifetime; NP: n in this review. t area (1 cm ² or into 1 kWh acc	ot provided; SC. 1 m²) as the fu ording toequati	: solution-l nctional u on (1) [224	ased: VD: vacuum nit for the LCA, oth I].	ı-based. ners chose 1 kWh el	ectricity pro	duction. To co	ompare th	
			Impact	$t_{kWh} = \frac{1}{I \times \eta \times \eta}$	$PR \times LT$							(1)
where <i>l</i> (%), LT ^e The an calculat	 f = insolation constant f = lifetime of the PV (uthor did not provide t ion. 	t, assigned as 1700 year). 'he ratio of Snl2 ar	1 kWh m $^{-2}$ -year in this paper (except for that calculated by nd SnBr ₂ . Since the purity of the SnBr ₂ reagent from the su	/ Ramamurthy] 1ppliers is not h	Rao <i>et al</i> with 1! igh enough, we	513.5 kWh assumed f	m^{-2} -year), $\eta = m$ he SnI ₂ with high c	nodule efficiency (% oncentration and th), PR = per	formance rati d the price of (o of the m shl2 for th	odule e



Figure 30. A comparison between the cost of lead-based PSCs and tin-based PSCs. The mass inventory (blue histograms for lead and yellow for tin) in these PSCs have been recalculated in kg kWh⁻¹ electricity, the module produced in the assigned lifetime, according to the mass inventory provided by the corresponding researchers and equation (1). The cost for the raw materials containing Pb or Sn (black rhombus) is calculated using the mass of these raw materials times the average prices listed in table 5.

Table 5. The prices of raw materials provided by three main suppliers in December 2021.

		Average price		
Material	Aladdin	Sigma—Aldrich	Alfa Aesar	(¥/100 g)
PbI ₂	6,729	36 300	7,478	16 836
	(Anhydrous, 99.999%,	(Perovskite grade,	(Anhydrous, 99.999%,	
	metal basis)	99.999% metal basis)	metal basis)	
PbCl ₂	5,098	11790	5,672	7,520
	(Anhydrous, 99.999%	(AnhydroBeads™, 10	(Anhydrous, 99.999%	
	metals basis)	mesh, 99.999%)	metals basis)	
PbBr ₂	3,584	27 993	32 160	21 246
	(99.999% metals basis)	(Anhydrobeads [™] ,	(Anhydrous, 99.999%	
		99.999% metals basis)	metals basis)	
SnI ₂	23 836	39 204	26 472	29 837
	(Anhydrous, 99.99%	(10 mesh, 99.99%	(Anhydrous, 99.999%,	
	metal basis)	metal basis)	metal basis)	
SnBr ₂	3,596		4,096	3,846
	(99%)	—	(99.20%)	

^a Calculated by the price with the maximum package the reagent suppliers offered online. The price may be lowered with a mass demand.

EPBT (year) values are the required time for a system to recover from the energy consumption of a certain module [263]. The EPBT results of the PSCs mentioned above are listed in table 4. Zhang *et al* gave the range of EPBT in 0.9–3.5 years in their research [228], while Gong's are given as merely 0.25 and 0.30 years [222], respectively. The EPBT of Pb-PSCs can be as high as 17.32 years in this table, which should be corrected to around 1 year by selecting different criteria as suggested by Espinosa *et al* [223]. Serrano-Lujan *et al* do not provide the EPBT of their tin-based PSC; however, we can assume that with a relatively higher energy consumption during the fabrication process and lower module efficiency compared with lead-based PSCs, a longer EPBT for tin-based PSCs will be reasonable.



Figure 31. A comparison of GWP and EPBT data from previous studies. The GWP (blue histograms for lead and yellow for tin) have been recalculated in kg/kWh electricity, the module produced in the assigned lifetime, according to equation (1). The lifetime selection and other parameters are shown in table 4. The EPBT (black rhombus) and their deviations are provided by the corresponding researchers. Serrano-Lujan *et al* do not provide the EPBT data in their research paper; therefore, these data remain blank in the graph.

Concluding remarks

To conclude this section, lead-free PVK-based solar cells are still lagging far behind lead-containing solar cells, not only because of their mediocre PCEs, but also because of their observable toxicity, low material abundance, high production costs and high environmental impact during material production and device fabrication. It seems that, at this point, lead-based PSCs are more feasible for mass production and industrialization. And rather than developing new lead-free alternatives, encapsulation and recycling of lead-based solar cells are more feasible and reliable ways to reduce the environmental impact of lead.

Acknowledgment

We thank the National Natural Science Foundation of China (22005202), Scientific and Technical Innovation Council of Shenzhen (20220812165832002), Scientific Research Startup Fund for Shenzhen High-Caliber Personnel of SZPT (6022310054k) and Innovation Team Project of Guangdong (2022KCXTD055) for financial support.

23. Environmental impact of PSCs: safe-by-design devices and lead sequestration

Ishaq Ahmad

Department of Physics, The University of Hong Kong, Pokfulam Road, Hong Kong, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of China, People's Republic of China

Status

Despite the high power conversion efficiency (PCE) of lead (Pb)-based PSCs, the stability and hazardous environmental impacts of PSCs have been challenging factors for their scalable industrial production for commercialization. This is because the degradation of PVK not only results in reduced PCE but also in releasing toxic components into the environment [265]. Pb is the essential part of PSCs with high PCE and high stability. Thus, exposure of PSCs to elevated temperature, humidity, oxygen, and UV light causes degradation and production of soluble PbI₂ or PbBr₂ with a water solubility product constant (K_{sp}) of 10^{-8} , which is much larger compared to other heavy metal compounds (e.g. CdTe $< 10^{-34}$), resulting in increased bioavailability and therefore increased toxicity. While addressing the environmental impact of PSCs, it is of great importance to estimate the amount of Pb in the fabricated PSC device, the amount of Pb compounds released to the environment after degradation, and the amount of bioavailable Pb [266].

The amount of Pb in PSC devices has been calculated to ~ 0.4 g m⁻² if the planar absorbing layer of methylammonium lead iodide (MAPI) has 300 nm thickness [267]. To produce MAPI-based PSCs with PCE of 25%, it has been estimated that ~ 160 tons of Pb will be needed yearly to meet the electricity demand of the USA, considering an energy intensity of 38 μ g kWh⁻¹ [268]. Besides PSC modules, monitoring the use of Pb in the electronic solders is very important to address the environmental impact of PSCs. It has been reported that 6200 tons of Pb content of electronic solder including commercial PV panels was required annually in 2012 [269]. Different Pb emission sources in the US are summarized in figure 32. Thus, all commercial PV panels contain Pb in the solder, which is the reason for the exemption on the restrictions for the use of Pb in PV modules in different regulations to control the use of hazardous materials in electrical and electronic equipment. While this would technically allow commercialization of Pb-containing PSCs [266], an important distinction from an environmental point of view is the water solubility of Pb compounds in PSCs.

Current and future challenges

Considering the fact that PSCs contain toxic Pb, which can be released into the environment in water-soluble form (Pb halide compounds), alternative approaches to reduce or eliminate Pb by partial or complete replacement with other metals have failed to produce devices with competitive efficiencies and lifetimes compared to Pb-based devices. Thus, current commercialization efforts are primarily concerned with Pb-based devices; therefore, it is necessary to address the issue of possible release of Pb into the environment. The release of Pb can be in the form of airborne deposits, leaching into soil with rainwater or released on complete decomposition in fire incidents. A study finds that under 1 h of simulated rain (1 Ml h^{-1}) , a non-encapsulated MAPI layer with 400 nm thickness and 3.6 cm² area will release 0.5 mg of Pb into the environment. The authors revealed the complete dissolution of Pb compounds under the simulated effect of rainfall with the passage of time, thus increasing the Pb content by \sim 70 ppm of the first cm of soil under the targeted device [267]. While PSCs are normally encapsulated to prevent degradation of their performance due to exposure to moisture and oxygen, damage to the panel (for example by hail) can still result in the discharge of Pb into the environment. Thus, an advancement in the technology of PSCs is required to minimize the amount of Pb in PSCs and control its release to the environment. Different strategies have been explored to prevent Pb leakage from encapsulated solar cells, which typically involve the integration of Pb-trapping materials within the encapsulation package, so that the encapsulation has a dual purpose to both prevent the ingress of oxygen and moisture and to prevent the leaching out of Pb. While promising preliminary results have been obtained and a significant reduction in Pb emissions has been demonstrated, considerable further work will be needed to conclusively and extensively demonstrate the safety and effectiveness of the proposed strategies since the research on Pb sequestration in PSCs is still in its infancy.

Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

Due to the need to use Pb to achieve high efficiency, safe-by-design device fabrication strategies and alternative Pb sequestration technologies are being developed to minimize Pb leakage [269–274]. One of the most safe-by-design strategies for Pb sequestration is to encapsulate the PSCs devices with a suitable material, which can prevent Pb leakage into the environment as well as serve as a barrier for oxygen and moisture ingress into the devices for operational stability. For example, the use of self-healing epoxy resin-based polymers with a glass transition temperature around 42 °C has been proposed to be used as an encapsulant. The self-healing of the epoxy resin at elevated temperature can prevent water ingress, resulting







in a 375-fold reduction in Pb leakage when compared to UV-curable resins [269]. Several other encapsulating materials have also been reported for the prevention of Pb leakage, such as transparent Pb-binding polymer composite films [270], built-in polymer resins [271], and Pb-sequestering iron (III) benzene tricarboxylic acid (FeBTC):poly(dopamine) (PDA) metal organic framework polymer composites [272]. An alternative proposed approach for a safe-by-design Pb sequestration strategy is the use of cation exchange resins (CER) as coating materials for PSC devices. The CER can be used on both sides of the PSC package as well as on the cell electrode and prevents Pb leakage to about 90% and reduces the Pb level below the safe drinking water Pb level according to the US Federal 40 CFR 141 regulation without compromising the cell performance [273]. Recently, it has also been proposed that if monomer additives are used within the device package, in which *in situ* polymerization produces Pb-entrapping polymer networks, the Pb leakage can be mitigated [274]. However, further work is needed to simultaneously optimize the PSC's performance, operational stability, and the Pb sequestration in the outdoor environment to pass the industrial standards for commercialization.

Concluding remarks

The Pb halide PSCs have achieved the highest PCE with relatively cost-effective processing techniques; however, the leakage of Pb to the environment from the degraded PSCs has been a challenging factor for

their commercialization. While impressive reductions in Pb leakage have been demonstrated since 2019 using several different approaches, Pb sequestration and safe-by-design PSCs are new concepts which require further testing. In particular, it is critical to investigate whether Pb leakage mitigation is achieved under all operational conditions, including elevated temperature (\sim 70 °C can be reached during outdoor operation) and prolonged operation. Specifically, devices with packaging containing Pb-sequestration solution need to demonstrate the ability to pass standard accelerated aging tests, both in terms of PCE retention as well as retention of Pb-containment capability.

Acknowledgments

I would like to offer my gratitude to Professor Aleksandra B. Djurišić, Department of Physics, The University of Hong Kong for providing invaluable input and guidance to complete this piece of writing.
24. Environmental impact of PSCs: recycling prospects

Shifeng Wang

Innovation Laboratory of Materials for Energy and Environment Technologies, Tibet University, Lhasa, People's Republic of China

Status

With the rise in global temperature due to the increasing amount of CO_2 emissions arising from the burning of fossil fuels, carbon neutrality has become a worldwide consensus. Currently, 137 countries around the world have set carbon neutrality targets in various ways, such as policy declarations or legislation, and most of them plan to achieve carbon neutrality by 2050. To achieve these goals, emission reduction and sink enhancement are usually adopted as the two main lines. One effective and efficient approach to reducing emissions is the utilization of renewable and clean energy, among which PSCs have been regarded as the rising star of the third-generation solar cells [275, 276], with great potential for the efficient delivery of large-scale low-cost solar electricity.

PSCs have experienced a rapid development and have attracted extensive studies since 2012, when the first solid-state PSC was reported with a power conversion efficiency (PCE) of 9.7% [277]. To date, a record reported efficiency of 25.7%, which is very close to the Shockley–Queisser limit for a single-junction solar cell, was achieved by the research team from Ulsan National Institute of Science and Technology (UNIST) [278]. However, the environmental impacts of PSCs, including the use of organic solutions, and the leakage of toxic metals, have always been the major concerns since the birth of PSCs, impeding to some extent the commercialization and large-scale applications. For instance, once the Pb inside the PVK crystal is discharged into soil or water, it can accumulate in human bodies, gravely damaging multiple body systems and causing severe health issues.

As there is still a long way from commercialization for PSCs, a complete recycling strategy has not been developed to date. However, investigations on the recycling technologies are attracting increasing attention from both academia and industry, such as reuse of the components and materials constituting the solar cells or modules. In fact, successful recycling solutions have been built for many other solar technologies, such as silicon and CdTe solar modules, providing important practical basis and reference for PSC's recycling mechanism. When the environmental footprint of PSCs is reduced, the large-scale applications of renewable energy can be sustainable and contribute to the carbon-neutral society, and people can benefit from clean electricity without any fears from environment pollution and contamination.

Current and future challenges

The challenges for the recycling and recovery of PSCs can be divided into two stages: one is the manufacturing procedure, while the other is the application through their working lifetime. From the angle of reality, most of the state-of-the-art fabricated PSCs contain Pb in the light-absorbing materials with a high level far exceeding the concentration limit of regulations for electronic devices, although a large number of researchers have tried to replace Pb with Sn as an environmentally friendly alternative; however, these suffer from severe instability and substantially lower PCE in comparison with their Pb-based counterparts. Besides the Pb-containing absorber, PSCs are assembled by tightly integrating the valuable charge transport layers with the expensive transparent conductive oxide (TCO) substrates serving as the front electrodes and the noble metals, like gold coating, entirely on the rear in the sandwich configuration, which not only increases the fabrication cost, but also increases the difficulty in separating every component for recycling and recovery of degraded modules. In addition, PSCs are usually fabricated and encapsulated on TCO-coated glasses with a fragile structure and poor properties of corrosion resistance and moisture blocking, making them easily fail and release toxic materials into the environment. When considering the economic aspects, if PSCs enter practical use on a large scale, the consumption of valuable materials for manufacturing will rise sharply, leading to a significant increase in cost and losing the competitive edge, because of the energy-intensive treatment process with high temperatures and the high price of TCO substrates and noble metals used in PSCs. From the perspective of policies, few laws and regulations across the world have been uniformly formulated on the practical use of solar modules regarding the environmental impacts, as well as the recycling mechanism at their end of life. Currently, PV modules are classified into the category of electronic devices. Therefore, if they fail or reach their end of life, they will be collected in accordance with international electronic waste disposal regulations. Overall, challenges are increasingly emerging with the growth of public concerns about environmental issues relating to renewable energy applications.

Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

Before PSCs enter commercial markets, many efforts have been made to develop recycling technologies for sustainability and environmental protection. However, the technologies vary largely depending on the diverse architectures and materials of PSCs, which can be categorized into four parts: TCO substrates, PVK absorbing films and carrier transport layers, mitigation of Pb toxic elements, and valuable metal electrodes. Between the inorganic TCO substrate and Au rear contact, the PVK and charge transport layers exhibit good solubility in organic solvents, facilitating the separation and extraction of all components and enabling the recycling to be viable. For instance, the TCO/glass substrate can be easily recovered by dimethylformamide (DMF) immersion, ultrasonication, and solvent rinsing (chlorobenzene, deionized water, ethanol, and acetone) [279, 280]. The PVK materials can be dissolved in a polar aprotic solvent through the ion reaction, leaving Au electrodes and the mesoporous TiO2-coated transparent conductive glass to regenerate PSCs [281]. The PbI₂ from degraded devices can be nearly 100% recycled using commercial zeolite in an aqueous solution, where toxic Pb^{2+} is absorbed and stabilized through ion exchange while rare iodine is recovered for PSC refabrication [282]. By immersing the used devices into chlorobenzene after peeling off the metal electrode, the valuable hole transport material Spiro-OMeTAD can be selectively removed without damaging the remaining films, which are used to remake new PSCs with identical PCEs [283]. Very recently, a 'one-key-reset' recycling approach was reported [284] to simultaneously separate and extract all the constituent materials at once from the used PSC to remake a new one that retained efficiency of more than 20% by applying a brand-new bleacher, which is composed of methylamine and nonpolar solvents. Finally, encapsulation materials can be recycled by pyrolysis and chemical decomposition. To conclude, all the components and materials of PSCs can be recycled through selective extraction or a package solution, whereas PSCs can also be refabricated with comparable PCEs using the recycled materials to eliminate the environmental impacts and reduce the production costs.

Concluding remarks

The PCE of PSCs has already surpassed 25.7%, and is comparable with commercialized technologies, such as CdTe and Si solar cells. Nevertheless, the toxicity of the Pb element with the risk of leaking into the environment and the high cost of TCO/glass substrates and the noble gold electrodes hinder the industrialization and commercialization of PSCs and make the recycling routes crucially important. Researchers worldwide have made progress toward developing recycling and recovery technologies, such as solvent extraction, ion exchange, and chemical reactions. The refurbished PSCs using the recycled materials still retain impressive PCEs or PCEs that are even better than those of the pristine cells, demonstrating the feasibility of double-way recycling approaches: one is to recycle the used or degraded PSCs, and the other is to reuse the recycled materials to produce new PSCs. These technologies and efforts offer promising recycling routes for PSCs to alleviate the environmental concerns and promote their sustainability as well as their competitiveness.

Acknowledgments

This work is supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant No: 52 062 045), Central Government Funds for Local Scientific and Technological Development (Grant No. XZ202101YD0019C), and the Everest Discipline Construction Project of Tibet University (Grant No. ZF21000002)

Data availability statement

No new data were created or analysed in this study.

ORCID iDs

Shien-Ping Feng D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3941-1363 Hin-Lap Yip D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5750-9751 Yufei Zhong D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9845-8607 Patrick W K Fong D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2460-4525 Gang Li D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8399-7771 Annie Ng D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5975-2499 Luigi Angelo Castriotta D https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2525-8852 Fabio Matteocci D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7893-1356 Luigi Vesce lo https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3322-8688 Aldo Di Carlo Dhttps://orcid.org/0000-0001-6828-2380 Yi Hou lo https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1532-816X Zhaoning Song bhttps://orcid.org/0000-0002-6677-0994 Yanfa Yan 💿 https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3977-5789 Alan Man Ching Ng 💿 https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7081-8244 Giles Richardson D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6225-8590 Monica Lira-Cantu b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3393-7436 Mark V Khenkin lo https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9201-0238 Iris Visoly-Fisher in https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6058-4712 Eugene A Katz () https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6151-1603 Yana Vaynzof Dhttps://orcid.org/0000-0002-0783-0707 Rosario Vidal Dhttps://orcid.org/0000-0001-7872-0620 Haoran Lin ⁽ⁱ⁾ https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0625-8881 Shifeng Wang b https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6169-2598 Aleksandra B Djurišić 💿 https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5183-1467

References

- Roy P, Sinha N K, Tiwari S and Khare A 2020 A review on perovskite solar cells: evolution of architecture, fabrication techniques, commercialization issues and status Sol. Energy 198 665–88
- [2] Wu T et al 2021 The main progress of perovskite solar cells in 2020–2021 Nano-Micro Lett. 13 152
- [3] European Perovskite Initiative (available at: https://epki.eu/)
- [4] U.S. MAP Manufacturing of Advanced Perovskites (available at: www.usa-perovskites.org/index.html)
- [5] Schileo G and Grancini G 2021 Lead or no lead? Availability, toxicity, sustainability and environmental impact of lead-free perovskite solar cells J. Mater. Chem. C 9 67
- [6] Liu H, Yu M-H, Lee C-C, Yu X, Li Y, Zhu Z, Chueh C-C, Li Z and Jen A K-Y 2021 Technical challenges and perspectives for the commercialization of solution-processable solar cells Adv. Mater. Technol. 6 2000960
- [7] Rao M K, Sangeetha D N, Selvakumar M, Sudhakar Y N and Mahesha M G 2021 Review on persistent challenges of perovskite solar cells' stability Sol. Energy 218 469–91
- [8] Cheng Y and Ding L 2021 Pushing commercialization of perovskite solar cells by improving their intrinsic stability *Energy Environ. Sci.* 14 3233
- [9] Wang Y, Ahmad I, Leung T, Lin J, Chen W, Liu F, Ng A M C, Zhang Y and Djurišić A B 2022 Encapsulation and stability testing of perovskite solar cells for real life applications ACS Mater. Au 2 215–36
- [10] Goetz K P, Taylor A D, Hofstetter Y J and Vaynzof Y 2021 Sustainability in perovskite solar cells ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 13 1–17
 [11] Wu G B, Liang R, Ge M Z, Sun G X, Zhang Y and Xing G C 2022 Surface passivation using 2D perovskites toward efficient and
- stable perovskite solar cells *Adv. Mater.* 34 2105635
 [12] Li X T, Hoffman J M and Kanatzidis M G 2021 The 2D halide perovskite rulebook: how the spacer influences everything from the structure to optoelectronic device efficiency *Chem. Rev.* 121 2230–91
- [13] Gong J, Hao M W, Zhang Y L, Liu M Z and Zhou Y Y 2022 Layered 2D halide perovskites beyond the Ruddlesden–Popper phase: tailored interlayer chemistries for high- performance solar cells Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 61 e202112022
- [14] Hu Y, Si S, Mei A Y, Rong Y G, Liu H W, Li X and Han H W 2017 Stable large-area (10 x 10 cm²) printable mesoscopic perovskite module exceeding 10% efficiency *Sol. RRL* 1 1600019
- [15] Zhang F et al 2022 Metastable Dion–Jacobson 2D structure enables efficient and stable perovskite solar cells Science 375 71–76
- [16] Jang Y-W, Lee S, Yeom K M, Jeong K, Choi K, Choi M and Noh J H 2021 Intact 2D/3D halide junction perovskite solar cells via solid-phase in-plane growth Nat. Energy 6 63–71
- [17] Leung T L, Ahmad I, Syed A A, Ng A M C, Popović J and Djurišić A B 2022 Stability of 2D and quasi-2D perovskite materials and devices Commun. Mater. 3 63
- [18] Chen W et al 2021 Interfacial stabilization for inverted perovskite solar cells with long-term stability Sci. Bull. 66 991–1002
- [19] Polyzoidis C, Rogdakis K and Kymakis E 2021 Indoor perovskite photovoltaics for the internet of things—challenges and opportunities toward market uptake Adv. Energy Mater. 11 2101854
- [20] Feng J, Zhu X, Yang Z, Zhang X, Niu J, Wang Z, Zuo S, Priya S, Liu S and Yang D 2018 Record efficiency stable flexible perovskite solar cell using effective additive assistant strategy Adv. Mater. 30 1801418
- [21] Koh T M, Wang H, Ng Y F, Bruno A, Mhaisalkar S and Mathews N 2022 Halide perovskite solar cells for building integrated photovoltaics: transforming building façades into power generators Adv. Mater. 34 2104661
- [22] He X, Chen J, Ren X, Zhang L, Liu Y, Feng J, Fang J, Zhao K and Liu S 2021 40.1% record low-light solar-cell efficiency by holistic trap-passivation using micrometer-thick perovskite film Adv. Mater. 33 2100770
- [23] Cheng Y, Peng Y, Jen A K-Y and Yip H-L 2022 Development and challenges of metal halide perovskite solar modules Sol. RRL 6 2100545
- [24] Yang Z et al 2021 Slot-die coating large-area formamidinium-cesium perovskite film for efficient and stable parallel solar module Sci. Adv. 7 eabg3749
- [25] Li J et al 2020 Highly efficient thermally co-evaporated perovskite solar cells and mini-modules Joule 4 1035–53
- [26] Cheng Y et al 2022 Amorphous CdO-In₂O₃ electrode for perovskite-based bifacial and tandem photovoltaic technologies with high energy production Sol. RRL 6 2100809
- [27] Shi L *et al* 2020 Gas chromatography–mass spectrometry analyses of encapsulated stable perovskite solar cells *Science* 368 eaba2412

- [28] Cheng Y, Liu X, Guan Z, Li M, Zeng Z, Li H-W, Tsang S-W, Aberle A G and Lin F 2021 Revealing the degradation and self-healing mechanisms in perovskite solar cells by sub-bandgap external quantum efficiency spectroscopy Adv. Mater. 33 2006170
- [29] Wu S et al 2020 2D metal-organic framework for stable perovskite solar cells with minimized lead leakage Nat. Nanotechnol. 15 934–40
- [30] Yu B-B, Chen Z, Zhu Y, Wang Y, Han B, Chen G, Zhang X, Du Z and He Z 2021 Heterogeneous 2D/3D tin-halides perovskite solar cells with certified conversion efficiency breaking 14% Adv. Mater. 33 2102055
- [31] Kim J Y, Lee J-W, Jung H S, Shin H and Park N-G 2020 High-efficiency perovskite solar cells Chem. Rev. 120 7867-918
- [32] Fu H T, Wang Z H and Sun Y M 2019 Polymer donors for high-performance non-fullerene organic solar cells Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 58 4442–53
- [33] Yuan J Y, Hazarika A, Zhao Q, Ling X, Moot T, Ma W and Luther J M 2020 Metal halide perovskites in quantum dot solar cells: progress and prospects Joule 4 1160–85
- [34] Min H *et al* 2021 Perovskite solar cells with atomically coherent interlayers on SnO₂ electrodes *Nature* **598** 444–50
- [35] Green M A, Dunlop E D, Hohl-Ebinger J, Yoshita M, Kopidakis N and Hao X 2022 Solar cell efficiency tables (version 59) Prog. Photovolt., Res. Appl. 30 3–12
- [36] Hu X T *et al* 2019 A mechanically robust conducting polymer network electrode for efficient flexible perovskite solar cells *Joule* 3 2205–18
- [37] Xue Q F, Xia R X, Brabec C J and Yip H-L 2018 Recent advances in semi-transparent polymer and perovskite solar cells for power generating window applications *Energy Environ. Sci.* 11 1688–709
- [38] Mathews I, Kantareddy S N, Buonassisi T and Peters I M 2019 Technology and market perspective for indoor photovoltaic cells Joule 3 1415–26
- [39] Zhang Y, Seo S, Lim S Y, Kim Y, Kim S-G, Lee D-K, Lee S-H, Shin H, Cheong H and Park N-G 2020 Achieving reproducible and high-efficiency (>21%) perovskite solar cells with a presynthesized FAPbI(3) powder ACS Energy Lett. 5 360–6
- [40] Ono L K, Liu S Z and Qi Y B 2020 Reducing detrimental defects for high-performance metal halide perovskite solar cells Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 59 6676–98
- [41] Wang Y et al 2019 Dopant-free small-molecule hole-transporting material for inverted perovskite solar cells with efficiency exceeding 21% Adv. Mater. 31 1902781
- [42] Kim G-W, Choi H, Kim M, Lee J, Son S Y and Park T 2020 Hole transport materials in conventional structural (n-i-p) perovskite solar cells: from past to the future Adv. Energy Mater. 10 1903403
- [43] Chao L F, Xia Y D, Li B X, Xing G C, Chen Y H and Huang W 2019 Room-temperature molten salt for facile fabrication of efficient and stable perovskite solar cells in ambient air *Chemistry* 5 995–1006
- [44] Zhong Y, Munir R, Li J, Tang M-C, Niazi M R, Smilgies D-M, Zhao K and Amassian A 2018 Blade-coated hybrid perovskite solar cells with efficiency > 17%: an *in situ* investigation ACS Energy Lett. 3 1078–85
- [45] Khenkin M V et al 2020 Consensus statement for stability assessment and reporting for perovskite photovoltaics based on ISOS procedures Nat. Energy 5 35–49
- [46] Li J M, Cao H-L, Jiao W-B, Wang Q, Wei M, Cantone I, Lü J and Abate A 2020 Biological impact of lead from halide perovskites reveals the risk of introducing a safe threshold Nat. Commun. 11 310
- [47] Babayigit A, Duy Thanh D, Ethirajan A, Manca J, Muller M, Boyen H-G and Conings B 2016 Assessing the toxicity of Pb- and Sn-based perovskite solar cells in model organism Danio rerio Sci. Rep. 6 18721
- [48] Deng Y, Ni Z, Palmstrom A F, Zhao J, Xu S, Van Brackle C H, Xiao X, Zhu K and Huang J 2020 Reduced self-doping of perovskites induced by short annealing for efficient solar modules *Joule* 4 1949–60
- [49] Chen S, Dai X, Xu S, Jiao H, Zhao L and Huang J 2021 Stabilizing perovskite-substrate interfaces for high-performance perovskite modules Science 373 902–7
- [50] National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) Champion Photovoltaic Module Efficiency Chart (available at: www.nrel.gov/pv/ module-efficiency.html) (Accessed 18 January 2023)
- [51] Liu K, Fong P W K, Liang Q and Li G 2021 Upscaling perovskite solar cells via the ambient deposition of perovskite thin films Trends Chem. 3 747–64
- [52] Hu H, Singh M, Wan X, Tang J, Chu C-W and Li G 2020 Nucleation and crystal growth control for scalable solution-processed organic–inorganic hybrid perovskite solar cells J. Mater. Chem. A 8 1578–603
- [53] Deng Y, Van Brackle C H, Dai X, Zhao J, Chen B and Huang J 2019 Tailoring solvent coordination for high-speed, room-temperature blading of perovskite photovoltaic films Sci. Adv. 5 eaax7537
- [54] Deng Y H, Zheng X P, Bai Y, Wang Q, Zhao J J and Huang J S 2018 Surfactant-controlled ink drying enables high-speed deposition of perovskite films for efficient photovoltaic modules *Nat. Energy* 3 560–6
- [55] Hu H, Ren Z, Fong P W K, Qin M, Liu D, Lei D, Lu X and Li G 2019 Room-temperature meniscus coating of >20% perovskite solar cells: a film formation mechanism investigation *Adv. Funct. Mater.* 29 1900092
- [56] Fong P W, Hu H, Ren Z, Liu K, Cui L, Bi T, Liang Q, Wu Z, Hao J and Li G 2021 Printing high-efficiency perovskite solar cells in high-humidity ambient environment-an *in situ* guided investigation *Adv. Sci.* 8 2003359
- [57] Deng Y, Peng E, Shao Y, Xiao Z, Dong Q and Huang J 2015 Scalable fabrication of efficient organolead trihalide perovskite solar cells with doctor-bladed active layers *Energy Environ. Sci.* 8 1544–50
- [58] Bu T et al 2021 Lead halide-templated crystallization of methylamine-free perovskite Science 372 1327–32
- [59] Guesnay Q, Sahli F, Ballif C and Jeangros Q 2021 Vapor deposition of metal halide perovskite thin films: process control strategies to shape layer properties APL Mater. 9 100703
- [60] Qiu L, He S, Jiang Y, Son D-Y, Ono L K, Liu Z, Kim T, Bouloumis T, Kazaoui S and Qi Y 2019 Hybrid chemical vapor deposition enables scalable and stable Cs-FA mixed cation perovskite solar modules with a designated area of 91.8 cm² approaching 10% efficiency J. Mater. Chem. A 7 6920–9
- [61] Ritzer D B, Abzieher T, Basibüyük A, Feeney T, Laufer F, Ternes S, Richards B S, Bergfeld S and Paetzold U W 2021 Upscaling of perovskite solar modules: the synergy of fully evaporated layer fabrication and all-laser-scribed interconnections *Prog. Photovolt.*, *Res. Appl.* 30 1–14
- [62] Feng J, Jiao Y, Wang H, Zhu X, Sun Y, Du M, Cao Y, Yang D and Liu S (F.) 2021 High-throughput large-area vacuum deposition for high-performance formamidine-based perovskite solar cells *Energy Environ. Sci.* 14 3035–43
- [63] Juarez-Perez E J, Hawash Z, Raga S R, Ono L K and Qi Y 2016 Thermal degradation of CH₃NH₃PbI₃ perovskite into NH₃ and CH₃I gases observed by coupled thermogravimetry–mass spectrometry analysis *Energy Environ. Sci.* 9 3406–10
- [64] Vaynzof Y 2020 The future of perovskite photovoltaics—Thermal evaporation or solution processing? Adv. Energy Mater. 10 2003073

- [65] Ng A et al 2015 Efficiency enhancement by defect engineering in perovskite photovoltaic cells prepared using evaporated PbI₂/CH₃NH₃I multilayers J. Mater. Chem. A 3 9223–31
- [66] Lee W et al 2020 Controllable deposition of organic metal halide perovskite films with wafer-scale uniformity by single source flash evaporation Sci. Rep. 10 18781
- [67] Zhou Y, Yang M, Pang S, Zhu K and Padture N P 2016 Exceptional morphology-preserving evolution of formamidinium lead triiodide perovskite thin films via organic-cation displacement J. Am. Chem. Soc. 138 5535–8
- [68] Solis-Ibarra D, Smitha I C and Karunadasa H I 2015 Post-synthetic halide conversion and selective halogen capture in hybrid perovskites Chem. Sci. 6 4054–9
- [69] Marshall K P, Walker M, Walton R I and Hatton R A 2016 Enhanced stability and efficiency in hole-transport-layer-free CsSnI₃ perovskite photovoltaics Nat. Energy 1 1–9
- [70] Chen C et al 2019 Solvent-assisted low-temperature crystallization of SnO₂ electron-transfer layer for high-efficiency planar perovskite solar cells Adv. Funct. Mater. 29 1900557
- [71] Sum T C and Mathews N 2014 Advancements in perovskite solar cells: photophysics behind the photovoltaics Energy Environ. Sci. 7 2518–34
- [72] Shi R, Waterhouse G I N and Zhang T 2017 Recent progress in photocatalytic CO₂ reduction over perovskite oxides Sol. RRL 1 1–17
- [73] Jung K, Oh K, Kim D H, Choi J W, Kim K C and Lee M-J 2021 Ambient-air fabrication of stable mixed cation perovskite planar solar cells with efficiencies exceeding 22% using a synergistic mixed antisolvent with complementary properties *Nano Energy* 89 106387
- [74] Cheng R, Chung C-C, Zhang H, Zhou Z, Zhai P, Huang Y-T, Lee H and Feng S-P 2019 An air knife–assisted recrystallization method for ambient-process planar perovskite solar cells and its dim-light harvesting *Small* 15 1–9
- [75] Yin J, Qu H, Cao J, Tai H, Li J and Zheng N 2016 Vapor-assisted crystallization control toward high performance perovskite photovoltaics with over 18% efficiency in the ambient atmosphere J. Mater. Chem. A 4 13203–10
- [76] Yang Z, Chueh C-C, Zuo F, Kim J H, Liang P-W and Jen A K Y 2015 High-performance fully printable perovskite solar cells via blade-coating technique under the ambient condition Adv. Energy Mater. 5 1500328
- [77] Ding J, Han Q, Ge Q-Q, Xue D-J, Ma J-Y, Zhao B-Y, Chen Y-X, Liu J, Mitzi D B and Hu J-S 2019 Fully air-bladed high-efficiency perovskite photovoltaics *Joule* 3 402–16
- [78] Zuo C, Vak D, Angmo D, Ding L and Gao M 2018 One-step roll-to-roll air processed high efficiency perovskite solar cells Nano Energy 46 185–92
- [79] Palma A L, Matteocci F, Agresti A, Pescetelli S, Calabrò E, Vesce L, Christiansen S, Schmidt M and Di Carlo A 2017 Laser-patterning engineering for perovskite solar modules with 95% aperture ratio IEEE J. Photovolt. 7 1674–80
- [80] Rakocevic L, Schöpe G, Turan B, Genoe J, Aernouts T, Haas S, Gehlhaar R and Poortmans J 2020 Perovskite modules with 99% geometrical fill factor using point contact interconnections design *Prog. Photovolt.*, *Res. Appl.* 28 1120–7
- [81] Galagan Y 2020 Stability of perovskite PV modules J. Phys. Energy 2 021004
- [82] Bi E, Tang W, Chen H, Wang Y, Barbaud J and Wu T 2019 Efficient perovskite solar cell modules with high stability enabled by iodide diffusion barriers *Joule* 3 2748–60
- [83] Werner J et al 2020 Learning from existing photovoltaic technologies to identify alternative perovskite module designs Energy Environ. Sci. 13 3393–403
- [84] Xu Y, Wang S, Gu L, Yuan N and Ding J 2021 Structural design for efficient perovskite solar modules Sol. RRL 5 2000733
- [85] Wolf E J, Gould I E, Bliss L B, Berry J J and McGehee M D 2022 Designing modules to prevent reverse bias degradation in perovskite solar cells when partial shading occurs Sol. RRL 6 2100239
- [86] De Bastiani M, Babics M, Aydin E, Subbiah A S, Xu L and De Wolf S 2022 All set for efficient and reliable perovskite/silicon tandem photovoltaic modules? Sol. RRL 6 2100493
- [87] Lehr J, Langenhorst M, Schmager R, Gota F, Kirner S, Lemmer U, Richards B S, Case C and Paetzold U W 2020 Energy yield of bifacial textured perovskite/silicon tandem photovoltaic modules Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells 208 110367
- [88] Vesce L, Stefanelli M, Herterich J P, Castriotta L A, Kohlstädt M, Würfel U and Di Carlo A 2021 Ambient air blade-coating fabrication of stable triple-cation perovskite solar modules by green solvent quenching Sol. RRL 5 1–11
- [89] Li D et al 2021 A review on scaling up perovskite solar cells Adv. Funct. Mater. 31 1-27
- [90] Kim H-J, Kim H-S and Park N-G 2021 Progress of perovskite solar modules *Adv. Energy Sustain. Res.* 2 2000051
- [91] Lee D K and Park N G 2021 Materials and methods for high-efficiency perovskite solar modules Sol. RRL 2100455 1–25
- [92] Green M A, Dunlop E D, Hohl-Ebinger J, Yoshita M, Kopidakis N and Hao X 2020 Solar cell efficiency tables (version 56) Prog. Photovolt., Res. Appl. 28 629–38
- [93] Deng Y, Xu S, Chen S, Xiao X, Zhao J and Huang J 2021 Defect compensation in formamidinium–caesium perovskites for highly efficient solar mini-modules with improved photostability Nat. Energy 6 633–41
- [94] Bu T *et al* 2021 Lead halide-templated crystallization of methylamine-free perovskite for efficient photovoltaic modules *Science* 372 1327–32
- [95] Moore G W K, Howell S E L, Brady M, Xu X and McNeil K 2021 Tuning structural isomers of phenylenediammonium to afford efficient and stable perovskite solar cells and modules *Nat. Commun.* **12** 1–9
- [96] Ma Y and Zhao Q 2021 A strategic review on processing routes towards scalable fabrication of perovskite solar cells J. Energy Chem. 64 538–60
- [97] Mailoa J P, Bailie C D, Johlin E C, Hoke E T, Akey A J, Nguyen W H, McGehee M D and Buonassisi T 2015 A 2-terminal perovskite/silicon multijunction solar cell enabled by a silicon tunnel junction *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 106 121105
- [98] NREL best research-cell efficiency chart (available at: www.nrel.gov/pv/cell-efficiency.html)
- [99] Park I J, Park J H, Ji S G, Park M-A, Jang J H and Kim J Y 2019 A three-terminal monolithic perovskite/Si tandem solar cell characterization platform Joule 3 807–18
- [100] Almansouri I, Ho-Baillie A and Green M A 2015 Ultimate efficiency limit of single-junction perovskite and dual-junction perovskite/silicon two-terminal devices Jpn. J. Appl. Phys. 54 08KD04
- [101] Tockhorn P, Wagner P, Kegelmann L, Stang J-C, Mews M, Albrecht S and Korte L 2020 Three-terminal perovskite/silicon tandem solar cells with top and interdigitated rear contacts ACS Appl. Energy Mater. 3 1381–92
- [102] Gota F, Langenhorst M, Schmager R, Lehr J and Paetzold U W 2020 Energy yield advantages of three-terminal perovskite-silicon tandem photovoltaics Joule 4 2387–403
- [103] Lehr J, Langenhorst M, Schmager R, Kirner S, Lemmer U, Richards B S, Case C and Paetzold U W 2018 Energy yield modelling of perovskite/silicon two-terminal tandem PV modules with flat and textured interfaces Sustain. Energy Fuels 2 2754–61

- [104] Ng X R, Lai D, Wang P, Aberle A G, Stangl R and Lin F 2022 Thermally stable poly-Si tunnel junctions enabling next-generation high-efficiency Si solar cells Prog. Photovolt., Res. Appl. 30 85–95
- [105] Sahli F et al 2018 Improved optics in monolithic perovskite/silicon tandem solar cells with a nanocrystalline silicon recombination junction Adv. Energy Mater. 8 1701609
- [106] Sahli F et al 2018 Fully textured monolithic perovskite/silicon tandem solar cells with 25.2% power conversion efficiency Nat. Mater. 17 820–6
- [107] Zheng J et al 2018 Large area efficient interface layer free monolithic perovskite/homo-junction-silicon tandem solar cell with over 20% efficiency Energy Environ. Sci. 11 2432–43
- [108] Shen H, Omelchenko S T, Jacobs D A, Yalamanchili S, Wan Y, Yan D, Phang P, Duong T, Wu Y, Yin Y, Samundsett C 2018 In situ recombination junction between p-Si and TiO₂ enables high-efficiency monolithic perovskite/Si tandem cells Sci. Adv. 4 eaau9711
- [109] Scully J Researchers push four-terminal perovskite-silicon tandem cells to 30% efficiency (available at: www.pv-tech.org/ researchers-push-four-terminal-perovskite-silicon-tandem-cells-to-30-efficiency/) (Accessed 5 January 2023)
- [110] Zheng J, Mehrvarz H, Ma F-J, Lau C F J, Green M A, Huang S and Ho-Baillie A W Y 2018 21.8% efficient monolithic perovskite/homo-junction-silicon tandem solar cell on 16 cm² ACS Energy Lett. 3 2299–300
- [111] Case C Is Perovskite PV Prepared for TW Solar? presented at the 2021 Industrialization of Perovskite Thin Film PV Technology [112] Case C 2018 The path to perovskite performance and production Organic, Hybrid, and Perovskite Photovoltaics XIX (September
- 2018) vol 10737 p 1073701 [112] Sang Z. Char. C. Li, C. Avari B. A. Zhao D and Yan V 2010 Wide handson law handson and tandom nerowskite solar cells
- [113] Song Z, Chen C, Li C, Awni R A, Zhao D and Yan Y 2019 Wide-bandgap, low-bandgap, and tandem perovskite solar cells Semicond. Sci. Technol. 34 093001
- [114] Jiang F, Liu T, Luo B, Tong J, Qin F, Xiong S, Li Z and Zhou Y 2016 A two-terminal perovskite/perovskite tandem solar cell J. Mater. Chem. A 4 1208–13
- [115] Eperon G E et al 2016 Perovskite-perovskite tandem photovoltaics with optimized band gaps Science 354 861-5
- [116] Tong J et al 2019 Carrier lifetimes of >1 μs in Sn-Pb perovskites enable efficient all-perovskite tandem solar cells Science 364 475–9
- [117] Li C *et al* 2020 Low-bandgap mixed tin–lead iodide perovskites with reduced methylammonium for simultaneous enhancement of solar cell efficiency and stability *Nat. Energy* 5 768–76
- [118] Palmstrom A F et al 2019 Enabling flexible all-perovskite tandem solar cells Joule 3 2193-204
- [119] Lin R et al 2019 Monolithic all-perovskite tandem solar cells with 24.8% efficiency exploiting comproportionation to suppress Sn(ii) oxidation in precursor ink Nat. Energy 4 864–73
- [120] Xiao K et al 2020 All-perovskite tandem solar cells with 24.2% certified efficiency and area over 1 cm² using surface-anchoring zwitterionic antioxidant Nat. Energy 5 870–80
- [121] Yu Z, Yang Z, Ni Z, Shao Y, Chen B, Lin Y, Wei H, Yu Z J, Holman Z and Huang J 2020 Simplified interconnection structure based on C60/SnO_{2-x} for all-perovskite tandem solar cells *Nat. Energy* **5** 657–65
- [122] Todorov T, Gershon T, Gunawan O, Sturdevant C and Guha S 2014 Perovskite-kesterite monolithic tandem solar cells with high open-circuit voltage Appl. Phys. Lett. 105 173902
- [123] Wang D et al 2021 Interfacial engineering of wide-bandgap perovskites for efficient perovskite/CZTSSe tandem solar cells Adv. Funct. Mater. 32 2107359
- [124] Kim D H et al 2019 Bimolecular additives improve wide-band-gap perovskites for efficient tandem solar cells with CIGS Joule 3 1734–45
- [125] Al-Ashouri A et al 2019 Conformal monolayer contacts with lossless interfaces for perovskite single junction and monolithic tandem solar cells Energy Environ. Sci. 12 3356–69
- [126] Wang P et al 2021 Tuning of the interconnecting layer for monolithic perovskite/organic tandem solar cells with record efficiency exceeding 21 Nano Lett. 21 7845–54
- [127] Chen W, Zhang J, Xu G, Xue R, Li Y, Zhou Y, Hou J and Li Y 2018 A semitransparent inorganic perovskite film for overcoming ultraviolet light instability of organic solar cells and achieving 14.03% efficiency Adv. Mater. 30 e1800855
- [128] Lang F et al 2020 Proton radiation hardness of perovskite tandem photovoltaics Joule 4 1054-69
- [129] Nakamura M, Yamaguchi K, Kimoto Y, Yasaki Y, Kato T and Sugimoto H 2019 Cd-free Cu(In,Ga)(Se,S)2 thin-film solar cell with record efficiency of 23.35% IEEE J. Photovolt. 9 1863–7
- [130] Son D-H et al 2019 Effect of solid-H2S gas reactions on CZTSSe thin film growth and photovoltaic properties of a 12.62% efficiency device J. Mater. Chem. A 7 25279–89
- [131] Li C et al 2021 Non-fullerene acceptors with branched side chains and improved molecular packing to exceed 18% efficiency in organic solar cells Nat. Energy 6 605–13
- [132] Jošt M, Kegelmann L, Korte L and Albrecht S 2020 Monolithic perovskite tandem solar cells: a review of the present status and advanced characterization methods toward 30% efficiency Adv. Energy Mater. 10 1904102
- [133] Lang F, Köhnen E, Warby J, Xu K, Grischek M, Wagner P, Neher D, Korte L, Albrecht S and Stolterfoht M 2021 Revealing fundamental efficiency limits of monolithic perovskite/silicon tandem photovoltaics through subcell characterization ACS Energy Lett. 6 3982–91
- [134] Jiang Y et al 2020 High-mobility In₂O₃:H electrodes for four-terminal perovskite/CuInSe₂ tandem solar cells ACS Nano 14 7502–12
- [135] Li Z et al 2020 Hybrid perovskite-organic flexible tandem solar cell enabling highly efficient electrocatalysis overall water splitting Adv. Energy Mater. 10 2000361
- [136] Zhang J, Chang N, Fagerholm C, Qiu M, Shuai L, Egan R and Yuan C 2022 Techno-economic and environmental sustainability of industrial-scale productions of perovskite solar cells *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 158 112146
- [137] Uddin A, Baishakhi Upama M, Haimang Y and Duan L 2019 Encapsulation of organic and perovskite solar cells: a review *Coatings* 9 65
- [138] Aranda C A, Caliò L and Salado M 2021 Toward commercialization of stable devices: an overview on encapsulation of hybrid organic-inorganic perovskite solar cells Crystals 11 519
- [139] Corsini F and Griffini G 2020 Recent progress in encapsulation strategies to enhance the stability of organometal halide perovskite solar cells J. Phys. Energy 2 031002
- [140] Han F, Wu Y, He R, Hui Y, Yin J, Zheng L, Wu B and Zheng N 2021 Hyperstable perovskite solar cells without ion migration and metal diffusion based on ZnS segregated cubic ZnTiO₃ electron transport layers Sol. RRL 5 2000654
- [141] Lv Y F, Zhang H, Liu R Q, Sun Y N and Huang W 2020 Composite encapsulation enabled superior comprehensive stability of perovskite solar cells ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 12 27277–85

- [142] Long B, Zhou X, Cao H, Chen R, He N, Chi L, Fan P and Chen X 2022 Excellent stability of perovskite solar cells encapsulated with paraffin/ethylene-vinyl acetate/paraffin composite layer *Front. Mater.* 9 892657
- [143] Qian L, Yang Z, Meng X, Yue Y, Ashfaq Ahmad M, Zhang W, Zhang S, Zhang Y, Liu Z and Chen W 2021 A review on encapsulation technology from organic light emitting diodes to organic and perovskite solar cells Adv. Funct. Mater. 31 2100151
- [144] De Bastiani M *et al* 2021 Toward stable monolithic perovskite/silicon tandem photovoltaics: a six-month outdoor performance study in a hot and humid climate ACS Energy Lett. 6 2944–51
- [145] Fu Z Y et al 2019 Encapsulation of printable mesoscopic perovskite solar cells enables high temperature and long-term outdoor stability Adv. Funct. Mater. 29 1809129
- [146] Zhang K, Wang Z, Wang G P, Wang J, Li Y, Qian W, Zheng S Z, Xiao S and Yang S 2020 A prenucleation strategy for ambient fabrication of perovskite solar cells with high device performance uniformity *Nat. Commun.* 11 1006
- [147] Lin D X et al 2021 Ion migration accelerated reaction between oxygen and metal halide perovskites in light and its suppression by cesium incorporation Adv. Energy Mater. 11 2002552
- [148] Senocrate A, Kim G Y, Grätzel M and Maier J 2019 Thermochemical stability of hybrid halide perovskites ACS Energy Lett. 4 2859–70
- [149] Yang J L, Siempelkamp B D, Liu D Y and Kelly T L 2015 Investigation of CH₃NH₃PbI₃ degradation rates and mechanisms in controlled humidity environments using *in situ* techniques ACS Nano 9 1955–63
- [150] Leguy A M A et al 2015 Reversible hydration of CH₃NH₃PbI₃ in films, single crystals, and solar cells Chem. Mater. 27 3397–407
- [151] Ma J-Y, Yan H-J, Li M-H, Sun J-K, Chen Y-X, Wang D and Hu J-S 2020 Microscopic investigations on the surface-state dependent moisture stability of a hybrid perovskite *Nanoscale* 12 7759–65
- [152] Ouyang Y X, Shi L, Li Q and Wang J L 2019 Role of water and defects in photo-oxidative degradation of methylammonium lead iodide perovskite *Small Methods* 3 1900154
- [153] Senocrate A, Acartürk T, Kim G Y, Merkle R, Starke U, Grätzel M and Maier J 2018 Interaction of oxygen with halide perovskites J. Mater. Chem. A 6 10847
- [154] Wygant B R, Ye A Z, Dolocan A, Vu Q Y, Abbot D M and Mullins C B 2019 Probing the degradation chemistry and enhanced stability of 2D organolead halide perovskites J. Am. Chem. Soc. 141 18170–81
- [155] Péan E V, De Castro C S, Dimitrov S, De Rossi F, Meroni S, Baker J, Watson T and Davies M L 2020 Investigating the superoxide formation and stability in mesoporous carbon perovskite solar cells with an aminovaleric acid additive Adv. Funct. Mater. 30 1909839
- [156] Wei J, Wang Q, Huo J, Gao F, Gan Z, Zhao Q and Li H 2021 Mechanisms and suppression of photoinduced degradation in perovskite solar cells Adv. Energy Mater. 11 2002326
- [157] Liu F, Dong Q, Wong M K, Djurišić A B, Ng A, Ren Z, Shen Q, Surya C, Chan W K and Wang J 2016 Is excess PbI₂ beneficial for perovskite solar cell performance? Adv. Energy Mater. 6 1502206
- [158] Lu Y, Hu J, Ge Y, Tian B, Zhang Z and Sui M 2021 Decisive influence of amorphous PbI_{2-x} on the photodegradation of halide perovskites *J. Mater. Chem.* A 9 15059–67
- [159] Mathew P S, Samu G F, Janaky C and Kamat P V 2020 Iodine (I) expulsion at photoirradiated mixed halide perovskite interface. Should I stay or should I go? ACS Energy Lett. 5 1872–80
- [160] Knight A J, Wright A D, Patel J B, McMeekin D P, Snaith H J, Johnston M B and Herz L M 2018 Electronic traps and phase segregation in lead mixed-halide perovskite ACS Energy Lett. 4 75–84
- [161] Belisle R A, Bush K A, Bertoluzzi L, Gold-Parker A, Toney M F and McGehee M D 2018 Impact of surfaces on photoinduced halide segregation in mixed-halide perovskites ACS Energy Lett. 3 2694–700
- [162] Xu J, Boyd C C, Yu Z J, Palmstrom A F, Witter D J, Larson B W, France R M, Werner J, Harvey S P and Wolf E J 2020 Triple-halide wide–band gap perovskites with suppressed phase segregation for efficient tandems *Science* 367 1097–104
- [163] Beal R E, Hagström N Z, Barrier J, Gold-Parker A, Prasanna R, Bush K A, Passarello D, Schelhas L T, Brüning K and Tassone C J 2020 Structural origins of light-induced phase segregation in organic-inorganic halide perovskite photovoltaic materials *Matter* 2 207–19
- [164] Knight A J, Borchert J, Oliver R D, Patel J B, Radaelli P G, Snaith H J, Johnston M B and Herz L M 2021 Halide segregation in mixed-halide perovskites: influence of A-site cations ACS Energy Lett. 6 799–808
- [165] Pavlovetc I M, Ruth A, Gushchina I, Ngo L, Zhang S, Zhang Z and Kuno M 2021 Distinguishing models for mixed halide lead perovskite photosegregation via terminal halide stoichiometry ACS Energy Lett. 6 2064–71
- [166] Conings B et al 2015 Intrinsic thermal instability of methylammonium lead trihalide perovskite Adv. Energy Mater. 5 1500477
- [167] Chen L et al 2019 Toward long-term stability: single-crystal alloys of cesium-containing mixed cation and mixed halide perovskite J. Am. Chem. Soc. 141 1665–71
- [168] García-Fernández A, Juarez-Perez E J, Castro-García S, Sánchez-Andújar M, Ono L K, Jiang Y and Qi Y 2018 Benchmarking chemical stability of arbitrarily mixed 3D hybrid halide perovskites for solar cell applications *Small Methods* **2** 1800242
- [169] Lu H *et al* 2020 Vapor-assisted deposition of highly efficient, stable black-phase FAPbI₃ perovskite solar cells *Science* **370** eabb8985 [170] Schwenzer J A *et al* 2021 Thermal stability and cation composition of hybrid organic-inorganic perovskites *ACS Appl. Mater.*
- Interfaces 13 15292–304
 [171] Hu R, Zhang Y, Paek S, Gao X-X, Li X and Nazeeruddin M K 2020 Enhanced stability of α-phase FAPbI₃ perovskite solar cells by insertion of 2D (PEA)2PbI₄ nanosheets J. Mater. Chem. A 8 8058–64
- [172] Dewi H A, Li J, Wang H, Chaudhary B, Mathews N, Mhaisalkar S and Bruno A 2021 Excellent intrinsic long-term thermal stability of co-evaporated MAPbI₃ solar cells at 85 °C *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **31** 2100557
- [173] Gaonkar H, Zhu J, Kottokkaran R, Bhageri B, Noack M and Dalal V 2020 Thermally stable, efficient, vapor deposited inorganic perovskite solar cells ACS Appl. Energy Mater. 3 3497–503
- [174] Junjie M, Qin M, Pengwei L, Han L, Zhang Y and Song Y 2022 Crystallization kinetics modulation and defect suppression of all-inorganic CsPbX₃ perovskite films *Energy Environ. Sci.* 15 413–38
- [175] Wang K, Gao C, Xu Z, Tian Q, Gu X, Zhang L, Zhang S, Zhao K and Liu S 2021 In-situ hot oxygen cleansing and passivation for all-inorganic perovskite solar cells deposited in ambient to breakthrough 19% efficiency Adv. Funct. Mater. 31 2101568
- [176] Snaith H J, Abate A, Ball J M, Eperon G E, Leijtens T C, Noel N K, Stranks S D, Wang J T-W, Wojciechowski K and Zhang W 2014 Anomalous hysteresis in perovskite solar cells J. Phys. Chem. Lett. 5 1511–5
- [177] Courtier N E, Cave J M, Foster J M, Walker A B and Richardson G 2019 How transport layer properties affect perovskite solar cell performance: insights from a coupled charge transport/ion migration model *Energy Environ. Sci.* 12 396–409
- [178] Warby J et al 2022 Understanding performance limiting interfacial recombination in pin perovskite solar cells Adv. Energy Mater. 12 2103567

- [179] Eames C, Frost J M, Barnes P R F, O'Regan B C, Walsh A and Islam M S 2015 Ionic transport in hybrid lead iodide perovskite solar cells Nat. Commun. 6 7497
- [180] Domanski K et al 2017 Migration of cations induces reversible performance losses over day/night cycling in perovskite solar cells Energy Environ. Sci. 10 604–13
- [181] Bryant D, Wheeler S, O'Regan B C, Watson T, Barnes P R F, Worsley D and Durrant J R 2015 Observable hysteresis at low temperature in "hysteresis free" organic-inorganic lead halide perovskite solar cells J. Phys. Chem. Lett. 6 3190–4
- [182] Dunfield S P, Bliss L, Zhang F, Luther J M, Zhu K, van Hest M F, Reese M O and Berry J J 2020 From defects to degradation: a mechanistic understanding of degradation in perovskite solar cell devices and modules Adv. Energy Mater. 10 1904054
- [183] Yang W S *et al* 2017 Iodide management in formamidinium-lead-halide–based perovskite layers for efficient solar cells *Science* **356** 1376–9
- [184] Weber S A, Hermes I M, Turren-Cruz S-H, Gort C, Bergmann V W, Gilson L, Hagfeldt A, Graetzel M, Tress W and Berger R 2018 How the formation of interfacial charge causes hysteresis in perovskite solar cells *Energy Environ. Sci.* 11 2404–13
- [185] Li J, Dong Q, Li N and Wang L 2017 Direct evidence of ion diffusion for the silver- electrode-induced thermal degradation of inverted perovskite solar cells Adv. Energy Mater. 7 1602922
- [186] Lee J-W, Kim S-G, Yang J-M, Yang Y and Park N-G 2019 Verification and mitigation of ion migration in perovskite solar cells APL Mater. 7 041111
- [187] Bidikoudi M, Simal C and Stathatos E 2021 Low-toxicity perovskite applications in carbon electrode perovskite solar cells—a review Electronics 10 1145
- [188] Li N, Niu X, Chen Q and Zhou H 2020 Towards commercialization: the operational stability of perovskite solar cells Chem. Soc. Rev. 49 8235–86
- [189] Liang L, Cai Y, Li X, Nazeeruddin M K and Gao P 2018 All that glitters is not gold: recent progress of alternative counter electrodes for perovskite solar cells Nano Energy 52 211–38
- [190] Xiao J-W, Shi C, Zhou C, Zhang D, Li Y and Chen Q 2017 Contact engineering: electrode materials for highly efficient and stable perovskite solar cells Sol. RRL 1 1–16
- [191] Park N-G and Zhu K 2020 Scalable fabrication and coating methods for perovskite solar cells and solar modules Nat. Rev. Mater. 5 333–50
- [192] Suresh Kumar N and Chandra Babu Naidu K 2021 A review on perovskite solar cells (PSCs), materials and applications J. Mater. 7 940–56
- [193] Nair S, Patel S B and Gohel J V 2020 Recent trends in efficiency-stability improvement in perovskite solar cells Mater. Today Energy 17 100449
- [194] Jeevaraj M, Sudhahar S and Kumar M K 2021 Evolution of stability enhancement in organo-metallic halide perovskite photovoltaics-a review Mater. Today Commun. 27 102159
- [195] Bogachuk D, Zouhair S, Wojciechowski K, Yang B, Babu V, Wagner L, Xu B, Lim J, Mastroianni S, Pettersson H and Hagfeldt A 2020 Low-temperature carbon-based electrodes in perovskite solar cells *Energy Environ. Sci.* 13 3880–916
- [196] Pradid P, Sanglee K, Thongprong N and Chuangchote S 2021 Carbon electrodes in perovskite photovoltaics *Materials* 14 1–14
- [197] Mujahid M, Chen C, Zhang J, Li C and Duan Y 2021 Recent advances in semitransparent perovskite solar cells InfoMat 3 101-24
- [198] Raman R K, Gurusamy Thangavelu S A, Venkataraj S and Krishnamoorthy A 2021 Materials, methods and strategies for encapsulation of perovskite solar cells: from past to present *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 151 111608
- [199] Li G R and Gao X P 2020 Low-cost counter-electrode materials for dye-sensitized and perovskite solar cells Adv. Mater. 32 1–20
- [200] Reese M O et al 2011 Consensus stability testing protocols for organic photovoltaic materials and devices Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells 95 1253–67
- [201] Measurement protocols for photovoltaic devices based on organic, dye-sensitized or perovskite materials IEC TR 63228, Edition 1.0 2019-07
- [202] Kim M, Ham S-Y, Cheng D, Wynn T A, Jung H S and Meng Y S 2021 Advanced characterization techniques for overcoming challenges of perovskite solar cell materials Adv. Energy Mater. 11 2001753
- [203] Tsai H et al 2018 Light-induced lattice expansion leads to high-efficiency perovskite solar cells Science 360 67
- [204] Bold C C et al 2019 Understanding degradation mechanisms and improving stability of perovskite photovoltaics Chem. Rev. 119 3418–51
- [205] Xie H *et al* 2021 Decoupling the effects of defects on efficiency and stability through phosphonates in stable halide perovskite solar cells *Joule* 5 1–21
- [206] Tan S et al 2020 Shallow iodine defects accelerate the degradation of α -phase formamidinium perovskite Joule 4 2426–42
- [207] Wang Q, Shao Y, Xie H, Lyu L, Liu X, Gao Y and Huang J 2014 Qualifying composition dependent *p* and *n* self-doping in CH₃NH₃PbI₃ *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **105** 163508
- [208] Saidaminov M I *et al* 2018 Suppression of atomic vacancies via incorporation of isovalent small ions to increase the stability of halide perovskite solar cells in ambient air *Nat. Energy* 3 648
- [209] Khenkin M V et al 2018 Reconsidering figures of merit for performance and stability of perovskite photovoltaics Energy Environ. Sci. 11 739–43
- [210] Jošt M, Lipovšek B, Glažar B, Al-Ashouri A, Brecl K, Matič G, Magomedov A, Getautis V, Topič M and Albrecht S 2020 Perovskite solar cells go outdoors: field testing and temperature effects on energy yield Adv. Energy Mater. 10 2000454
- [211] Emery Q, Remec M, Paramasivam G, Janke S, Dagar J, Ulbrich C, Schlatmann R, Stannowski B, Unger E and Khenkin M 2022 Encapsulation and outdoor testing of perovskite solar cells: comparing industrially relevant process with a simplified lab procedure ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 14 5159–67 accepted
- [212] De Rossi F *et al* 2020 An interlaboratory study on the stability of all-printable hole transport material–free perovskite solar cells Energy Technol. 8 2000134
- [213] Cheacharoen R, Boyd C C, Burkhard G F, Leijtens T, Raiford J A, Bush K A, Bent S F and McGehee M D 2018 Encapsulating perovskite solar cells to withstand damp heat and thermal cycling Sustain. Energy Fuels 2 2398–406
- [214] Stoichkov V, Bristow N, Troughton J, De Rossi F, Watson T M and Kettle J 2018 Outdoor performance monitoring of perovskite solar cell mini-modules: diurnal performance, observance of reversible degradation and variation with climatic performance Sol. Energy 170 549–56
- [215] Aydin E, Allen T G, De Bastiani M, Xu L, Ávila J, Salvador M, Van Kerschaver E and De Wolf S 2020 Interplay between temperature and bandgap energies on the outdoor performance of perovskite/silicon tandem solar cells Nat. Energy 5 851–9

- [216] Stockhausen V, Andrade L, Ivanou D, Stannowski B and Mendes A 2019 Incident angle and light intensity variation: a comparative impact study on perovskite, dye-sensitized and silicon heterojunction solar cells towards building-integrated applications Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells 191 451–8
- [217] Khenkin M V, Anoop K M, Katz E A and Visoly-Fisher I 2019 Bias-dependent degradation of various solar cells: lessons for stability of perovskite photovoltaics *Energy Environ. Sci.* **12** 550–8
- [218] Tress W, Domanski K, Carlsen B, Agarwalla A, Alharbi E A, Graetzel M and Hagfeldt A 2019 Performance of perovskite solar cells under simulated temperature-illumination real-world operating conditions *Nat. Energy* 1 568–74
- [219] Itten R and Stucki M 2017 Highly efficient 3rd generation multi-junction solar cells using silicon heterojunction and perovskite tandem: prospective life cycle environmental impacts *Energies* 10 841
- [220] Tian X, Stranks S D and You F 2020 Life cycle energy use and environmental implications of high-performance perovskite tandem solar cells *Sci. Adv.* **6** eabb0055
- [221] Monteiro Lunardi M, Wing Yi Ho-Baillie A, Alvarez-Gaitan J P, Moore S and Corkish R 2017 A life cycle assessment of perovskite/silicon tandem solar cells Prog. Photovolt., Res. Appl. 25 679–95
- [222] Gong J, Darling S B and You F 2015 Perovskite photovoltaics: life-cycle assessment of energy and environmental impacts *Energy Environ. Sci.* 8 1953–68
- [223] Espinosa N, Serrano-Luján L, Urbina A and Krebs F C 2015 Solution and vapour deposited lead perovskite solar cells: ecotoxicity from a life cycle assessment perspective Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells 137 303–10
- [224] Celik I, Song Z, Cimaroli A J, Yan Y, Heben M J and Apul D 2016 Life cycle assessment (LCA) of perovskite PV cells projected from lab to fab Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells 156 157–69
- [225] Vidal R, Alberola-Borràs J-A, Sánchez-Pantoja N and Mora-Seró I 2021 Comparison of perovskite solar cells with other photovoltaic technologies from the point of view of life cycle assessment Adv. Energy Sustain. Res. 2 2000088
- [226] Leccisi E and Fthenakis V 2020 Life-cycle environmental impacts of single-junction and tandem perovskite PVs: a critical review and future perspectives *Prog. Energy* 2 032002
- [227] Song Z, McElvany C L, Phillips A B, Celik I, Krantz P W, Watthage S C, Liyanage G K, Apul D and Heben M J 2017 A technoeconomic analysis of perovskite solar module manufacturing with low-cost materials and techniques *Energy Environ. Sci.* 10 1297
- [228] Zhang J, Gao X, Deng Y, Zha Y and Yuan C 2017 Comparison of life cycle environmental impacts of different perovskite solar cell systems *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells* **166** 9–17
- [229] Jimenez-Gonzalez C 2019 Life cycle considerations of solvents Curr. Opin. Green Sustain. Chem. 18 66–71
- [230] Hamill J C, Schwartz J and Loo Y-L 2018 Influence of solvent coordination on hybrid organic-inorganic perovskite formation ACS Energy Lett. 3 92–97
- [231] Gutmann V 1976 Empirical parameters for donor and acceptor properties of solvents Electrochim. Acta 21 661-70
- [232] Cao X, Zhi L, Jia Y, Li Y, Zhao K, Cui X, Ci L, Zhuang D and Wei J 2019 A review of the role of solvents in formation of high-quality solution-processed perovskite films ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 11 7639–54
- [233] Vidal R, Alberola-Borràs J-A, Habisreutinger S N, Gimeno-Molina J-L, Moore D T, Schloemer T H, Mora-Seró I, Berry J J and Luther J M 2020 Assessing health and environmental impacts of solvents for producing perovskite solar cells Nat. Sustain. 4 277–85
- [234] Rosenbaum R K *et al* 2011 USEtox human exposure and toxicity factors for comparative assessment of toxic emissions in life cycle analysis: sensitivity to key chemical properties *Int. J. Life Cycle Assess.* **16** 710–27
- [235] Masi S, Echeverría-Arrondo C, Salim K M M, Ngo T T, Mendez P F, López-Fraguas E, Macias-Pinilla D F, Planelles J, Climente J I and Mora-Seró I 2020 Chemi-structural stabilization of formamidinium lead iodide perovskite by using embedded quantum dots ACS Energy Lett. 5 418–27
- [236] Galagan Y, Di Giacomo F, Gorter H, Kirchner G, de Vries I, Andriessen R and Groen P 2018 Roll-to-Roll slot die coated perovskite for efficient flexible solar cells Adv. Energy Mater. 8 1801935
- [237] Bruening K, Dou B, Simonaitis J, Lin -Y-Y, van Hest M F A M and Tassone C J 2018 Scalable fabrication of perovskite solar cells to meet climate targets Joule 2 2464–76
- [238] Krishnamoorthy T et al 2015 Lead-free germanium iodide perovskite materials for photovoltaic applications J. Mater. Chem. A 3 23829–32
- [239] Chen L-J, Lee C-R, Chuang Y-J, Wu Z-H and Chen C 2016 Synthesis and optical properties of lead-free cesium tin halide perovskite quantum rods with high-performance solar cell application *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **7** 5028–35
- [240] Zhu T, Yang Y and Gong X 2020 Recent advancements and challenges for low-toxicity perovskite materials ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 12 26776–811
- [241] Ito N, Kamarudin M A, Hirotani D, Zhang Y, Shen Q, Ogomi Y, Iikubo S, Minemoto T, Yoshino K and Hayase S 2018 Mixed Sn-Ge perovskite for enhanced perovskite solar cell performance in air J. Phys. Chem. Lett. 9 1682–8
- [242] Attique S, Ali N, Rauf S, Ali S, Khesro A, Khatoon R, Khan E U, Akram F, Yang S and Wu H 2021 Nontoxic and less toxic hybrid perovskites: a synergistic strategy for sustainable photovoltaic devices *Sol. RRL* **5** 2100212
- [243] Suhail M, Abbas H, Khan M B and Khan Z H 2022 Chalcogenide perovskites for photovoltaic applications: a review J. Nanopart. Res. 24 142
- [244] Meng W, Saparov B, Hong F, Wang J, Mitzi D B and Yan Y 2016 Alloying and defect control within chalcogenide perovskites for optimized photovoltaic application *Chem. Mater.* **28** 821–9
- [245] Wei X et al 2020 Realization of BaZrS₃ chalcogenide perovskite thin films for optoelectronics Nano Energy 68 104317
- [246] Greul E, Petrus M L, Binek A, Docampo P and Bein T 2017 Highly stable, phase pure Cs₂AgBiBr₆ double perovskite thin films for optoelectronic applications *J. Mater. Chem.* A 5 19972–81
- [247] Zhao X-G, Yang J-H, Fu Y, Yang D, Xu Q, Yu L, Wei S-H and Zhang L 2017 Design of lead-free inorganic halide perovskites for solar cells via cation-transmutation *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **139** 2630–8
- [248] Tress W and Sirtl M T 2021 Cs₂AgBiBr₆ double perovskites as lead-free alternatives for perovskite solar cells? Sol. RRL 6 2100770
- [249] Xiao Z, Song Z and Yan Y 2019 From lead halide perovskites to lead-free metal halide perovskites and perovskite derivatives Adv. Mater. 31 e1803792
- [250] Ke W, Stoumpos C C and Kanatzidis M G 2019 "Unleaded" perovskites: status quo and future prospects of tin-based perovskite solar cells *Adv. Mater.* **31** e1803230
- [251] Gu S, Lin R, Han Q, Gao Y, Tan H and Zhu J 2020 Tin and mixed lead-tin halide perovskite solar cells: progress and their application in tandem solar cells *Adv. Mater.* **32** e1907392
- [252] Gollino L and Pauporté T 2021 Lead-less halide perovskite solar cells Sol. RRL 5 3

- [253] Gidlow D A 2015 Lead toxicity Occup. Med. 65 348-56
- [254] Babayigit A, Ethirajan A, Muller M and Conings B 2016 Toxicity of organometal halide perovskite solar cells Nat. Mater. 15 247–51
- [255] Zheng J, Yang L, Deng Y, Zhang C, Zhang Y, Xiong S, Ding C, Zhao J, Liao C and Gong D 2019 A review of public and environmental consequences of organic germanium *Crit. Rev. Environ. Sci. Technol.* 50 1384–409
- [256] Liu Y, Shen C, Zhang X, Yu H, Wang F, Wang Y and Zhang L W 2018 Exposure and nephrotoxicity concern of bismuth with the occurrence of autophagy *Toxicol. Ind. Health* 34 188–99
- [257] Boreiko C J and Rossman T G 2020 Antimony and its compounds: health impacts related to pulmonary toxicity, cancer, and genotoxicity Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 403 115156
- [258] Chonan T, Amata A, Kawabata Y and Omae K 2019 Indium lung: discovery, pathophysiology and prevention *Tohoku J. Exp. Med.* 248 143–50
- [259] Pal A 2014 Copper toxicity induced hepatocerebral and neurodegenerative diseases: an urgent need for prognostic biomarkers Neurotoxicology 40 97–101
- [260] Markowska-Szczupak A, Endo-Kimura M, Paszkiewicz O and Kowalska E 2020 Are titania photocatalysts and titanium implants safe? Review on the toxicity of titanium compounds *Nanomaterials* **10** 2065
- [261] National Bureau of Statistics 2021 Ensured reserves of major minerals (available at: https://data.stats.gov.cn/easyquery. htm?cn=C01)
- [262] Ministry of Natural Resources, PRC China Mineral Resources 2021
- [263] Ramamurthy Rao H K, Gemechu E, Thakur U, Shankar K and Kumar A 2021 Life cycle assessment of high-performance monocrystalline titanium dioxide nanorod-based perovskite solar cells Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells 230 111288
- [264] Serrano-Lujan L, Espinosa N, Larsen-Olsen T T, Abad J, Urbina A and Krebs F C 2015 Tin- and lead-based perovskite solar cells under scrutiny: an environmental perspective Adv. Energy Mater. 5 1501119
- [265] Ravi V K, Mondal B, Nawale V V and Nag A 2020 Don't let the lead out: new material chemistry approaches for sustainable lead halide perovskite solar cells ACS Omega 5 29631–41
- [266] Mallick A and Visoly-Fisher I 2021 Pb in halide perovskites for photovoltaics: reasons for optimism Mater. Adv. 2 6125–35
- [267] Hailegnaw B, Kirmayer S, Edri E, Hodes G and Cahen D 2015 Rain on methylammonium lead iodide based perovskites: possible environmental effects of perovskite solar cells J. Phys. Chem. Lett. 6 1543–7
- [268] Fabini D et al 2015 Quantifying the potential for lead pollution from halide perovskite photovoltaics J. Phys. Chem. Lett. 6 3546–8
- [269] Jiang Y, Qiu L, Juarez-Perez E J, Ono L K, Hu Z, Liu Z, Wu Z, Meng L, Wang Q and Qi Y 2019 Reduction of lead leakage from damaged lead halide perovskite solar modules using self-healing polymer-based encapsulation *Nat. Energy* 4 585–93
- [270] Li X, Zhang F, He H, Berry J J, Zhu K and Xu T 2020 On-device lead sequestration for perovskite solar cells Nature 578 555-8
- [271] Chen S, Deng Y, Xiao X, Xu S, Rudd P N and Huang J 2021 Preventing lead leakage with built-in resin layers for sustainable perovskite solar cells *Nat. Sustain.* **4** 1–8
- [272] Huckaba A J, Sun D T, Sutanto A A, Mensi M, Zhang Y, Queen W L and Nazeeruddin M K 2020 Lead sequestration from perovskite solar cells using a metal–organic framework polymer composite *Energy Technol.* **8** 2000239
- [273] Chen S, Deng Y, Gu H, Xu S, Wang S, Yu Z, Blum V and Huang J 2020 Trapping lead in perovskite solar modules with abundant and low-cost cation-exchange resins *Nat. Energy* 5 1003–11
- [274] Niu B, Wu H, Yin J, Wang B, Wu G, Kong X, Yan B, Yao J, Li C-Z and Chen H 2021 Mitigating the lead leakage of high-performance perovskite solar cells via *in situ* polymerized networks *ACS Energy Lett.* 6 3443–9
- [275] Yan J F and Saunders B R 2014 Third-generation solar cells: a review and comparison of polymer: fullerene, hybrid polymer and perovskite solar cells *RSC Adv.* 4 43286–314
- [276] Green M A 2001 Third generation photovoltaics: ultra-high conversion efficiency at low cost Prog. Photovolt., Res. Appl. 9 123-35
- [277] Kim H-S et al 2012 Lead iodide perovskite sensitized all-solid-state submicron thin film mesoscopic solar cell with efficiency exceeding 9% Sci. Rep. 2 1–7
- [278] Best research-cell efficiency chart National Renewable Energy Lab (available at: www.nrel.gov/pv/cell-efficiency.html) (Accessed 28 December 2021)
- [279] Huang L, Hu Z, Xu J, Sun X, Du Y, Ni J, Cai H, Li J and Zhang J 2016 Efficient electron-transport layer-free planar perovskite solar cells via recycling the FTO/glass substrates from degraded devices Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells 152 118–24
- [280] Chowdhury M S, Rahman K S, Selvanathan V, Mahmud Hasan A K, Jamal M S, Samsudin N A, Akhtaruzzaman M, Amin N and Techato K 2021 Recovery of FTO coated glass substrate via environment-friendly facile recycling perovskite solar cells RSC Adv. 11 14534–41
- [281] Kim B J, Kim D H, Kwon S L, Park S Y, Li Z, Zhu K and Jung H S 2016 Selective dissolution of halide perovskites as a step towards recycling solar cells Nat. Commun. 7 1–9
- [282] Ren M, Miao Y, Zhang T, Qin Z, Chen Y, Wei N, Qian X, Wang T and Zhao Y 2021 Lead stabilization and iodine recycling of lead halide perovskite solar cells ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng. 9 16519–25
- [283] Xu J, Hu Z, Huang L, Huang X, Jia X, Zhang J, Zhang J and Zhu Y 2017 In situ recycle of PbI₂ as a step towards sustainable perovskite solar cells Prog. Photovolt., Res. Appl. 2017 1–12
- [284] Wang K et al 2021 'One-key-reset' recycling of whole perovskite solar cell Matter 4 2522–41